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Iziko is an isiXhosa word, meaning ‘hearth’, 

traditionally and symbolically the social  

centre of the home; a place associated with warmth, kinship 

and ancestral spirits. Here food is prepared and shared, 

stories are told and knowledge passed from one generation  

to the next. Similarly, the museums that make up Iziko are 

spaces for cultural interaction. We are proud to ignite 

connections between our shared history, our heritage,  

and each other. 
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1.1  Submission of the Annual Report 
to the executive Authority

This past year has been the current Council’s first 

full year in office. As such, in the continuous spirit 

of improvement, we have further streamlined and 

given focus to the institution’s strategic direction 

for the period April 2011 to March 2017. Specific 

emphasis has been placed on increased alignment 

with the imperatives of government as articulated 

in the new growth path, specifically our executive 

Authority’s (Department of Arts & Culture) strategic 

objectives and service delivery agreement: An 

empowered, fair and inclusive citizenship and the 

Mzanzi’s Golden economy vision.  

Twelve years after the amalgamation of these previously separate museums via 

the Cultural Institutions Act, Iziko has emerged as a leading player in the heritage 

sector in Africa and is acknowledged as a benchmark for South African museums. 

It is a privilege for this Council to build on the foundations already laid in order 

to take the institution to new levels of achievement, further unlocking the full 

transformative potential of these museums, their collections and the skilled 

individuals who contribute on so many levels to ongoing delivery.

Iziko Museums’ vision is one of ‘African museums of excellence’ that empower and 

inspire all people to celebrate and respect our diverse heritage. Our South African 

context clearly demands new ways of thinking about heritage and culture, and 

repositioning and reinventing the sector with a view to ensuring greater alignment 

with developmental mandates. 

Our success will be dependent in part on our ongoing endeavour to ensure that 

Iziko museums are not static monolithic entities seated on the periphery of 

society, but the link that ignites the connections between our collections, and 

between each other, creating awareness of the historical, natural, social and 

aesthetic context in which we live, and providing a platform for engagement and 

discussion. The proverb Umuntu ngumuntu ngabantu expresses a profound truth 

embedded deep within the core of traditional African values. This compelling truth 

about what it means to be a “human” in the African context reveals the wisdom of 

our ancestors, and the tremendous beauty and value of our cultural heritage.  

The culmination of the transformation imperative is articulated via the medium-

long-term Thematic Plan which has been developed over the course of the past 

year, a major achievement. This plan will, however, find full form beyond the 

concrete changes in display and the considered thematic foci planned for the 

different sites to weave a unique Iziko narrative. It is only in achieving a radical 

shift in the levels of access, number and diversity of our visitors and the increased 

Adv. Brenda Madumise
Chairman of Council



activation of museum spaces by local communities that 

we will see our museums become the hubs for culture, 

knowledge generation, education and life-long learning 

that we envisage.

I would like to express my thanks to the members 

of Council who have shown such commitment and 

vigour. They have done a sterling job in giving the 

management of Iziko Museums strategic direction.  

Thanks also goes to the Ministry and Department of 

Arts & Culture for their support and understanding, 

making it possible for the Council and management 

of Iziko to deliver work of the highest professional 

standard.

Advocate Brenda Madumise

Chairman of Council

1.2 Applicable Acts & Other Information
Iziko Museums (Iziko) is a public entity and non-profit 

organisation, subsidised by the National Department 

of Arts & Culture (DAC), bringing together a number 

of national museums in Cape Town under a single 

governance and leadership structure. 

This report is submitted in compliance with the 

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act 

No. 108 of 1996); the Public Finance Management Act, 

1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 

1999); Treasury Regulations, 2001; Cultural Institutions 

Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), and other applicable 

Acts and Regulations. 

1.2.1 Foundation 
In terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 

119 of 1998), five national museums in the Western 

Cape – the South African Cultural History Museum, 

South African Museum, South African National Gallery, 

the William Fehr Collection and the Michaelis Collection 

– were amalgamated as the Southern Flagship 

Institution (SFI).

In July 2001, the SFI was officially renamed Iziko 

Museums of Cape Town (Iziko).

Iziko comprises of the following museums, each with its 

own history and character:

Groot Constantia Museum • South African Museum 

and Planetarium • South African National Gallery 

CLOCKWISE, LEFT TO RIGHT: Rooksana Omar, Chief Executive Officer; Bongani Ndhlovu, Executive Director Core Functions;  
Faeza Allie, Chief Financial Officer; Heritage Day 2011, Iziko South African Museum; Iziko South African National Gallery;  
Susan Glanville-Zini, Director Institutional Advancement; Denise Crous, Executive Director Operations.
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• Maritime Centre, including the museum ship,  

SAS Somerset • Koopmans-de Wet House Museum 

• Slave Lodge Museum • Bo-Kaap Museum 

• William Fehr Collection (at the Castle of Good Hope)  

• Michaelis Collection (at the Old Town House)  

• Rust en Vreugd Museum • Bertram House Museum

In addition, the newly renovated Social History Centre 

on Church Square provides a state-of-the-art facility to 

accommodate our Social History collections and library. 

The Natural History Library is located at the Iziko South 

African Museum, and the Art Library in the Annexe 

adjacent to the Iziko South African National Gallery.

The name ‘Iziko’, which means ‘hearth’ in isiXhosa, 

symbolically positions our museums as centres of cultural 

activity. The three ‘flames’ in our hearth logo represent 

the three collections brought together in our museums: 

Social History (ochre); Art (red); and Natural History 

(green). These are made accessible to learners and the 

public through education and Public Programmes. 

1.2.2 Vision 
Iziko museums are African museums of excellence 

that empower and inspire all people to celebrate and 

respect our diverse heritage. 

1.2.3 Mission
To manage and promote Iziko’s unique combination of 

South Africa’s heritage collections, sites and services 

for the benefit of present and future generations. 

1.2.4 Corporate Governance 
Iziko is governed by a Council, appointed for a three-

year term by the Minister of Arts and Culture. Members 

of the fourth Council of Iziko are: Adv. M Brenda 

Madumise (Chairman); Dr Somadoda Fikeni; Mr Ayanda 

P Wakaba; Prof. Mpilenhle P Sithole; Prof. Ciraj Rassool; 

Ms Marilyn Martin; Mr Omar Badsha; Ms Rooksana Omar 

(ex Officio).

The duties of Council, as described in the Cultural 

Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), are to: 

• formulate policy; 

•  hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and 

immovable property of whatever kind, placed in 

the care of, or loaned, or belonging to the declared 

institution concerned; 

•  receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens, 

collections or other movable property placed under its 

care and management under section 10(1) [of the Act]; 

•  raise funds for the institution; manage and control 

the moneys received by the declared institution and 

to utilise those moneys for defraying expenses in 

connection with the performance of its functions; 

•  keep a proper record of the property of the declared 

institution; submit to the Director-General any returns 

required by him or her in regard thereto, and to cause 

proper books of account to be kept; 

•  determine, subject to this Act and with the approval of 

the Minister, the objects of the declared institution; and, 

•  generally, carry out the objects of the declared 

institution. 

CLOCKWISE, LEFT TO RIGHT: Lalou Meltzer, Director Social History Collections; Dr Wayne Alexander, Director Education & Public Programmes; 
Julian-Paul Matthews, Director Human Resources; Dr Hamish Robertson, Director Natural History Collections; Michelle van der Merwe,  
Director Customer Services Management; Riason Naidoo, Director Art Collections.



In addition, the Council: 

•  appoints, in consultation with the Minister, the Chief 

executive Officer (CeO); and, 

•  may determine the hours during which and the 

conditions and restrictions subject to which the 

public may visit the declared institution concerned, or 

portion thereof, and the admission charges to be paid.

1.2.5 Management
1.2.5.1 executive Management Committee 

The executive Management Committee (exco) consists 

of the Chief executive Officer, the executive Director 

Core Functions, and the executive Director Operations, 

with the Chief Financial Officer and the Director of 

Institutional Advancement in the Office of the CeO 

playing supporting roles. 

1.2.5.2 Senior Management Team 

Iziko has four business units, namely Core Functions, 

Operations, and the departments of Institutional 

Advancement (IA), and Finance & Administration, in the 

Office of the CeO. 

The Core Functions unit includes the departments 

of Natural History Collections (NHC), Social History 

Collections (SHC), Art Collections (AC), and education 

and Public Programmes (ePP). The Operations unit 

includes the departments of Customer Services 

Management (CSM), and Human Resources (HR). The 

heads of these departments – along with the Chief 

Financial Officer, the Director of IA and the members 

of exco – constitute the Senior Management Team of 

Iziko, under the leadership of the CeO.

Chief executive Officer
R Omar

Director Art 
Collections
R Naidoo

Director Social 
History Collections 

L Meltzer

Director Natural  
History Collections

Dr H Robertson

Director education & 
Public Programmes

Dr W Alexander

Director Human 
Resources

J Matthews

Director Customer 
Services Management

M van der Merwe

executive Director  
Core Functions  

B Ndhlovu

Director Institutional 
Advancement
S Glanville-Zini

Chief Financial 
Officer 
F Allie

executive Director 
Operations

D Crous

Façade, Iziko Slave Lodge.Members of the Iziko Council. LeFT TO RIGHT: Omar Badsha and Dr. Somadoda Fikeni.  
SeATeD: Rooksana Omar (Ex-officio), Adv. Brenda Madumise (Chairman) and Prof. Pearl Sithole. 
(Council members not pictured: Marilyn Martin, Prof. Ciraj Rassool and Ayanda Wakaba).
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1.3  Introduction by Rooksana Omar,  
Chief executive Officer of  
Iziko Museums

It is with great pride that 

I present the 2011/2012 

annual report for Iziko 

Museums (Iziko). The 

report reinforces that 

the Iziko museums 

are performance-

driven, trendsetting 

museums that 

undertake numerous 

groundbreaking and 

challenging programmes. 

All Iziko’s activities are informed by the 

understanding that museums can benefit all 

South Africans, particularly young people, to 

become active and reflective participants in 

society and in their own learning. Understanding 

both contemporary and past cultures assists new 

generations to build collective intelligence that 

strengthens the fabric of society and inspires 

development. Our museums are not only spaces 

of memory that celebrate our cultural diversity. 

They are spaces where knowledge is generated, 

and are an integral part of our communities, with 

the potential to contribute significantly to vital 

processes of social and economic development.

Through our collections and exhibitions, we enhance 

and strengthen nation building, foster social cohesion, 

and promote a culture of inclusion. We strive to 

inculcate the right to participation in heritage and 

culture for all, and engender respect for diversity and 

community connections.

Under the leadership of our Council, Iziko’s Strategic 

Plan 2011/2017 has been refocused. The institution 

focused its strategy and Annual Performance Plan 

on three areas, namely: ‘enhancing the museum 

experience: access and audience development’; 

‘Collections and research’; and ‘Governance’.

Iziko Strategic Programme 1:  

Enhancing the museum experience:

Access and audience development  

In addition to our extensive permanent exhibitions, 

Iziko offers an ongoing programme of diverse 

temporary exhibitions that explore relevant issues 

and seek to stimulate public interest and debate, and 

thereby attract new audiences. In 2011/2012, Iziko 

hosted a total of 29 special exhibitions that reflected on 

the diverse history of our country. 

The exhibition, Siliva Zulu, was hosted at the Iziko 

Slave Lodge in partnership with the Italian embassy. 

It critically highlighted the (often disturbing) work of 

european physical anthropologists in Africa, stimulating 

debate around the question of re/presentation.

Iziko launched a groundbreaking exhibition based 

on its Social History collections, entitled Fired: An 

exhibition of South African ceramics. The exhibition, 

which opened at the Castle of Good Hope on  

25 February 2012, celebrated the artistic achievements 

of South African ceramicists. In the process, it broke 

down historical divides between production from 

rural and urban areas, and artists from different 

communities. The exhibition visually articulated the 

integration of Iziko collections previously separated 

during the apartheid era. 

At the Iziko South African Museum (ISAM), the unique 

find in the southern Cape’s Blombos Cave of an 

ochre-processing kit dating back some 100,000 years 

was given pride of place in the museum’s Rock Art 

Gallery. This artefact makes tangible for the public 

the earliest evidence of human creativity. Also at 

ISAM, 31 embroidered panels produced by a group of 

17 women from the Kopanang Community Trust, were 

exhibited. Measuring over 32.5 metres in length, these 

panels detail the unfolding of evolution and provided a 

thought-provoking view of the history of life.

The Iziko South African Museum continues to provide a 

wonderful forum to promote awareness of the sheer 

wonder of our natural heritage and biodiversity. Wonderful 

World of Wasps was launched on 27 August 2011.  

Ms Rooksana Omar, 
CEO of Iziko Museums



The exhibitions, Listening to Distant Thunder: The art of 

Peter Clarke, and Ever Young: James Barnor at the Iziko 

South African National Gallery, celebrated a neglected 

generation of artists and their contribution to the 

continent’s rich artistic legacy and complex histories. The 

Peter Clarke retrospective paid a fitting, if belated, tribute 

to one of South Africa’s most significant artistic sons, 

showcasing his work from the 1940s to the present day.

In a similar vein, the controversial exhibition, 

Tretchikoff: The People’s Painter, stimulated a heated 

debate around the legacy of this artist who achieved 

world renown, despite being much maligned by the 

established arts community. This exhibition was a 

wonderful illustration of the role of museums as 

platforms for public debate and engagement, especially 

on who defines what art is. 

Special exhibitions are often made possible via strategic 

partnerships, and are specifically geared to promote 

awareness and discussion around critical issues. For 

the second time, Iziko partnered with BirdlifeSA in 

hosting a lecture series for the Seabird Festival, and 

an associated photographic exhibition. The Seabird 

Festival has become a major event on the South African 

environmental calendar, and has a strong message not 

only about the conservation of our seabirds, but the 

sustainable use of our marine resources.

Life-long learning: Nurturing a new generation 

instilled with a love of heritage and culture and an 

understanding of its value in society

Our extensive education programmes primarily target 

youth, and include effective outreach using our Mobile 

Museum. They are specifically geared to creating awareness 

of the role of museums in society, improving general 

knowledge, and nurturing an appreciation of our heritage.

In 2011/2012, our schools programme benefited more 

than 58,373 learners and the Iziko Mobile Museum 

travelled to schools, malls and communities, reaching 

and sharing stories with 15,241 people across South 

Africa. Our diverse public programmes attracted more 

than 10,850 participants, and the Planetarium shared 

the fascinating world of astronomy with 73,267 visitors.

Iziko hosted public programmes that were both fun and 

educational on many of the key commemorative days, 

including Human Rights Day, Africa Day, and Mandela 

Day, creating greater awareness of these key moments 

in our shared histories that contribute to our national 

identity and helped create the country we live in today. 

Youth Day celebrations extended into the month of 

July with an ongoing programme involving young 

people who reflected on issues of leadership and 

economic empowerment. The group worked towards 

planning a programme for Mandela Day, which was 

celebrated at a children’s centre in Khayelitsha. 

Yarn bombers decorate the handrail up the stairs outside the 
Iziko South African National Gallery on International Yarn Bombing Day, 11 June 2011.

Unpacking basketwork, Social History Collections.
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Women’s Day attracted young girls from different 

schools who participated in a programme entitled: 

“Don’t hurt me because I’m beautiful”. They reflected 

on the personal stories told by various successful 

women who were invited to address the girls. 

Iziko celebrates the entire month of September as 

Heritage Month every year. We explored “The role 

of heroes and heroines of the liberation struggle in 

South Africa” through a thought-provoking programme 

of exhibitions and discussions, drawing more than 

59,064 visitors, young and old. 

Commemorated on 1 December, the National Aids 

Awareness Day and emancipation Day programmes 

focused on a dramatic expression of the HIV/Aids 

story, while also reflecting on a modern form of 

slavery – human trafficking.

The 2012 Iziko Summer School, with the theme, 

“Thoughtful Reflections on our Art, History and 

Heritage”, included insightful presentations 

and discussions in the field of art, biodiversity, 

palaeontology, social history, cultural heritage, 

photography, climate change and astronomy.

Increased access and audience development

Iziko embraces the view that “our museums are your 

museums”. Audience development and access to our 

collections and the knowledge resource they represent 

are the key strategic imperatives that underpin all our 

activities. Iziko proactively promotes our museums to 

diverse communities, and offers free access to youth 

18 and under, and free entrance for all on certain 

commemorative days. Iziko received a total of 538,305 

visitors during the 2011/2012 year. This represents a 

9,13% increase compared to the 2010/2011 period.

Various highlight exhibitions were proactively promoted 

throughout the year, generating significant exposure 

of our offering to diverse audiences. The impact of the 

publicity surrounding the Tretchikoff exhibition was 

particularly extraordinary, resulting in an 80,3% increase 

in visitor numbers to the Iziko Iziko South African National 

Gallery, compared with the same period the previous year.

Iziko increasingly makes use of digital and online media 

to ensure the impact of our collections extend beyond 

the local, to a national and international audience. To 

this end, the previously static, HTML-based website was 

successfully upgraded and aligned with the Iziko brand, 

and the revamped website went live on 29 August 2011. 

In addition, Iziko has partnered with Google on their 

Google Art Project to present a selection of the Iziko 

South African National Gallery collection to a global 

online audience. This is a continental first and was 

initially one of only two collections on the continent 

selected for inclusion.

LeFT TO RIGHT: Bongani Ndhlovu, Dr Somadoda Fikeni, Rooksana Omar, Faeza Allie, 
Ronell Pedro, and Mikael Vawda at the opening of Tretchikoff: The People’s Painter, 
Iziko South African National Gallery.

A young archaeologist in training. Mock fossil dig,  
Education & Public Programmes workshop,  
Iziko South African Museum.



Iziko Strategic Programme 2: Collections and research 

development and preservation of collections

Iziko strives to preserve our extensive and valuable 

collections for the benefit of future generations of 

South Africans, whilst as far as possible strategically 

developing these collections to ensure national 

relevance and representation.

We seek to work creatively with the acquisition 

resources, often focusing on younger artists who are 

making their mark on a national and global scale. In 

the previous financial year, Iziko, with the assistance of 

the Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery, 

made a major acquisition of Mary Sibande’s The Reign, 

an iconic work that has received extensive accolades. 

I am happy to report that this work has since been 

delivered, and is on display at the Gallery.

The process of digitisation of our collections, through 

both documentation of the collections using state-of-

the-art digital photographic media, and the scanning 

and digitally archiving of metadata, is an ongoing and 

challenging process.

 

Ongoing maintenance and site development 

Iziko’s holdings include collections of Art, Social and 

Natural History. Iziko’s Art collection contains 9,330 

works and our Social and Natural History collections 

comprise an estimated 250,000 and 2 million items, 

respectively. As custodians of this rich and irreplaceable 

heritage, we need to ensure an accelerated pace of 

transformation and increased access whilst staying 

abreast of international standards and technological 

development. Working with the assistance of the 

Department of Arts & Culture (DAC) Iziko seeks to 

ensure optimal museum environments that secure our 

collections and enhance visitor experience.

Key strategic programmes going forward thus include 

the development and implementation of a Thematic 

Plan that will guide the transformation of our 

museums into relevant, representative and interactive 

spaces that are integrated into the life of local 

communities and the urban and national context. 

Given the rapid evolution and potential of Information 

Communication Technologies (ICTs), the development 

of our museums as both physical and virtual spaces 

– sites of learning, contemplation, interaction, 

discussion and creativity – is a priority.  

The installation of fibre optic cabling that connects 

Iziko sites was funded by DAC and implemented by 

The Department of Public Works (DPW). It is a major 

achievement that will revolutionise our operations. Key 

benefits include real-time viewing and high-speed data 

transfer between Iziko sites.  

Façade, Iziko Social History Centre.The International Council of Museums delegation visit the Iziko Slave Lodge, July 2011.  
L to R: Lalou Meltzer, Richard Walsh, Connie Forde, Rick West, Rooksana Omar, Alissandra  
Cummins, Amareswar Gala, Allison Thompson, Shahid Vawda, Amy West and Ben West.
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The Iziko South African Museum is one of the 

oldest museums in the southern hemisphere, 

and our flagship museum that also houses our 

main administrative hub. A major capital works 

programme referred to as the ‘Courtyard Project’, 

funded by DAC and implemented by DPW, is a 

major ongoing initiative to develop the Museum. 

It includes upgrading and making research spaces 

partly accessible to the public, effectively creating 

a “living museum”. In preparation for the roll-out 

of this project, our vast Natural History collections 

have been packed in anticipation of the move to new 

premises during construction.

The safety of our collections and that of our visiting 

public is paramount. Iziko is now one of the few 

museums in the country that has developed a Disaster 

Management Policy. In addition, a Security Policy 

and revised Health and Safety Policy (including 

amendments) became effective in March 2012,  

which makes Iziko fully compliant. 

It is essential that the Iziko brand and our museums 

become more visible and that we provide effective 

internal signage to ensure that knowledge and 

pertinent information is conveyed in a way that is 

accessible to all visitors and enhances their experience. 

With the financial assistance of DAC, a project to 

upgrade the signage and way-finding at our flagship 

site, the Iziko South African Museum, has been 

successfully completed.

Museums across the globe are battling an ever-increasing 

targeted onslaught of thefts driven in many cases by 

international crime syndicates. Iziko proactively seeks to 

protect and secure its collections. In this reporting year, 

the CCTV Project Phase 2 was implemented.

In the interest of ensuring an optimal visitor experience, 

Iziko conducts regular surveys to ensure customer 

satisfaction. A Customer Care Survey is conducted 

annually by mystery visitors to assess the success of 

customer care training offered to front of house staff. 

Visitor comments also provides feedback in terms of 

customer care. In the reporting period, positive visitor 

comments were consistently more than 97%, with an 

average of only 3% negative comments. In addition, an 

independent market research survey conducted at five 

major museums showed that 78,3% of visitors found 

their experience satisfactory and 48,6% of these noted 

that it exceeded expectations.

Knowledge generation

Ongoing research remains an essential part of Iziko’s 

practice, and provides the foundation for all our work. 

In this regard, our partnership with the National 

Research Foundation (NRF) enables Iziko to continue to 

be one of the leading research institutions that actively 

Young learners draw inspiration 
from Mary Sibande’s The Reign.

The Director-General of the Department of Arts & Culture Mr Sibusiso Xaba  
and Iziko CEO, Rooksana Omar at the opening of the Irma Stern Arab Priest exhibition.  
Iziko South African National Gallery, March 2012. 



generates new knowledge on natural and cultural 

heritage. The Natural History research programme 

with the NRF included field trips to Namibia and 

Argentina, as well as various trips nationally. eighteen 

peer-reviewed research papers by our scientists and 

associates were published. 

Social History research was also undertaken, particularly 

in the fields of maritime archaeology (slave wrecks) 

and rock art, as well as slavery and the music made 

during the struggle against apartheid. Our research 

programme took the form of publications, conferences, 

workshops and tours. It also provided research access to 

the collections and intellectual capital in the form of our 

curators and collections specialists.

Skills development

Iziko proactively seeks to implement skills development, 

both internally and externally, to ensure that skills and 

expertise critical to the development of the heritage 

sector are nurtured and retained. 

Izko’s educational programmes contribute to improved 

quality of education; alignment of educational materials 

with the new Department of education (Doe) curriculum; 

skills transfer; and increased awareness of career 

opportunities within the sector. In addition, various 

Iziko departments run internship programmes, which 

benefitted 21 experiential learners during the past year.

Iziko Strategic Programme 3: Governance 

It is essential that we strive to ensure that Iziko is 

governed and managed efficiently, effectively and 

sustainably, in accordance with government policy 

and legislation. Our untarnished record of unqualified 

audits and the clean audit received in 2011/2012, are a 

testimony to our commitment in this regard.

Economic development, job creation and skills 

development 

Under the leadership of the present Council, Iziko has 

used its collections not only to promote social cohesion, 

but also in the creation of strategic partnerships that 

can contribute to economic growth, skills development 

and job creation.

To this end, we have partnered with CATHSSeTA in a 

skills development initiative aimed at increasing the 

pool of rare skills in the sector. We also present an 

ongoing Youth Training Project funded by the City of 

Cape Town that introduces young people to heritage 

preservation, and encourages them to take advantage 

of the economic benefits provided by museums. These 

two projects recruited a total of 41 young people. 

As one of the premier tourist attractions in the region, 

Iziko is an active participant in Mzansi’s Golden 

economy project. Sustainable heritage institutions 

contribute significantly to the South African tourism 

Jenny Altschuler addresses an Iziko Summer School 2011 workshop,  
World Press Photographer of the Year 2011, Iziko at the Castle of Good Hope.

Young robotics workshop participants,  
Education & Public Programmes.
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product, and our museums attract many local and 

international visitors. Market research surveys 

conducted over the past year estimate that tourists 

make up approximately 48,5% of our visitor numbers.

Iziko continues to show our commitment to job creation 

through various projects that create employment 

opportunities. The Courtyard Project, a project funded by 

DAC, requires the Natural History Collections department 

at the Iziko South African Museum to relocate for three 

years. Fifteen jobs have therefore been created to assist 

with packing and unpacking the collection.

Iziko continues to spend 1% of payroll on learning 

and development annually. Five staff members from 

designated groups are supported in terms of tertiary 

training, and 23 part-time Museum Attendants received 

Security D and e training and customer care training. 

Partnerships 

Without strategic partnerships, many of Iziko’s 

exhibitions, education and research programmes 

would not be possible. In this regard, Iziko would like to 

acknowledge significant contributions from: Grand West 

Casino Culture and Heritage Trust and Stellenbosch 

Modern and Contemporary (SMAC) for Listening to 

Distant Thunder: The art of Peter Clarke; the Bailey 

Seippei Gallery for Ranjith Kally; the British Council 

and Autograph ABP for Ever Young: James Barnor; the 

International Library of African Music, for For Future 

Generations; Museum Africa for The Cold Choice: 

Operation Hunger; Haunch of Venison for Richard Long: 

Karoo Highveld; the Italian Institute of Culture for Siliva 

Zulu;  the Tretchikoff Foundation, University of Cape 

Town and Marianne Fassler for Tretchikoff: The People’s 

Painter; and the Friends of the Iziko South African 

National Gallery for their part sponsorship of Mary 

Sibande’s The Reign.

In addition, the long-term contribution of both the 

National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund and the 

Standard Bank to multiple projects over a period 

spanning more than a decade needs special mention. The 

ongoing support of the Friends of the Iziko South African 

National Gallery, the Friends of the Iziko South African 

Museum and the Friends of the Michaelis Collection is 

also gratefully acknowledged.

During 2011/2012, our partnership with the National 

Heritage Council enabled Iziko to do research and 

exhibitions on slavery and the liberation struggle. 

Their generous support has seen to it that at least 

one staff member is employed to add to the valuable 

body of knowledge on our histories, both tangible and 

intangible. Furthermore, our partnership with the South 

African Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA) allows for 

strategic collaborations. The agreement pertaining to 

the Irma Stern painting, the Arab Priest, with the Qatar 

Museum Authority, and the exhibition of this valuable 

work, bears testimony to this. Through this project, 

SAHRA and Iziko, with assistance from DAC, have 

successfully demonstrated that cultural items can play 

a critical role in forging international ties.

In conclusion, I would like to thank the Ministry of Arts 

and Culture, our executive Authority, the Department 

of Arts & Culture, the Council of Iziko, the Senior 

Management and staff for their continued commitment 

and support in realising the vision of Iziko.



1.4 Performance Information 2011/2012

Programme 1: enhancing the museum experience: access and audience development

ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

suB-ProGrAmmE: customEr rElAtIonshIP mAnAGEmEnt

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: A PosItIvE And EffIcIEnt frontlInE workforcE thAt ProvIdEs  
An ExcEllEnt sErvIcE

A positive and 
efficient frontline 
workforce that 
provides an 
excellent service

Annually Customer care 
baseline survey  
31 March 2011

The efficient performance of our frontline workforce 
was monitored by means of a baseline customer care 
survey conducted in March 2011 by mystery visitors, 
appointed by the trainer who provided customer 
care training.

The percentage of positive visitor comments 
received over 12 months never dropped below 97%

suB-ProGrAmmE: ExhIBItIons

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: dEvEloPmEnt And ExEcutIon of A thEmAtIc PlAn for PErmAnEnt And tEmPorAry 
ExhIBItIons At thE 11 IzIko musEums

Development of a 
Thematic Plan

Quarterly Thematic Plan 
report

The final draft of the report was submitted in April 
2012, after an extensive consultation process with 
staff. The Iziko Council and SMT requested that 
the report be comprehensive and that input from 
external stakeholders and from DAC be added. The 
due date was extended to May 2012. A reworked 
report with full recommendations and an executive 
summary will be provided.

Inter-departmental 
exhibitions staged, 
serving diverse 
audiences’ needs

See Appendix 4.3

Quarterly exhibitions staged 
according to plan

A diverse range of 26 exhibitions was installed 
according to the exhibition plan, and one display at 
ISAM was upgraded. The exhibition breakdown is as 
follows: 13 AC; 4 NH; 6 SH; 3 ePP. These exhibitions 
gave members of the public access to various 
research findings. They enhanced school curricula 
and contributed to nation building. Assessment of 
exhibitions will be done on receipt of the Thematic 
Plan final report.

Museums 
maintained/ 
updated:
9 SH 
2 AC 
1 NH

Quarterly 4 reports covering 
12 museums

4 reports were produced. exhibition spaces for the 11 
museums were monitored, cleaned and maintained. 
Where required, special attention was placed on 
security and climate control (temperature and 
humidity).

Number of 
curators’ tours 
of exhibitions 
(register)

Quarterly 18 SH
40 AC 

74 tours were given. The target was exceeded due 
to interest shown in the ISHC; Fired exhibition; 
Tretchikoff exhibition; increase in students groups 
from American colleges; visits by delegations from 
DAC, Mellon Foundation and Chinese government. 
The breakdown is as follows: 30 SH; 44 AC.

Number of 
workshops/ 
conference 
presentations 

See Appendix 4.4

Annually 4 SH 
4 AC

48 presentations, including papers, were presented. 
The positive increase was due to high interest in the 
Marion Island research and in exhibitions installed 
during the period under review. The breakdown is as 
follows: 18 AC; 18 NH; 12 SH.
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ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

suB-ProGrAmmE: EducAtIon And PuBlIc ProGrAmmEs

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: EnrIchInG And EnABlInG EducAtIon And PuBlIc ProGrAmmEs

Number of 
education/ school 
exhibitions

Annually 1 3 education exhibitions were presented. The increase 
was due to demand from community organisations 
and schools.

Number of 
learners

Quarterly 50,000 58,373 learners attended education programmes 
at sites. The target was exceeded due to increased 
interest in new exhibitions and collections.

Number of 
worksheets/ 
brochures 
developed

See Appendix 4.8

Quarterly 36 79 worksheets were developed. The target was 
exceeded because of new curriculum requirements, 
new exhibitions and collaborations with other 
organisations.

Number of lessons 
offered

Quarterly 62 1,365 lessons were offered to a wide range of schools 
visiting our sites. The target was exceeded because 
topics covered different grades, and general tours 
and workshops were also offered.

Number of lessons 
aligned to Doe

Quarterly 100% Presentations regarding our links to the curriculum 
were acknowledged by education officials.

Number of holiday 
programmes

Quarterly 15 47 holiday topics dealing with art, history and 
science were covered. The increase in topics was 
done to attract a range of children.

Number of people 
at Iziko Summer 
School events

Quarterly 800 1,558 people attended. The Iziko Summer School, 
held from 5–25 February 2012, attracted 1,558 
people. The increase was due to the partnership and 
programmes organised by Jenny Altschuler from the 
South African Centre for Photography.

Number of 
participants in 
commemorative 
day programmes

Quarterly 800 10,850 people attended and participated in our 
public programmes activities. The increase in 
numbers was mainly due to collaboration with other 
organisations and Iziko departments. The number 
includes participants in the following programmes: 
Mandela Day, Heritage Day, HIV/Aids Awareness Day 
and Human Rights Day.

Number of 
commemorative 
day programmes

Quarterly 8 9 days were commemorated. These were Mandela 
Day, Heritage Day, HIV/Aids Awareness Day, Human 
Rights Day, Women’s Day, Marine Week, International 
Museum Day and Youth Day. A Desmond Tutu 
birthday celebration was added and Freedom Day 
was cancelled as ePP staff were requested to assist 
in activities organised by other organisations.

Number of 
Summer/Winter 
School events

Bi-annually 10 10 events were hosted.

Number of 
Planetarium public 
shows

Quarterly 750 1,088 Planetarium public shows were presented. 338 
shows were added due to public interest in them.

Number of 
learners attending 
Planetarium shows

Quarterly 30,000 34,000 learners attended Planetarium shows.



ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Number of general 
public attending 
Planetarium shows

Quarterly 35,000 39,267 members of the public attended shows, 4,267 
more than expected due to screening of extra shows 
and new shows produced.

Number of 
Planetarium 
workshops

Quarterly 4 8 were presented. 4 more were added due to 
demand. The workshops were well received by 
children who learnt about astronomy in a fun and 
practical manner.

Number of 
schools attending 
Planetarium shows

Quarterly 450 545 schools attended. 95 more schools than 
planned. The policy of WCeD, which limits visits to 
sites by schools, did not impact on our numbers for 
the period.

Number of 
Planetarium school 
shows

Quarterly 400 511 school shows were offered to a wide range of 
school groups. The extra shows were added due to 
interest in Planetarium shows.

Number of 
Planetarium 
worksheets/ sky 
maps/ posters 
developed

See Appendix 4.8

Quarterly 14 17 Planetarium resources were developed. The 
addition included information posted on the Iziko 
website.

Number of 
presentations 
at workshops/ 
seminars/ 
conferences

Bi-annually 12 12 presentations and discussion sessions were led by 
ePP staff across the areas of art, history, heritage, 
culture and science.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: tEAchEr EnrIchmEnt

Number of 
teacher/ student 
enrichment 
sessions/ 
workshops

Quarterly 10 29 enrichment sessions were conducted by ePP 
in collaboration with other departments. The 
target was exceeded due to emphasis on inter-
departmental collaborations.

Number of 
teachers/ students 
attending

Quarterly 380 989 teachers/ students attended sessions where ePP 
presented in the field of art, science, heritage, culture 
and history. The number exceeded the target due to 
the inclusion of topical issues. This led to increased 
interest from educators and CPUT students.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: outrEAch: musEum wIthout wAlls

Number of 
outreach 
programmes 
implemented

Quarterly 30 36 outreach programmes took place, reaching a wide 
range of communities. The increase in number is due 
to the Iziko Mobile Museum travelling beyond the 
Western Cape.

Number of people 
reached

Quarterly 10,000 15,241 people were reached through our outreach 
programmes due to more places visited.

Funding proposal 
for Iziko Mobile 
Museum developed

Annually Plan developed 
and approved

The funding proposal was developed, approved and 
presented to possible funders.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: sPEcIAl nEEds InItIAtIvEs

Number of special 
needs programmes

Quarterly 19 17 specific special needs programmes took place, 
while other special needs persons were included in 
mainstream activities.
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ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Number attending 
special needs 
programmes

Quarterly 360 228 attended the sessions. The decrease was due to 
the fact that at times ePP was not able to provide 
specific programmes, and that in some instances 
facilitation required small groups for efficient 
delivery.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: trAInEE And IntErn ProGrAmmEs

Number of trainee 
programmes 
implemented

Annually 1 Funding for this project was secured in February 2011 
and it will be hosted in May 2012. 

Number of interns 
mentored

Annually 3 4 interns were mentored.

Number of 
volunteers trained

Annually 10 10 volunteers were trained and added to our 
database of volunteers. 6 are still in training.

suB-ProGrAmmE: wEBsItEs

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: rEdEvEloP thE IzIko wEBsItE to Both EffEctIvEly PromotE IzIko And IncrEAsE 
AccEss to IzIko’s hErItAGE rEsourcEs And InformAtIon

Implementation 
framework for new 
website

Quarterly Upgrade of 
existing website 
completed.

Phase 1 of 
new website 
development 
completed and 
launched.

The previously static HTML-based website has been 
successfully upgraded and aligned with the Iziko brand. 

The website went live on 29 August 2011 and is 
deemed to have achieved the expectations of Phase 1. 

Plans for the roll-out of Phase 2, which will focus 
on further development of the site as a knowledge 
resource, are in place.

Number of visitors 
to Iziko’s main 
website

Quarterly 75,000 visitors Visitors: 100,208
Unique visitors: 86,137
Page views: 342,781

A year-on-year comparison shows a significant 
increase in traffic to the Iziko website, which can be 
attributed to the recent upgrade and completion of 
the first phase of development of the website.

Number of visitors 
to content-based 
Iziko Natural 
History websites

Quarterly 650,000 Unique visitors: 684,115. 34,115 more unique visits 
for the year than expected. In total, 1,569,522 
pages were downloaded. Increase is due to ongoing 
development of these websites. Over 20,000 pages 
are indexed by Google.

Number of new 
online virtual 
exhibitions and 
guided educational 
programmes

0 (No target 
was set for this 
period, however, 
opportunities for 2 
outputs arose.)

Online virtual exhibition produced for Wonderful 
World of Wasps 
(http://www.waspweb.org/exhibitions/index.htm)

Iziko has partnered with Google to present a 
selection of the ISANG collection to a global 
audience online. This is a continental first and is one 
of only two collections on the continent selected.
(http://www.googleartproject.com/collection/south-
african-national-gallery/)



ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

suB-ProGrAmmE: AudIEncE dEvEloPmEnt: mArkEtInG & communIcAtIons

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: EffEctIvE mArkEtInG of IzIko ExhIBItIons And PuBlIc ProGrAmmEs to IncrEAsE 
AccEss And AttrAct nEw AudIEncEs

Number of 
marketing & 
communications 
programmes

Quarterly 6

• Advertising
• Communications
•  Functions and 

special events
•  Internal 

communication
•  Marketing and 

promotions
• Publications

All marketing & communications programmes, 
including internal and external communications, 
advertising, promotional events, and ongoing 
marketing and promotional activities geared to 
create awareness of our museums and temporary 
exhibition programmes were successfully 
implemented, based on available budgets. 

Number of special 
marketing & 
communications-
related projects 
delivered

Quarterly 7

•  Brand 
development and 
engagement

•  Commemorative 
day campaigns

•  Institutional 
profile

•  Database 
development

•  Intranet 
development

• Market research
•  Iziko Mobile 

Museum upgrade

The following special marketing & communications 
projects were successfully delivered: Brand 
development and engagement; Commemorative day 
campaigns; Market research; Iziko Mobile Museum 
upgrade.

Projects initiated but still underway include: 
Database development; Intranet development; 
Institutional profile.

Resource challenges lead to prioritisation of these 
marketing & communications outputs and deadlines 
for delivery being extended. 

Total number of 
visitors to Iziko 
Museums

Quarterly 550,000 Iziko received a total of 538,305 visitors in 2011/2012. 
This represents an increase of 9,13% over the 
previous year.
 
Lower than anticipated visitor numbers are primarily 
due to a significant reduction in campaign and 
advertising budgets during this period under review.

Number of 
highlight 
exhibitions/ events 
marketed 

Quarterly 10 highlight 
exhibitions/ events 

10 highlight exhibitions/ events were proactively 
marketed, including linked events and public 
functions. 

exhibitions such as Tretchikoff; Wildlife Photographer 
of the Year 2011; Peter Clarke and Fired attracted 
significant attention from the media and public.

Number of Iziko 
sites proactively 
implementing 
cross-marketing

Quarterly 3 Cross-marketing of Iziko sites was implemented via 
a revised site guide completed in March 2012 and 
the installation of 4 plasma screens at the ISAM, ISL, 
ISANG and IGC.

Number of press 
releases

Quarterly 24 A total of 28 press releases were issued throughout 
the year. This result is due to an increase in the 
number of projects that required publicising. 

AVes (Advertising 
Value equivalents) 

Quarterly R38,000,000 Total AVes 2011/2012: R182,552,832.

This significant increase is due to international 
exposure as well as national television coverage 
linked to Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2011.
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ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Number of 
hours spent on 
website updates/ 
maintenance

Quarterly 175 The total number of hours spent on website updates/ 
maintenance was 472,08. Increased maintenance 
was required due to website upgrade.

Number of adverts 
placed 

Quarterly Print: 10
Radio: 2
Online: 6
Other: 2

Print: 16
Radio: 3
Online: 0 
Other: 2 (TV)

An increase in print adverts was possible due the 
fact that discounts were negotiated with service 
providers and/or made possible via partnerships.

Budget allocation for online adverts proposed was 
not approved. 

In addition, Iziko secured a free advert on the 
inside front cover of the Cape Town annual Timeout 
publication, valued at R23,968.

Number of 
promotional 
publications 
produced 
(including museum 
brochures)

Quarterly 7 7 new promotional publications were produced. 
These included: 3 editions of the new format 
What’s On brochure; Social History Centre Guide; 
Planetarium brochure; Bo-Kaap Museum Guide; and 
a revised edition of the Generic Site Guide.

Number of digital 
promotional 
publications. 
Increase in use of 
digital media

Quarterly 3 2 digital versions of What’s On were produced. A third 
issue is only due in May due to period of coverage 
extended from 3 to 4 months to reduce costs.

Outcome of Brand 
Awareness Survey 

Annually •  55% awareness 
unaided

•  75% awareness 
aided

A baseline survey conducted in 2009–2011 shows 
a steady increase in brand awareness, which can 
be attributed to brand development and ongoing 
promotion.

Awareness unaided 64%
Awareness aided 75%

Measure of 
internal brand 
loyalty and 
awareness

Annually Baseline survey
conducted

This project was cancelled due to lack of resources.

Number of 
promotional 
campaigns

Annually 2 3 major promotional campaigns were implemented: 
International Museum Day; Heritage Day; Celebrate 
Summer.

It was decided to focus on 3 rather than 2 campaigns 
to ensure a spread over the course of the fiscus and 
to optimise available budgets.

Number of free 18 
& under visitors

Annually Baseline to be 
established

A baseline has been established using information 
collated from our point-of-sale (POS).

A total of 49,931 youth benefited from Iziko’s ‘free 
entry to 18 & under’ policy during 2011/2012. This 
excludes youth who visit the Castle of Good Hope, 
which has a different pricing strategy. An additional 
6,068 children under 5 visited the Castle for free 
during the same period.



ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Number of 
visitors on free 
commemorative 
days

Annually Baseline to be 
established

A baseline has been established using information 
collated from our POS.

A total of 24,711 visitors were recorded on free 
commemorative days during 2011/2012.

Number of social 
media activations

Quarterly 4 2 were achieved. Iziko actively and regularly updated 
our Facebook page and established a Twitter feed. It 
was decided to optimise activity on these 2 platforms 
given available resources and their popularity with 
the general public.

Number of 
subscribers to 
Iziko database per 
category

Annually 7,500 A total of 12,537 database records were digitised. The 
development of the database is, however, an ongoing 
project, and data requires further refinement.

A subscribe option was created on the new Iziko 
website, and subscription cards and boxes are now 
available at all Iziko museums.

The recruitment, on a fixed-term contract, of a 
dedicated resource to input data, lead to an increase in 
the number of records inputted.

Number of visitor 
profile tracking 
studies and 
outcomes

Annually 2 1 visitor profile tracking survey with a larger sample 
was conducted this year. A single survey with a 
larger sample was deemed to be strategically more 
effective.

Number of 
customer 
satisfaction 
surveys and 
outcomes

Annually 2 1 survey with a larger sample was conducted this 
year. A single survey with a larger sample was 
deemed to be strategically more effective.

Number of focus 
groups hosted to 
inform product 
development 

Annually 0 No output was projected for this period.

Number of 
promotional and 
merchandise items 
developed

Annually 5 4 were developed: 100 x 4GB USB sticks; diaries 
2012; calendar 2012; 250 x branded messenger bags.

Limited budgets resulted in lower than projected 
production.

Number of 
promotional 
exhibitions

Quarterly 1 1 promotion was conducted at various public 
transport hubs in Cape Town, Bellville and Nyanga as 
part of the Celebrate Summer campaign. In addition, 
2 small branded gazebo’s were acquired to enable ad 
hoc community-based promotions in the future.
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ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

suB-ProGrAmmE: fAcIlItIEs dEvEloPmEnt And mAnAGEmEnt

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: courtyArd ProjEct ExPAndInG And ImProvInG fAcIlItIEs At IzIko sA musEum

Collections, offices 
and facilities 
moved from Block 
C of ISAM to make 
way for Courtyard 
Project

Annually Move complete At the time that the strategic objective was stated, 
DPW had already advertised a tender for temporary 
accommodation to house the collections, offices 
and facilities. This objective was achievable when 
it was set. However, for reasons unknown to Iziko, 
the DPW tender evaluation period lapsed and due 
to the suspension of senior DPW staff and negative 
reports in the press, many processes were frozen. 
As a result, the tender evaluation period was not 
extended and the tender process had to start afresh.  

Refer to Appendix 4.1

IT server room 
relocated 

Quarterly Space identified 
and relocation of 
the IT server room 
to new premises 

The space was not identified and relocation of 
the IT server room to the new premises could not 
take place due to the move of the Natural History 
collections for the Courtyard Project being delayed. 
A suitable building has not yet been identified 
by DPW for the Natural History collections and 
employees to be relocated.  

A preliminary budget was developed and approved 
for the relocation of the IT server room.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: fEAsIBIlIty study for thE ExPAnsIon And ImProvEmEnt of ExhIBItIon, 
collEctIons And offIcE sPAcEs At thE IzIko sA nAtIonAl GAllEry And mArItImE musEum

expansion at 
ISANG

Annually Consultation with 
DAC and proposal 
evaluation

Discussions were held regarding additional space 
for the Gallery. Officials from Treasury advised Iziko 
not to include objectives outside its control in the 
Strategic Plan.

Maritime Museum 
history accessible

Annually Identify suitable 
space for Maritime 
Museum

Presentation was made to the Department of Arts & 
Culture to identify a suitable space for the Maritime 
Museum.  

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: whEElchAIr AccEss At IzIko BErtrAm housE

Bertram House 
wheelchair access

Annually Brief to procure 
funding from DAC 
for a Capital Works 
Project to install 
wheelchair access 
at Bertram House

This is the last site under the sole control of Iziko 
that does not have wheelchair access. Iziko has 
submitted a motivation for funding to DAC via the 
User Asset Management Plan (UAMP).

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: ExtErnAl And IntErnAl sIGnAGE At All sItEs

Number of sites 
where upgrade 
of signage and 
way-finding was 
completed

Quarterly 4 1 was achieved. Upgrade of ISAM internal and 
external signage and way-finding was completed.

The roll-out of this project by DPW to 3 more sites 
during this fiscal period was postponed due to delays 
in the tender process, which is now underway.

Signage and 
origination 
document 
completed

Quarterly Second draft 
completed 

The second draft has been completed.



ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: dEvEloP hosPItAlIty And rEtAIl ArEAs And IncrEAsEd rEvEnuE from thEsE sourcEs

Number of active/ 
leased hospitality 
and retail outlets

Quarterly 5 5 hospitality and retail outlets were leased during 
2011/2012. These include the Ivy Gardens Restaurant at 
the Iziko Old Town House; an art shop at the Bertram 
House annexe; Jonkershuis Restaurant at Groot 
Constantia; Iziko South African Museum Shop & Café 
and the Iziko South African National Gallery Shop.

Revenue 
generated from 
hospitality and 
retail 

Quarterly R685,000 A total of R707,306 was raised from rental of 
hospitality and retail outlets during 2011/2012. This 
figure exceeds the projected target by 3,25% due to 
additional turnover income.

The figure achieved reflects an increase of 26,13% 
over revenue of R560,755 generated from leased 
properties in 2010/2011.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: sItE mAIntEnAncE PlAn

effective building 
maintenance plan 
implemented for 
each site

Annually Maintenance 
issues reduced 
progressively by 
10% per annum

DPW has not allocated funding for repair and 
maintenance of Iziko sites for the past three years, 
which resulted in some buildings being in a poor state 
of repair. This places a huge maintenance burden on 
Iziko, thus reducing maintenance is a challenge.

As Iziko does not have the expertise to develop a 
conservation plan for our heritage sites, a request 
to appoint a consultant to develop a conservation 
and maintenance plan for all Iziko sites has been 
submitted to DAC and DPW. This will assist Site 
Managers to prioritise maintenance and guide the 
maintenance team to do maintenance proactively.

effective cleaning 
schedules 
implemented for 
each site

Quarterly Cleaning 
issues reduced 
progressively by 
10% per annum

The implementation of cleaning schedules has been 
effective. None of the visitor complaints during the 
reporting period are related to the cleanliness of our 
museums.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: dEvEloPmEnt And mAIntEnAncE of InformAtIon tEchnoloGy InfrAstructurE

IT Steering 
Committee in place

Quarterly IT Steering 
Committee 
established 

The process to establish an IT Steering Committee 
has commenced. SITA confirmed their representation 
on the committee. Further invitations were extended 
for additional members with the relevant expertise 
to serve on the committee. The process for the 
establishment of the IT Steering Committee will only 
be completed during the next quarter. Internal IT 
Committee meetings were held to discuss IT support, 
maintenance and future development of the IT 
infrastructure.

Increased 
bandwidth to 1 GB 
for Iziko network 
infrastructure

Quarterly Seacom cabling 
and fibre optic 
connectivity 
to Bree Street 
installed

Installation of the Seacom cabling and fibre optic 
connectivity to Bree Street by Dark Fibre Africa in 
terms of the agreement with TeNeT was completed.  
Due to challenges experienced with Internet 
connectivity and testing of the fibre ring, Iziko was 
not able to test the connectivity and improvement 
in the bandwidth. However, continuous monitoring 
of the connectivity and consultation with TeNeT is 
taking place until the process is completed.
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ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011/2012

AchIEvEmEnts

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: dIGItAl uPGrAdE of thE IzIko PlAnEtArIum

Upgrade 
programme for 
Iziko Planetarium

Quarterly Funding 
applications 
submitted to 
funders

A funding application for the digital upgrade of the 
Planetarium, lodged with the NLDTF, is now eligible 
for adjudication.

Programme 2: Collections and research

ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: ImProvE condItIons for thE collEctIons And AccEss to thEm

New ISHC: All 19 
ISHC storerooms 
containing 
collections 
organised and 
accessible
AC: 2 new 
storerooms 
organised and 
accessible

Quarterly SH 13 stores
AC 2 stores

SH: 17 achieved. Three more stores were organised 
and made accessible.
AC: 1 achieved. The second store was not organised 
due to financial constraints.

Relocation of 
collections from 
ISAM to make 
way for Courtyard 
Project

Annual Block C at ISAM 
relocated

Move complete.

19 ISHC stores 
unpacked

Quarterly 2 storerooms 
unpacked

Collections were unpacked on a number of floors to 
allow for the integration of the collection and for better 
research access. The floor-based system was therefore 
abandoned in favour of an integrated system.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: mAnAGE, consErvE And Grow thE collEctIons In lInE wIth strAtEGIc PrIorItIEs 
And AddrEss unEthIcAl collEctIon PrActIcEs

Objects/ groups 
of objects 
acquired for Social 
History and Art, 
in accordance 
with acquisition 
procedures and 
collecting foci and 
based on budget

See Appendix 4.5

Quarterly Acquisitions made 
according to 
process

SH: A large, diverse and very vibrant collection of 
acquisitions in the field of ceramics and African 
material culture generally was developed and 
undertaken in accordance with processes.
AC: Art acquired according to prioritising younger 
artists and addressing gaps in the collection.

Process of 
deaccessioning 
and return of 
unethically 
collected objects, 
specifically human 
remains, including 
meetings held

Annually • Ratify list
• 1 meeting

The list of 24 and 6 unethically collected human 
remains was forwarded to DAC by the Chair of 
Council to request deaccessioning. Iziko is awaiting 
reply. Iziko participated in the process to repatriate 
the remains of the Pienaars from Austria.



ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Loans for 
exhibitions 
according to policy 
and loan forms

Quarterly According to policy 
and forms

SH: All loans were administered through loan forms 
and in terms of the Loan Policy. The loan form was 
reviewed to distinguish internal Iziko loans across 
departments from external loans.
AC: All loans in and out were done according to 
policy, and loan agreements were entered into with 
relevant parties.

Regular meetings 
with DPW to 
discuss buildings 
from a SH 
conservation point 
of view (minutes 
kept)

Quarterly 9 SH meetings
4 AC meetings

SH continued to play an important role in DPW work 
at SH museums, specifically CCTV. SH no longer 
attended general DPW meetings as from the 2nd 
quarter.
AC: All concerns relating to conservation of AC 
buildings were channeled via CSM and Iziko 
Operations. 

Monitoring of 
19 ISHC stores/ 
monitoring of 6 AC 
stores

Quarterly Quarterly 
inspections of 19 
SH stores and 6 AC 
stores

Stores regularly monitored. Variances in humidity, 
climate control, and leaks and mechanical issues 
reported as soon as identified. 

Large conservation 
project for 
furniture

Quarterly SH project The large conservation project was completed.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: dIGItIsAtIon of collEctIons

Database 
digitisation of basic 
information about 
objects: number of 
records entered

Quarterly 700 AC
20,000 NH
3,000 SH

AC: 426 achieved. The target was not met due to the 
prioritisation of the Google Art Project.
NH: 21,282 achieved.
SH: 784 objects digitised. The negative variance of 
2,216 was due to the large number of images the 
Registrar had to deal with; Iziko’s involvement in the 
Google Art Project; the loss of entries on the server 
in the 4th quarter; unpacking schedule; and heavy 
demands on collections team by Fired exhibition.

Number of 
object images 
scanned/ objects 
photographed 

Quarterly 100 AC
2,000 SH
3,000 NH 

AC: 101. Noticeable drop in production due to being 
under-resourced. 
SH: 3,483. Target of 2,000 was exceeded due to 
additional assistance from volunteers. 
NH: 589 achieved. Target not reached (under by 
80%) due to delayed SABIF funding and irreparable 
slide scanner.

% of Natural 
History records 
converted to new 
Specify System

Quarterly 60% 86% of the records were converted to the new 
Specify System. The project progressed more 
successfully than expected, and 26% more 
records were converted than planned due to the 
collaborative efforts with SAIAB in Grahamstown.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: ImProvE rEsEArch cAPAcIty, ProductIvIty And rElEvAncE In IzIko

Number of peer-
reviewed research 
publications 

See Appendix 4.6 

Quarterly 1 SH
2 AC
12 NH

23 publications were accepted instead of the 
projected 14. The positive response was due to the 
acceptance of 2 more articles from AC and 3 more 
from NH. The breakdown is: 1 SH; 4 AC; 18 NH.

Number of 
externally funded 
research projects

Annually 2 SH
4 NH

SH: 2 achieved. There was excellent progress in 
both the Meermin (now completed) and the Slave 
Wrecks projects.
NH: 11 achieved. Target well exceeded due to 
excellent fundraising efforts by NH team. 
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ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Number of 
other research 
publications, 
including brochures 
on exhibitions and 
museums

See Appendix 4.7

Quarterly 4 SH
4 AC
NH (No target set)

SH: 6 achieved. Target exceeded due to acceptance 
of staff articles by external publishers. 
AC: 9 achieved. Target exceeded due to a number 
of externally produced research publications and 
brochures linked to exhibitions at ISANG. 
NH: 11 achieved. A large number of conference 
abstracts and contributions were accepted.

Number of research 
visits/ enquiries 
exceeding 4 hours

Annually 80 SH 
20 AC
100 NH

SH: 80 achieved. Target reached. There is a growing 
interest in SA maritime history and despite being 
packed up, pre-colonial archaeology continued to 
attract wide interest.
AC: 26 achieved.
NH: 106 achieved.

Number of 
research loans

Annually 3 SH
40 NH

SH: 1 achieved. Research loans were curtailed 
because of the packing up of the pre-colonial 
archaeology collection for the Courtyard Project. 
Access was complicated by the delay in the 
Courtyard Project.
NH: 70 achieved. Target exceeded, due mainly 
to more loan requests than expected for Karoo 
palaeontology and entomology collections.

Number of staff 
spending more 
than 50% of time 
on research

Annually 1 SH
8 NH

SH: 1 achieved. 85% of time by maritime archaeology. 
NH: Target met.

Number of 
research/ field 
trips

Annually 5 SH
8 AC
12 NH

SH: Target met.
AC: Target met.
NH: Target met.

Collections 
material acquired 
through Iziko as 
repository for 
research and 
Cultural Resource 
Management (CRM) 
archaeological 
collections

•  Controls annually
•  Numbers 

quarterly

Control document; 
numbers

The relevant template was updated and improved. 
There has been a small steady demand for Iziko to 
be the repository for research and CRM material.



Programme 3: Governance

ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

suB-ProGrAmmE: PolIcy And ProcEdurE

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: PolIcy dEvEloPmEnt And rEvIEw

Number of governance 
policies reviewed

Quarterly 2 existing policies 
reviewed

Iziko has included changes in legislation 
effective from March 2012 in the revised 
Health and Safety Policy, which was 
approved by Council in March 2012. Iziko is 
fully compliant in terms of Health and Safety.

The review of the Fraud Prevention Policy 
and Delegation of Authority has been 
deferred to the new financial year due to 
Iziko having had to implement the new 
supply chain management (SCM) regulations, 
effective from 7 December 2011, as well as 
commencing with the assessment of Iziko’s 
current status and readiness to implement 
the new accounting standard, GRAP 103 on 
Heritage Assets, effective from 1 April 2012.

Number of new governance 
policies developed

Quarterly New policies to be 
developed identified

Council approved the Security Policy in 
March 2012.

The first draft of the policy on photocopier 
usage, telephone usage and asset 
management was developed and submitted 
to the CFO for comment.

The IT change management and password 
policies were developed and submitted to 
Senior Management for comment.

Number of governance 
policies implemented

Quarterly 2 policies approved 
and implemented 
within organisation

No policies were submitted to Council 
for approval. Delegation of Authority 
was not reviewed due to other legislative 
requirements being prioritised, such as 
the new SCM regulations and the new 
accounting standard, GRAP 103 on Heritage 
Assets that had to be implemented.

The first draft of the Telephone Usage Policy 
was developed and submitted to the CFO.

Following internal processes, policies will 
be submitted to Council for approval. 
Submissions are planned for the new 
financial year.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: ProcEdurE dEvEloPmEnt And rEvIEw

existing financial 
procedures reviewed 

Quarterly 5 existing financial 
procedures reviewed

The review of 5 existing financial procedures 
is underway. Completion of this process is 
planned for the new financial year. 

The review of the SCM Policy and 
procedures was completed.
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ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

New financial procedures 
developed

Quarterly 2 new financial 
procedures aligned to 
policies developed

Assessment of telephone usage and 
photocopier usage was completed 
during this period and draft policies 
developed and submitted to the CFO. The 
development of two new procedures is 
underway. Completion of this process is 
planned for the new financial year.

evaluation and monitoring 
of the implementation of 
financial procedures 

Annually 0 No output was projected for this period.

suB-ProGrAmmE: fInAncIAl mAnAGEmEnt

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: EnsurE comPlIAncE wIth thE PfmA And othEr rElEvAnt lEGIslAtIon

Draft Strategic Plan 
developed

Annually Draft Strategic 
Plan aligned to 
the framework for 
Strategic Plan and 
Annual Performance 
Plan (APP)

The first draft of the Strategic Plan was 
submitted to DAC on 31 August 2011.

Approved Annual Report Annually Report on 
performance 
information aligned 
to the Strategic 
Plan provided and 
included in the 
Annual Report 

Report on performance information was 
submitted to the Auditor-General (A-G) by 
the due date of 31 May 2011.

The audited performance information was 
included in the Annual Report 2010/2011.

Approved Annual Financial 
Statements (AFS)

Annually Statement of the 
financial position and 
performance of the 
organisation audited 
and included in the 
Annual Report

Statement of the financial position and 
performance of the organisation was 
audited and included in the Annual Report. 

The approved AFS were submitted to the 
A-G, DAC and National Treasury by the due 
date of 31 May 2011, and audited accordingly. 

A clean audit report was received from the A-G.

The AFS and the Template of National 
Treasury were submitted by the due date 
of 31 May 2011. 

The AFS and Template were audited by the A-G 
and submitted to National Treasury and DAC.

List of investments and 
bank accounts 

Annually Provide list of 
investments and bank 
accounts to National 
Treasury and DAC

List of investments and bank accounts was 
submitted to DAC and National Treasury by 
the due date of 31 May 2011.

Approved consolidated 
annual budget 
implemented

Annually Consolidated annual 
budget, aligned to the 
Strategic Plan and 
APP, developed and 
approved by Council

The approved consolidated annual budget 
2011/2012 was implemented.

The consolidated annual budget aligned to 
APP 2012/2013 was approved by Council.

Quarterly Assess and report on 
budget variances

Quarterly financial report submitted to 
Council and monthly reports to Senior 
Management.



ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Report on compliance with 
the PFMA, progress on the 
Strategic Plan, finance, 
and progress on audit 
outcomes

Quarterly Report on 
compliance with the 
PFMA, progress on 
the Strategic Plan, 
finance, and progress 
on audit outcomes 
provided to DAC

Reports were submitted to DAC by the 
quarterly due dates: 
30 April 2011
31 July 2011
31 October 2011
31 January 2012

Quarterly Implement effective 
GRAP standards 

No new GRAP standard became effective 
during this year.

A service provider was appointed to assist 
Iziko with the implementation of GRAP 103. 
The impact of GRAP 103 on Heritage Assets, 
which comes into effect on 1 April 2012, has 
been assessed.

Workshops were held with the various 
departments to assess the current status 
of heritage assets and Iziko’s readiness to 
implement the new standard. A draft report 
was submitted to Senior Management.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: sound fInAncIAl mAnAGEmEnt And GovErnAncE AccordInG to BEst PrActIcE

Financial manual directing 
the processes and 
procedures

Quarterly Develop phase 1 of 
the financial manual, 
including 5 existing 
financial procedures 

Legislative requirements such as the new 
SCM regulations and the new accounting 
standard, GRAP 103 on Heritage Assets that 
had to be implemented were prioritised. 
The development first phase of the financial 
manual was deferred to the new financial 
year. The existing financial procedures were 
circulated to the Finance & Administration 
department to assess whether procedures 
are still relevant or need to be updated.

The internal audit process on procurement 
procedures was completed during this 
period of review.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: dEvEloP And mAIntAIn A sound suPPly chAIn mAnAGEmEnt strAtEGy

Revised Supply Chain 
Management Policy in 
place

Quarterly Tenders as required 
by departments 
implemented, as per 
the SCM Policy 

The following tenders were implemented 
during the year under review:
• Heritage practitioner
•  Hospitality and retail at the ISAM and IBH
• Security services
• Racking and shelving
•  Solution for post-retirement medical aid 

liability
•  Server consolidation, storage and backup 

solution

A database on preferred 
suppliers in place 

Quarterly Database maintained 
and updated, 
and departments 
informed of new 
service provider 

Tax clearance certificates were obtained 
from existing service providers and filed.

The database was updated with new service 
providers.

On request, departments were informed of 
service providers on the database.
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ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Asset management system 
in place

Quarterly Develop an asset 
management system

Internal audit report was received and 
findings were assessed and addressed by 
SCM. Draft procedures were documented 
for discussion within the Finance 
department.

First draft of the Asset Management Policy 
was developed and submitted to the CFO.

Implement asset 
management system

The outcome of the internal audit process 
on the asset management system was 
addressed during this period.

The first draft of the Asset Management 
Policy was developed in March 2012.

Information sessions were held with 
the Finance department on SCM and 
procurement procedures, which included 
asset management.

suB-ProGrAmmE: humAn rEsourcEs

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: An EffIcIEnt orGAnIsAtIonAl structurE

Revise and implement the 
revised organisational 
structure

Annually Revise the 
organisational 
structure and 
implement the 
revised structure in 
phases as positions 
become vacant

The organisational structure was refocused.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: A rEvIsEd rEmunErAtIon And BEnEfIts strAtEGy

Revise and implement the 
revised remuneration and 
benefit strategy

Annually Complete a salary 
benchmark based 
on the DAC salary 
survey of the 
heritage sector or 
sufficient responses 
from the heritage 
sector

The Director General of DAC indicated that 
the results of the DAC Salary Benchmark 
of 2011 will not be made available. Also, few 
museums responded to Iziko’s request for 
salary information, so a salary benchmark 
with the heritage sector could not be 
conducted.

The Remuneration and Benefits Policy, 
which states that salary increases will be 
considered subject to affordability, is a 
sound strategy and has therefore not been 
revised.

A gap analysis was done and submitted 
to DAC. The remuneration strategy could 
be reviewed should additional recurring 
funding be obtained.



ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: A lEArnInG dEvEloPmEnt ProGrAmmE thAt focusEs on thE comPEtEncy dEfIcIt 
of stAff mEmBErs And IncludEs trAInInG In dIvErsIty mAnAGEmEnt And multIlInGuAlIsm

Develop and implement 
an annual Learning and 
Development Plan that 
focuses on the competency 
deficit, training in 
diversity management and 
multilingualism

Annually Develop and 
implement a learning 
and development 
programme for 
2011/2012

The 2011/2012 learning and development 
programme focused on the competency 
deficit in Iziko, as listed in the skills audit 
form for each staff member.

Training in diversity management and 
multilingualism was offered. Senior 
Managers received training in diversity 
management and Middle Managers will 
receive training in the next reporting period. 
Staff members who showed an interest in 
learning Xhosa attended Xhosa lessons.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: A fAst-trAckInG ProGrAmmE thAt InvEsts In thE comPEtEncy of stAff mEmBErs 
from dEsIGnAtEd GrouPs

Develop a Career Pathing 
and Succession Plan that 
includes a fast-tracking 
programme that invests 
in the competency of staff 
members from designated 
groups

Annually Develop a Career 
Pathing and 
Succession Plan for 
2011/2012

A Succession Plan, including 
recommendations for career pathing for 
staff members from designated groups to 
replace staff members who will be retiring 
in the next 5 years, has been developed.

suB-ProGrAmmE: rIsk mAnAGEmEnt

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: EntErPrIsE rIsk mAnAGEmEnt

Regularly review risks to 
Iziko and manage these 
risks effectively

Annually The Risk Register 
revised bi-annually in 
June and December

Senior Managers regularly review risks and 
were requested twice to update the Risk 
Register.

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: dIsAstEr mAnAGEmEnt

Revise the Disaster 
Management Plan 
and develop disaster 
management procedures

Annually Implement Disaster 
Management Plan 
and each department 
to develop relevant 
procedures

38 disaster management procedures were 
developed in the reporting period.  

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: sEcurIty

Security Policy developed Annually A Security Policy 
developed and 
approved by Council

A Security Policy was developed and 
approved by Council on 30 March 2012.

Security procedures 
developed

Annually Security procedures 
developed for all sites

5 security procedures were developed by 
the CSM department.

Access control at all sites 
improved

Annually Assess access control 
at all sites and 
implement improved 
access control

Access control measures were revised, and 
improved access control was implemented 
at all Iziko sites.

CCTV project extended to 
IR&V; IKDW; IBKM; IBH & 
ISANG (HR) Annexe

Annually Submit a brief to 
DPW/ DAC for capital 
works funding to 
extend the CCTV 
project to IR&V; 
IKDW; IBKM; IBH & 
ISANG (HR) Annexe 

A brief was submitted to DPW/ DAC for 
capital works funding to extend the CCTV 
project to IR&V, IKDW, IBKM, IBH and the 
ISANG (HR) Annexe.

Funding was allocated and the project 
is scheduled for completion in the next 
reporting period.
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PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

Outsourced security 
service contract in place

Annually Security service 
provider appointed 
through a tender 
process

The Tender Committee’s recommendation 
will be considered by the Adjudicating 
Committee in April 2012. The committee 
was unable to meet due to the CeO being 
called to Pretoria three times for meetings 
in March 2012.

Controls in place to ensure 
safeguarding of gate 
revenue 

Annually Site Managers 
to analyse POS 
journals to ensure 
that there is no 
misappropriation.  
Install POS systems 
at IOTH and IMC.

Controls to ensure that gate revenue is not 
misappropriated are deemed effective as 
there is no indication of misappropriation of 
gate revenue in POS journals.

Iziko has also installed POS systems at IOTH 
and IMC.

Revise commercial 
agreements and parking 
fees

Annually Develop guidelines 
for commercial 
parking tariffs 
and revise parking 
agreement.  
Benchmark parking 
tariffs in Cape 
Town city bowl area 
and recommend 
commercial parking 
tariffs to exco.  

exco approved the increase in commercial 
parking tariffs, which had been 
benchmarked against parking tariffs in the 
Cape Town city bowl.

Parking agreements that favour Iziko have 
been developed.

suB-ProGrAmmE: PArtnErshIPs

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: BuIld And sustAIn EffEctIvE rElAtIonshIPs wIth PArtnErs And stAkEholdErs

Integrated Partnership and 
Stakeholder Strategy and 
Plan

Quarterly First draft of 
integrated 
Partnership and 
Stakeholder Strategy 
submitted to exco

A database of existing partners and 
stakeholders has been compiled and is 
being further refined to inform this strategy.

The department of Institutional 
Advancement experienced significant 
human resource challenges during 
2011/2012. As such, the anticipated 
delivery of an Integrated Partnership and 
Stakeholder Strategy to exco is delayed 
until end September 2012.

The absence of a dedicated resource to 
strategically manage partnerships and key 
stakeholder relationships across multiple 
museums and departments remains a 
challenge.

Number of new MOU/ MOA 
agreements with partners 
and stakeholders

Quarterly 6 20 achieved. Target exceeded due to 
increased number of exhibitions with 
partner support.



ProGrAmmE 
PErformAncE 

IndIcAtor

rEPortInG 
PErIod

AnnuAl tArGEt
2011-2012

AchIEvEmEnts

suB-ProGrAmmE: fInAncIAl sustAInABIlIty

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: IncrEAsE And dIvErsIfy AltErnAtIvE sourcEs of fundInG to suPPlEmEnt 
thE dEPArtmEnt of Arts & culturE suBsIdy And IncrEAsE rEvEnuE from GrAnts, sPonsorshIPs, 
donAtIons And IncomE GEnErAtInG ProGrAmmEs

Fundraising Strategy and 
implementation framework 

Quarterly Fundraising audit,
Fundraising Strategy 
and implementation 
framework 

A resource to assist with the strategic 
fundraising development process was 
appointed in mid-December 2012.

A fundraising audit was conducted in 
March 2012 based on the revised Strategic 
Plan and APP for 2012/2013 to 2017/2018. 
A fundraising questionnaire was circulated 
to the SMT, which will inform a fundraising 
workshop and recommendations to exco 
regarding our Fundraising Strategy.

Due to resource challenges that delayed the 
outputs required in the 1st and 2nd quarter, 
the development of a revised Fundraising 
Strategy is now only anticipated to be 
finalised by September 2012.

Ad hoc fundraising efforts across the 
institution were successful. In addition, 
strategic partnerships covered the costs 
of temporary exhibitions and other key 
programmes.

Total fundraised revenue Quarterly R10,000,000 Total fundraised (donor) income received: 
R7,722,997.

Target not achieved: A delay in payment of 
the second tranche of the NLDTF grant, as 
well as a generally challenging economic 
environment with increased competition 
for a diminishing funding pool for the 
heritage sector, accounts for this lower than 
anticipated result.

Donor Relationship 
Management Strategy and 
implementation framework 

Quarterly Donor Relationship 
Management 
Strategy and 
implementation 
framework

Not achieved due to significant human 
resource challenges. It is anticipated that 
delivery of this document to exco will be 
delayed until end September 2012.

Total revenue from 
donations

Quarterly R100,000 Total income from donation boxes: R61,446.
An additional R3,496 was generated 
from the donation boxes of the Friends 
organisations.

Target not met due to reduced voluntary 
donations by visitors, symptomatic of the 
recessionary economic climate.

Annual value of donations/ 
bequests 

Quarterly Baseline Refer to Appendix 4.5
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Revenue and % of turnover 
from lease of hospitality 
and retail outlets

Quarterly R601,200 R707,306 was raised from rental of 
hospitality and retail outlets during 2011/2012. 

Target exceeded by 17,64% due to revenue 
from % of turnover, an increase of 26,13% 
over revenue of R560,755 generated from 
leased properties in 2010/2011. This is due 
to the new lease agreement of the ISAM 
Café and Shop.

Revenue from venue hire Quarterly R480,000 Total revenue of R383,882 was generated 
from venue hire in 2011/2012. 

This is 20,32% less than budget projections. 
This shortfall is due the fact that revenue 
in the first two quarters of 2011/2012 was 
substantially below targets, primarily due to 
non-availability of certain venues.

Proactive marketing in the last two quarters 
generated revenue in excess of quarterly 
targets.

Revenue from reproduction 
fees

Quarterly R48,000 Total revenue of R37,103 was generated 
from reproduction fees. The fact that there 
is no dedicated person dealing with image 
requests continues to be a challenge.

suB-ProGrAmmE: EnvIronmEntAl sustAInABIlIty

strAtEGIc oBjEctIvE: EnvIronmEntAlly frIEndly And sustAInABlE PrActIcEs In IzIko

ensure our museums 
and operations are 
environmentally friendly 
and sustainable

Quarterly Guidelines and 
manual developed

Target not achieved. A report on 
environmental sustainability was 
developed by 10 interns from CPUT in 
2010/2011. However, the production of an 
environmental sustainability manual was 
not possible due to lack of resources at this 
time. 

Where possible, Iziko recycles paper and 
other material. We proactively promote 
environmental awareness through education.

CHIeF eXeCUTIVe OFFICeR 
Date:  31 July 2012

CHAIRMAN OF COUNCIL 
Date:  31 July 2012
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Mfuneko Dingiswayo. Ceramic platter, inspired by the packaging of Lucky Star pilchards. 
Social History Collections acquisition.
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rEPort of thE AudIt commIttEE 
for thE fInAncIAl yEAr EndEd 
31 mArch 2012

We are pleased to present the Audit Committee Report 

for Iziko Museums for the financial year ended  

31 March 2012.

Audit Committee Members and 
Attendance
The Audit Committee met four times during the year to 

31 March 2012. The sittings of the Audit Committee for 

the period 1 April 2011–31 March 2012 were as follows:

name of member           number of meetings Attended

year to 31 march 2012 

Mr AP Wakaba (Chairman)   4

Mr MR Hassim    4

Ms LAK Robinson    2

In addition, the Audit Committee was represented in 

discussions with the Auditor-General in planning and 

reviewing the 2012 audit.

Representatives of the Auditor-General attended the 

Audit Committee meetings, as required.

Audit Committee Responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with 

its responsibilities arising from sections 51(1)(a)(ii) and 

76(4)(d) of the Public Finance Management Act and 

Treasury Regulation 27.

The Audit Committee further reports that it reviewed 

and reaffirmed the Audit Committee Charter during 

the year, has regulated its affairs in compliance with 

this charter, and has discharged its responsibilities as 

contained therein.

Internal Audit
The Internal Audit Function has substantially fulfilled its 

responsibilities as set out in the Internal Audit Charter. 

A risk-based three-year and one-year Internal Audit Plan 

was considered and adopted by the Audit Committee, as 

required by Treasury Regulation 27.2.7.

Internal Control
Internal control is the system of controls and directives 

that is designed to provide cost-effective assurance 

that assets are safeguarded, that liabilities and 

working capital are efficiently managed, and that the 

organisation fulfils its mandate, in compliance with 

all relevant statutory and governance duties and 

requirements.

The Audit Committee notes from the Auditor-

General’s Management Report and Audit Report on 

the Annual Financial Statements that no significant 

or material non-compliance with prescribed policies 

and procedures has been reported, and the Audit 

Committee is accordingly able to report that the system 

of internal control for the year under review was 

effective and efficient.  

Donor Funding
The Audit Committee is pleased to report that 

expenditure relating to project grants and donor funds 

was tested and reviewed during the year, and that 

management is to be complimented on the manner in 

which these funds were managed and controlled.

Reporting on Predetermined Objectives
The Auditor-General has audited Iziko’s performance 

against selected strategic objectives, reviewing the 

manner in which the outcomes and achievements 

relating to performance are measured and reported. 

There were no material findings.

evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has:

•  reviewed and discussed the Annual Financial 

Statements included in the annual report with the 

Auditor-General and with the Chief executive Officer 

on behalf of Council, which is Iziko’s accounting 

authority;

•  reviewed the Auditor-General’s Management Report 

and management’s response;

•  reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices, 

as applicable; and

•  reviewed and endorsed any adjustment that resulted 

from the audit.
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The Audit Committee accordingly concurs with and 

supports the Auditor-General’s conclusion on the Annual 

Financial Statements, and is of the opinion that the 

audited Annual Financial Statements should be accepted 

and read together with the Auditor-General’s report.

Stakeholders
The Committee, on behalf of the Iziko Council, extends its 

gratitude to the management team, the Auditor-General 

and the Internal Audit unit for the manner in which 

they have discharged their duties to safeguard good 

governance. The Committee further congratulates all the 

Iziko staff for the PFMA clean audit award bestowed to 

Iziko in recognition of a clean administration.

In conclusion, the Committee thanks the Council for their 

support and confidence it has placed on the Committee.

Mr AP Wakaba

Chairman of the Audit Committee

31 July 2012



rEPort of thE AudItor-GEnErAl 
to PArlIAmEnt on thE  
IzIko musEums

RePORT ON THe FINANCIAL STATeMeNTS
Introduction

1. I have audited the financial statements of the Iziko 

Museums of Cape Town set out on pages 45 to 84, 

which comprise the statement of financial position as at 

31 March 2012, the statement of financial performance, 

statement of changes in net assets and the cash flow 

statement for the year then ended, and the notes, 

comprising a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the 

financial statements

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with South African 

Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 

Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements 

of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 

1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999)(PFMA), and for such internal 

control as the accounting authority determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor-General’s responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on my audit. I conducted my 

audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South 

Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the General 

Notice issued in terms thereof and International 

Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I 

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 

audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. The procedures selected 

depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

audit opinion.

opinion

6. In my opinion, the financial statements present 

fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the Iziko Museums of Cape Town as at 31 March 2012, 

and its financial performance and cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with SA Standards of 

GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA.

Emphasis of matter

7. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is 

not modified in respect of this matter.

restatement of corresponding figures 

8. As disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements, 

the corresponding figures for 31 March 2011 have been 

restated during the 2011-12 financial year in the financial 

statements of the Iziko Museums of Cape Town at, and 

for the year ended, 31 March 2011.

RePORT ON OTHeR LeGAL AND 
ReGULATORY ReQUIReMeNTS
9. In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice 

issued in terms thereof, I report the following findings 

relevant to performance against predetermined 

objectives, compliance with laws and regulations and 

internal control, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion.
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Predetermined objectives 

10. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about 

the usefulness and reliability of the information in the 

annual performance report as set out on pages 14 to 33 

of the annual report. 

11. The reported performance against predetermined 

objectives was evaluated against the overall criteria of 

usefulness and reliability. The usefulness of information 

in the annual performance report relates to whether it 

is presented in accordance with the National Treasury 

annual reporting principles and whether the reported 

performance is consistent with the planned objectives. 

The usefulness of information further relates to 

whether indicators and targets are measurable (i.e. 

well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable and 

time bound) and relevant as required by the National 

Treasury Framework for managing programme 

performance information.

12. The reliability of the information in respect of the 

selected programmes is assessed to determine whether 

it adequately reflects the facts (i.e. whether it is valid, 

accurate and complete).

13. There were no material findings on the annual 

performance report concerning the usefulness and 

reliability of the information.

compliance with laws and regulations

14. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that 

the entity has complied with applicable laws and 

regulations regarding financial matters, financial 

management and other related matters. 

15. I did not identify any instances of material non-

compliance with specific matters in key applicable 

laws and regulations as set out in the General Notice 

issued in terms of the PAA.

Internal control

16. I considered internal control relevant to my audit 

of the financial statements, the annual performance 

report and compliance with laws and regulations. 

17. I did not identify any deficiencies in internal 

control which we considered sufficiently significant for 

inclusion in this report.

OTHeR RePORTS 
Agreed-upon procedures engagement

18. As requested by the Iziko Museums of Cape 

Town, an engagement was conducted during the year 

under review on expenditure on the National Research 

Foundation (NRF) grants and grant deposits. The report 

covered the period January 2011 to December 2011 and 

was issued on 29 June 2012. 

Cape Town

31 July 2012



stAtEmEnt of rEsPonsIBIlIty

The Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 

1999), as amended, requires the Council to ensure that 

Iziko Museums (Iziko) keeps full and proper records of 

its financial affairs. The annual financial statements 

should fairly present the state of affairs of Iziko, its 

financial results, its performance against predetermined 

objectives, and its financial position at the end of the 

year in terms of the prescribed Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP).

The annual financial statements are the responsibility 

of the Council. The Auditor-General of South Africa 

(AGSA) is responsible for independently auditing and 

reporting on the financial statements. The AGSA has 

audited Iziko’s financial statements, and the Auditor-

General’s report appears on page 38.

The financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with the prescribed Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practices, including any 

interpretation of such statements issued by the 

Accounting Standards Board. These annual financial 

statements are based on appropriate accounting 

policies, supported by reasonable and prudent 

judgements and estimates.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow 

forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2012. On the 

basis of the review, and in view of the current financial 

position, the Council has every reason to believe that 

Iziko will be a going concern in the year ahead, and 

has continued to adopt the going concern basis in 

preparing the financial statements.

The Council sets standards to enable management 

to meet the above responsibilities by implementing 

systems of internal control and risk management, 

where possible, that are designed to provide 

reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material 

misstatements and losses. The entity maintains internal 

financial controls to provide assurance regarding:

•  The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use 

or disposition, and

•  The maintenance of proper accounting records and 

the reliability of financial information used within Iziko 

or for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and 

actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are 

identified. even an effective system of internal control, 

no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, 

including the possibility of circumvention or the 

overriding of controls. An effective system of internal 

control, therefore, aims to provide reasonable assurance 

with respect to the reliability of financial information 

and the presentation of financial statements. However, 

because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of 

internal financial controls may vary over time.

The Council has reviewed Iziko’s systems of internal 

control and risk management for the period from 1 April 

2011 to 31 March 2012. The Council is of the opinion that 

Iziko’s systems of internal control and risk management 

were effective for the period under review. 

In the opinion of the Council, based on the information 

available to date, the annual financial statements 

fairly present the financial position of Iziko at 31 March 

2012 and the results of its operations and cash flow 

information for the year, and that the Code of Corporate 

Practices and Conduct has been adhered to.

The annual financial statements for the year ended  

31 March 2012, set out on pages 45 to 84, were 

submitted for auditing on 31 May 2012 and approved 

by the Council in terms of section 51(1)(f) of the Public 

Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as 

amended, and are signed on its behalf by:

_________________

Adv. B Madumise, Chairman of Council 

_________________

Ms R Omar, Chief executive Officer
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AccountInG AuthorIty’s rEPort 
for thE yEAr EndEd 
31 mArch 2012

Report by the Council to the executive Authority, 

Minister of Arts and Culture, and Parliament of the 

Republic of South Africa.

1.  General Review of the State of  
Financial Affairs

Iziko’s results for the year show satisfactory progress 

despite the adverse economic climate. Cash and cash 

equivalents have increased by 35% from R32,082,692 

to R43,444,964. This increase is due mainly to the 

fact that funds were received from the Department of 

Arts & Culture (DAC) for major capital works projects 

to develop the courtyard at the Iziko South African 

Museum and to improve Iziko’s infrastructure and 

communication capability in line with its Strategic Plan.

Iziko received most of its funding through a subsidy 

allocation from the government, i.e. the National 

Department of Arts & Culture. During the year under 

review, Iziko’s total revenue increased by 5% from 

R68,023,103 to R71,102,655.

The subsidy allocation from DAC increased by 6% from 

R50,779,000 to R53,920,000 for the year. The subsidy 

represents 76% of total income, while 11% of income 

was derived from donor funding, and 13% of the total 

income was own income generated through entrance 

fees, venue hire, rental of premises and professional 

museums services.

Iziko’s operating expenditure was decreased by 3% 

from R74,562,522 to R72,061,775. This is due to 

external funding received from national government 

agencies, research foundations, corporate business, 

and private individual donors to fund major core 

function activities during the previous year.

The deficit of R959,120 is as a result of the increase in 

the cost of the provision for the liability of the Post-

retirement employee Benefits, an inherited system of 

the five national museums prior to the amalgamation 

of the Iziko Museums. In line with previous trends, it is 

expected that this cost will increase on an annual basis.

Despite the deficit, Iziko’s financial circumstances remain 

stable. While Iziko has received limited funding for its 

operations over the last few years, it has practiced good 

governance with regard to management of its funds; 

observing the requirements of its donors; as well as 

compliance with the Public Finance Management Act and 

National Treasury regulations, where applicable.

While a great deal of work still lies ahead to improve 

the bottom line and meet the targets set in the 

Strategic Plan, the results for the year show progress, 

and management remains committed to achieving its 

strategic objectives.

2. Services Rendered by Iziko
2.1 List of Services Rendered   

Iziko’s core business is to manage and promote 

its unique combination of South Africa’s heritage 

collections, sites and services for the benefit of present 

and future generations. The services rendered by Iziko 

in these areas, among others, are: exhibitions; education 

and Public Programmes; Collections Management 

(including loans to other institutions); Development of 

Collections; Conservation; Research; Curatorial Services; 

and Publication (both popular and scientific).

 

The three Collections departments offer, in collaboration 

with the education and Public Programmes department, 

exhibitions that meet the diverse needs of education 

and life-long learning. The selection of exhibitions 

gives priority to correcting the imbalances of the past 

in the representation of art and social history, thus 

contributing to nation building, social cohesion and 

transformation.   

In addition to Iziko’s core business, services such as 

venue hire, outsourcing of coffee shops, museum retail 

shops and professional museum services are rendered.  

2.2 Tariff Policy

Tariffs are charged for entrance fees, rental of 

premises, venue hire, photographic services and 



professional museum services. Tariffs are negotiated at 

the outset of entering into a service agreement. Iziko 

reviews tariffs on an annual basis.

3. Capacity Constraints  
During the year under review, executive Management 

continued the implementation of the re-aligned 

organisational structure to effectively and efficiently 

deliver the objectives of the Strategic Plan. Due to 

insufficient funding, Iziko is not able to grow its human 

capital to its full potential, and is unable to employ 

the necessary staff required to fulfil its core function 

activities to the maximum potential. An increase in the 

number of younger staff in key areas would allow for the 

transfer of skills, capacity development and succession 

planning. executive Management continued to evaluate 

the efficiency of the re-aligned structure and to maximise 

opportunities to diversify our demographic profile.

4. Utilisation of Donor Funds
Donor funds amounting to R7,966,476 during the year 

under review were received from national government 

agencies, research foundations, corporate business, 

and private individual donors. The funds are earmarked 

and utilised for specific projects, such as acquisitions, 

exhibitions, conservation, collection management, 

research and education that have a lifespan of two to 

three years. These projects form an integral part of 

the museum’s core function activities, and contributed 

significantly to Iziko’s success. 

5.  Public entity
Iziko is listed as a schedule 3A national public entity in 

terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act 

No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999) and is 

governed by the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 

119 of 1998). Iziko operates under the jurisdiction of the 

Council. The National Department of Arts & Culture is 

the controlling entity.  

Business address:   Postal address:

25 Queen Victoria Street  PO Box 61

Cape Town   Cape Town

8001    8000

6. Jurisdiction
Iziko resides and is effectively managed in South Africa. 

The controlling entity is DAC.

7. New/proposed Activities
The professional staff in the Art, Natural History 

and Social History Collections are skilled in museum 

practice and in specialised areas of historical and 

scientific knowledge. They are well placed to transfer 

their skills, but Iziko needs funding to support trainee 

positions from previously disadvantaged communities, 

in line with its employment equity strategy.

Major projects for the next three to five years include the 

upgrade of security systems at all Iziko museums, the 

completion of the installation of the fibre optic network, as 

well as a capital works project to develop the courtyard at 

the South African Museum, the continued development 

of the Slave Lodge as a museum that focuses on both 

slavery and human rights, the proposed development of 

a Centre for Contemporary Art in Cape Town, and the 

proposed development of the Maritime Museum.

Other projects that will continue in 2012/2013 include 

the implementation of the accounting standard GRAP 

103 on Heritage Assets in compliance with Treasury 

Regulations, the digitisation of the heritage assets, and 

the completion of the network infrastructure and server 

consolidation project that will enhance the efficiency and 

speed of Iziko’s network, as well as addressing business 

continuity in terms of our Disaster Management Plan.

8. Approval
The annual financial statements set out on pages 45 to 

84 have been approved by the Council.

__________________

Adv. B Madumise, Chairman of Council

_________________

Ms R Omar, Chief executive Officer
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corPorAtE GovErnAncE

Governance of the institution was streamlined through 

the operation of a system of committees of Council 

corresponding to three main functional areas: Core 

Functions, Institutional Advancement and Operations. 

In addition, an independent Audit Committee continued 

to offer professional advice on financial matters.

During the year under review, the internal audit unit, 

under the direction of an Internal Auditor, continued 

with the mandate of carrying out an effective internal 

audit of Iziko’s internal controls, as informed by the 

relevant policies, systems and operating procedures.

The Council recognises that good governance and 

compliance practices are crucial for the sustained 

development of Iziko, and is committed to instilling 

good governance and compliance processes in all its 

operations going forward.

Risk Management 
The Risk Management Committee comprises the 

Senior Management Team with the executive Director: 

Operations as the Chief Risk Officer.

Risk Management is included in the performance 

objectives of the members of the Risk Management 

Committee. The Risk Register has been revised, and 

measures to mitigate the revised risks have been included 

in the performance objectives of Senior Managers.

In previous reporting periods, a Disaster Management 

Policy and Plan were developed, and in this reporting 

period, the Plan was implemented by installing 

evacuation chairs at emergency staircases of the larger 

museums, and linking all 12 sites to the central control 

room via two-way radios.

In the reporting period, 34 disaster management 

procedures were developed, implemented and tested.  

Materiality and Significance Framework for 
2011/2012 Financial Year
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulation 

28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a 

framework of acceptable levels of materiality and 

significance.
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stAtEmEnt of fInAncIAl PosItIon  
At 31 mArch 2012

Restated

Notes 2012 2011

R R

ASSETS  
Non-current Assets 10,959,146 11,749,843

Property, plant and equipment 2 10,621,489 11,411,194

Intangible assets 3 337,657 338,649

  

Current Assets 44,365,208 33,955,787

Inventories 4 149,409 194,664

Trade and other receivables 5 770,835 1,678,431

Cash and cash equivalents 6 43,444,964 32,082,692

  

TOTAL ASSETS 55,324,354 45,705,630

LIABILITIES   

Non-current Liabilities 39,256,500 36,682,148

Deferred income 9 - 380,423

Provisions: Post-employment pension benefit 8.1 - 8,139

Provisions: Post-employment medical benefit 8.2 39,256,500 36,293,586

  

Current Liabilities 14,587,384 6,581,696

Trade and other payables 7 6,958,927 5,739,996

Deferred income 9 499,979 841,700

Deferred Government Grant 9.1 7,128,478 -

  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 53,843,884 43,263,844

  

NET ASSETS  1,480,470  2,441,786 

Accumulated (deficit)/surplus  (8,405,891)  (2,237,260)

Accumulated reserve - projects  9,886,361  4,676,850 

Trust funds  -  2,196 

  

TOTAL NET ASSETS 55,324,354 45,705,630
 



stAtEmEnt of fInAncIAl PErformAncE  
for thE yEAr EndEd 31 mArch 2012

Restated

Notes 2012 2011

R R

  

Revenue 71,102,655 68,023,103

Government Grant: Department of Arts & Culture 53,920,000 50,779,000

Government Grant: Capital Works Projects 865,522 -

Sponsorship 7,039,053 9,278,379

Cash donations 61,901 87,738

Interest received 2,120,302 2,398,501

Admission fees 4,826,852 3,427,791

Rental income 1,075,880 857,078

Other income 1,193,145 1,194,616

  

Expenses   72,061,775 74,562,522

Personnel 51,697,454 48,744,606

Administrative 3,090,350 3,181,606

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 1,954,918 1,740,648

Other operating expenses 15,319,053 20,895,662

  

NET (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 10  (959,120)  (6,539,419)
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stAtEmEnt of chAnGEs In nEt AssEts  
for thE yEAr EndEd 31 mArch 2012

Notes

Accumulated 

Reserve: 

Projects

Accumulated 

deficit
Trust fund

Total Net 

Assets and 

Reserves

R R R R

    

Balance at 1 April 2010 restated  6,132,103  2,743,797  2,196  8,878,096 

Prior year adjustment 18   103,109          -  103,109 

Deficit for the year  (1,455,253)  (5,084,166)          -  (6,539,419)

Balance at 31 March 2011 restated  4,676,850  (2,237,260)  2,196  2,441,786 

    

Balance at 1 April 2011  4,676,850  (2,237,260)  2,196  2,441,786 

Less: Transfer to project income    (2,196)  (2,196)

Prior year adjustment 18  (34,509)  34,509          -          - 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  5,244,020  (6,203,140)           -  (959,120)

Balance at 31 March 2012  9,886,361  (8,405,891)  -    1,480,470 



cAsh flow stAtEmEnt 
for thE yEAr EndEd 31 mArch 2012

Restated

Notes 2012 2011

R R

Cash flows from operating activities

      

Cash generated/(utilised) in operations 11   10,524,339    (441,997)  

Cash receipts from customers and donors  69,178,854   69,064,329  

Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (58,654,515)    (69,506,326)  

    

Interest received  2,120,302   2,398,501  

      

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  12,644,641  1,956,504 

Cash flows from investing activities

  

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (1,210,405)  (7,616,099)

Purchase of intangible assets  (86,964)  (50,292)

Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets  15,000  - 

  

Net cash flows from investing activities  (1,282,369)  (7,666,391)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  11,362,272  (5,709,887)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 32,082,692 37,792,579

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 43,444,964 32,082,692
 



PAGE 49

notEs to thE AnnuAl fInAncIAl stAtEmEnts  
for thE yEAr EndInG 31 mArch 2012

1. Accounting Policies
The following are the principle accounting policies of Iziko Museums, which are consistent, in all material respects, 

with those applied in previous years. 

1.1 Basis of Preparation
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 

Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP), including any interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting 

Standards Board. 

The following standards and pronouncements were applied in the preparation of the annual financial statements:

Reference Topic

GRAP Framework Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements

GRAP 1 Presentation of financial statements

GRAP 2 Cash flow statements

GRAP 3 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

GRAP 5 Borrowing costs

GRAP 12 Inventories

GRAP 13 Leases

GRAP 14 events after the reporting date

GRAP 16 Investment property

GRAP 17 Property, plant and equipment

GRAP 19 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

GRAP 102 Intangible assets

IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures

IAS 19 employee benefits

IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation

IAS 39 Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement

IPSAS 20 Related party disclosures

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following Standards of GRAP are effective but not yet 

adopted: 

Reference Topic

GRAP 21 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets (effective 1 April 2012)

GRAP 23 Revenue from non-exchange transactions (effective 1 April 2012)

GRAP 24 Presentation of budget information in financial statements (effective 1 April 2012)

GRAP 26 Impairment of cash-generating assets (effective 1 April 2012)

GRAP 103 Heritage assets (effective 1 April 2012)



At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following Standards of GRAP are approved but not 

yet effective: 

Reference Topic

GRAP 18 Segment reporting

GRAP 20 Related party disclosures

GRAP 25 employee benefits

GRAP 104 Financial instruments

GRAP 105 Transfer of functions between entities under common control

GRAP 106 Transfer of functions between entities not under common control

GRAP 107 Mergers

In order to comply with the requirements of GRAP 3, budget information has been prepared based on the principles 

of GRAP 24, without adopting the standard.

1.2 Significant Judgements and Sources of estimation Uncertainty
In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the amounts presented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and 

the application of judgements are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ 

from these estimates, which may be material to the annual financial statements.

Significant judgements include:

trade receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether 

an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the entity makes judgements as to whether there is 

observation indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

fair value Estimation

The carrying value, less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables, is assumed to approximate their 

fair value.

Post-retirement Benefits

The present value of the post-retirement obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an 

actuarial value using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) include 

the discount rate. Changes in these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of post-retirement obligations.

Allowance for doubtful debts

On debtors, an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is 

impaired. Such impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present 

values of estimated future flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.

1.3 Going Concern Assumption
The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2012. On the basis of the 

review, and in view of the current financial position, the Council has every reason to believe that Iziko will be a going 

concern in the year ahead, and has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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1.4 Property, Plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use 

in production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be 

used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

•  it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bringing 

the asset to its location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 

management. Trade discount rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment, and costs 

incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying 

amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which it is located 

is also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, 

and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for the purposes other than the 

production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in 

the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, and any impairment losses except 

for land and buildings which are carried at revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less 

any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Any increase in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is credited directly to a revaluation surplus. 

The increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same 

asset previously recognised in surplus or deficit.

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or deficit in the 

current year. The decrease is debited directly to a revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance existing in 

the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly 

to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised.



Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives to the 

estimated residual value.

Vehicles, furniture and equipment are depreciated over a period of between one to ten years on a straight-line basis 

over their estimated useful lives to the current value of their expected residual values. 

The fibre optic network is depreciated over a period of 20 years on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life 

to the current value of its expected residual value. 

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period, and where the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a 

change in accounting estimates.

each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of 

the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit, unless it is included in the carrying 

amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of, or when there are no 

further benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or 

deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 

and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount 

of the item.

1.5 Heritage Assets
Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or 

artistic significance, and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations. In line with similar 

organisations, the value of collections (heritage assets) has not been recognised in the statement of financial position.

When heritage assets are required to be recognised as assets in terms of GRAP 103:

• they shall be measured at cost; or,

•  where a heritage asset is acquired at no or nominal consideration, its cost shall be measured at its fair value as at 

the date of acquisition.

Revaluations shall be made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 

from that which would be determined using fair value at the reporting date.

A heritage asset shall not be depreciated, but the entity shall assess at each reporting date whether there is an 

indication that it may be impaired. Heritage assets shall be derecognised when the asset is retired or disposed of, 

or when there are no further economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset. The gain or 

loss arising on the disposal of a heritage asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 

carrying value, and recognised in the statement of financial performance.
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1.6 Intangible Assets
An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:

•  is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged either 

individually or together with a related contract, asset or liability; or

•  arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or 

separated from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

•  it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset 

flow to the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Where an intangible asset is acquired at no nominal cost, the cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged over a period of between one to ten years on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 

life of the asset. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date.

1.7 Financial Instruments
classification

The entity classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables; and

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. The entity classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 

asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument, in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not 

determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments that are not at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the 

initial measurement of the instrument.

subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 

accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.



Impairment of financial Assets

At each end of the reporting period, the entity assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 

surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 

assets have been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, and probability that the debtors will 

enter bankruptcy and default on payments, are all considered indicators of impairment.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in surplus 

or deficit with the operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant 

allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

under the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised 

in surplus or when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the 

debtor, probability that the debtors will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 

payments, are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as 

the difference between the asset’s carrying and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit is 

recognised in surplus or deficit with operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against 

the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 

against operating expenses in surplus or deficit. Trade and other receivable are classified as loans and receivables.

trade and other Payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest rate method.

cash and cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash, and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.8 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers, substantially, all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer, substantially, all the risks and rewards incidental to 

ownership.

finance leases – lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the 

fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 

liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
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Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. 

The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on 

the remaining balance of the liability.

operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 

between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments is recognised as an operating lease 

asset or liability.

1.9 Inventories
Inventories are initially measured at cost, and except where inventories are acquired at no cost or for nominal 

consideration, their costs are their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Inventories consisting of consumable stores and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable 

value on the first-in, first-out basis. Redundant and slow moving inventories are identified and written down through 

the statement of financial performance.

1.10 employee Benefits
short-term Employee Benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as 

paid leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care) are recognised in the period in 

which services are rendered, and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense, as the employees render services that 

increase their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of surplus sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or 

contractual obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

defined contribution Plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to state plan retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as a defined contribution benefit where the 

entity’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

defined Benefit Plans

For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing the benefits is determined using the projected credit method.

Actuarial valuations are conducted every three (3) years for the Museums Pension Fund, and on an annual basis for 

the medical aid benefit fund, by independent actuaries, separately for each plan.

Consideration is given to any event that could impact the funds up to the end of the reporting period where the 

interim valuation is performed at an earlier date.



Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and are otherwise 

amortised on a straight-line basis over the average period until the amended benefits become vested.

To the extent that, at the beginning of the financial period, any cumulative unrecognised actuarial gain or loss 

exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present value of the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of the 

plan assets (the corridor), that portion is recognised as a surplus or deficit over the expected average remaining 

service lives of the participating employees. Actuarial gains or losses within the corridor are not recognised.

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised when the entity is 

demonstrably committed to curtailment or settlement.

When it is virtually certain that another party will reimburse some or all of the expenditure required to settle a 

defined benefit obligation, the right to reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset. The asset is measured 

at fair value. In all other respects, the asset is treated in the same way as plan assets. In surplus or deficit, the 

expense relating to a defined benefit plan is presented as the net of the amount recognised for a reimbursement.

The amount recognised in the statement of financial position represents the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past service costs, and reduces 

by the fair value of the plan assets.

Any asset is limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs, plus the present value of available 

refunds and reduction in future contributions to plan.

Post-employment medical Benefit

The entitlement to post-retirement healthcare benefits is based on the employee remaining a contributing member 

of the medical aid schemes and remaining in the service up to retirement age.

Post-employment healthcare benefits are based on the following subsidy policy:

•  An employee who joined the medical aid scheme before 1 April 2004 contributed one third (1/3) of the total 

healthcare contribution, and Iziko the balance.

•  An employee who joined Iziko from 1 April 2004 would, after retirement, pay 100% of the total healthcare contribution.

The assets are generally held in separate trustee-administered medical aid funds.

Valuation of these obligations is carried out by independent, qualified actuaries. Key assumptions concerning 

the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the statement of financial position date are 

used for the post-employment benefits liability, as per the actuarial valuation disclosed in note 15. The amount 

accrued for post-retirement medical benefits is included within the non-current provisions.

The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using the projected unit credit 

method. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience, adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

charged to the statement of financial performance in full in the current period.
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1.11 Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

•  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to 

settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 

obligation at the reporting date.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 

the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 

the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. That amount recognised for the 

reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 16.

1.12 Revenue from exchange Transactions
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those 

inflows represent an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets or services, or has liability extinguished, and gives 

approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 

parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue that accrued to the entity directly in return for services 

rendered and goods sold, the value of which approximates the consideration received or receivable. The full amount 

of the revenue is recognised and any impairment losses are subsequently recognised.

measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts.

sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

•  the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership and 

effective control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

• the cost incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.



rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 

with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. 

The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;

• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and

• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest and rental Income

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest and rental income is recognised when:

• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

• the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method.

Revenue from rental of facilities and equipment is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance 

of the agreements.

1.13 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable by an entity, 

which represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 

embodied in the asset are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or 

service potential must be returned to the transferor.

Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its objectives 

and can regulate the access of others to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an 

entity receives value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives 

value to another entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for which a transferred asset 

may be used, but do not specify that future economic benefits or service potential is required to be returned to the 

transferor if not deployed as specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws and regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon the 

use of a transferred asset by entities external to the reporting entity.

recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to 

the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.
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As the entity satisfies a present obligation, recognised as a liability, in respect of an inflow of resources from a 

non-exchange transaction, recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised, and 

recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by 

the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 

equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also 

required to recognise a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised, it will be measured as the best 

estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net 

assets, if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently reduced because the taxable event occurs or a 

condition is satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.14 Comparative Figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.15 Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure
Irregular expenditure is expenditure other that unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of, or that is 

not in accordance with, a requirement of any applicable legislation, including the Public Finance Management Act 

No. 1 of 1999, (as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999), or any regulations made in terms of this Act.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care 

been exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of 

financial performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance 

with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement 

of financial performance.

1.16 Budget Information 
entities are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of appropriations or budget authorisations (or 

equivalent), which are given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or similar.

General purpose financial reporting by entities shall provide information on whether resources were obtained and 

used in accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The annual financial statements and the budget are not prepared on the same basis of accounting, therefore, a 

reconciliation between the statement of financial performance and the budget have been included in the annual 

financial statements. Refer to note 20.

1.17 Taxation
Iziko is exempt from taxation in terms of the provision of Section 10(1)(cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 

of 1962), as amended.



2. Property, Plant and equipment
 2012

R R R R R R

 
Furniture Vehicles Equipment  Computers Fibre Optic 

Network 

TOTAL  

Gross carrying amount at 
beginning of year

1,933,561 232,555 7,341,712 6,039,577 4,990,321 20,537,726

Accumulated depreciation at 
beginning of year

(1,172,333) (226,493) (3,741,670) (3,798,898) (187,138) (9,126,532)

Net carrying amount at 
beginning of year

761,228 6,062 3,600,042 2,240,679 4,803,183 11,411,194

Movement during the year

Acquisitions 212,224 - 619,598 273,679 - 1,105,501

Disposals (1,123) - (79,488) (142,748) - (223,359)

Accumulated depreciation 
on disposals

1,123 - 78,610 115,384 - 1 95 ,1 1 7

Accumulated depreciation 
on re-estimation

- 104,904 - - - 104,904

Depreciation expense for 
the year

(209,849) (14,030) (902,579) (595,894) (249,516) (1,971,868)

Net carrying amount at end 
of year

763,603 96,936 3,316,183 1,891,100 4,553,667 10,621,489

Gross carrying amount at 
end of year

2,144,662 232,555 7,881,822 6,170,508 4,990,321 21,419,868

Accumulated depreciation at 
end of year

(1,381,059) (135,619) (4,565,639) (4,279,408) (436,654) (10,798,379)

Property, plant and equipment includes historical assets at nil or R1 values, which are fully depreciated but still in use.

Included in the amount at the end of the year is computer equipment acquired at a cost of R7,155 to be written off. 

At the time of reporting, Council had not yet approved the disposal of this equipment.
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2011

 R R  R  R  R   R  

 
  Furniture  Vehicles  Equipment  Computers  Fibre Optic 

Network 

TOTAL  

Gross carrying amount at 
beginning of year

1,495,616 232,555 5,083,764 5,238,946 870,745 12,921,626

Accumulated depreciation at 
beginning of year

(901,253) (197,424) (3,075,858) (3,306,949) - (7,481,484)

Net carrying amount at 
beginning of year

594,363 35,131 2,007,906 1,931,997 870,745 5,440,142

Movement during the year       

Acquisitions 437,945 - 2,257,948 800,631 4,670,075 8,166,599

Disposals - - - - - -

Accumulated depreciation 
on disposals

- - - - - -

Adjustment – Gross carrying 
value

- - - - (550,499) (550,499)

Adjustment – Accumulated 
depreciation

- - - - 20,643 20,643

Depreciation expense for 
the year

(271,080) (29,069) (665,812) (491,949) (207,781) (1,665,691)

Net carrying amount at end 
of year

761,228 6,062 3,600,042 2,240,679 4,803,183 11,411,194

Gross carrying amount at 
end of year

1,933,561 232,555 7,341,712 6,039,577 4,990,321 20,537,726

Accumulated depreciation at 
end of year

(1,172,333) (226,493) (3,741,670) (3,798,898) (187,138) (9,126,532)

3. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets comprise of computer software purchased.

2012 2011

R R

Carrying amount at beginning of year 338,649 383,958

Cost 799,856  749,564

Accumulated amortisation (461,207)  (365,606)

Current year movement

Additions 86,962 50,292

Amortisation expense for the year (87,954) (95,601)

Carrying amount at end of year 337,657 338,649

Cost 886,818  799,856

Accumulated amortisation (549,161)  (461,207)

No intangible assets were internally generated during the year under review.



4. Inventories
Restated

2012 2011

R R

Consumables 78,788 90,245

Finished goods 70,621 104,419

149,409 194,664

5. Trade and Other Receivables
Restated

2012 2011

R R

Other receivables 661,011 1,366,370

Trade debtors 109,824 312,061

770,835 1,678,431

reconciliation of the provision for impairment  
of trade and other receivables

Balance at beginning of year 38,524 26,433

Provision for impairment raised (reversed) (24,713) 12,091

Balance at end of year 13,811 38,524

6. Cash and Cash equivalents
Credit

ratings 2012

Restated 

2011

R R

ABSA – 90-day Fixed Deposit F1 7,570,160 7,213,077

Investec – Private Money Fund F1 17,013,868 16,004,866

Standard bank – Call Deposit F1 5,640,991 2,660,978

Stanlib – enhanced Yield Fund (Cash Plus Fund) AA- 12,507,196 6,067,008

Standard Bank – Current Account F1 698,099 121,968

Cash on hand 14,650 14,795

43,444,964 32,082,692
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7. Trade and Other Payables
Restated

2012 2011

R R

Deferred lease liability 46,596 -

Rent deposits 91,525 47,546

Leave pay 1,635,270 1,426,034

Annual bonus 1,199,160 903,815

Trade creditors and accruals 3,986,376 3,362,601

6,958,927 5,739,996

8. Provisions
employee Benefits
8.1 Post-employment Pension Benefit

2012 2011

R R

Balance at beginning of year 8,139 7,654

Increase/(decrease) in provision (8,139) 485

Balance at end of year - 8,139

The provision for post-employment pension benefit represents Iziko’s liability towards the unfunded actuarial 

liabilities for the defined pension and provident fund covering all participating employees.

According to the April 2009 valuation reports, no shortfall exists in respect of accrued liabilities, and a funding level 

of 100% certifies that the Museums Pension Fund is currently in a financially sound position. The valuation results 

for the Museums Provident Fund as at 1 April 2009 showed that a shortfall of approximately R8,139 existed in 

respect of accrued liabilities during the prior year. The registration of the Museums Provident Fund was cancelled in 

terms of section 27 (1)(a) of the Pensions Fund Act, 1956 and no liability in respect of the Museums Provident Fund 

accrued to Iziko during the year under review.

8.2 Post-employment Medical Benefit
2012 2011

R R

Balance at beginning of year 36,293,586 32,041,366

Increase in provision 2,962,914 4,252,220

Balance at end of year 39,256,500 36,293,586

The provision was raised for Iziko’s liability towards future post-employment medical benefits covering all 

participating employees and retirees.



9. Deferred Income
Deferred income consists of funds received for specific projects on condition that any unspent funds are returned 

to the transferor. A liability is recognised for advance receipts until the event that makes the transfer arrangement 

binding occurs, and all other conditions under the agreement are fulfilled. When that event occurs and all other 

conditions under the agreement are fulfilled, the liability is discharged and revenue is recognised. The liability is 

measured at the amount required to settle the obligation.

2012

R

Projects per department
Number of 

projects
 Total deferred 

income 
 To be utilised 

within one year

To be utilised  
in Year 2  

and thereafter

   R  R  R 

Natural History Collections 7 48,566 48,566 -

Social History Collections 2 8,489 8,489 -

Art Collections 3 162,494 162,494 -

education & Public Programmes 4 280,430 280,430 -

Total 16 499,979 499,979 -

Restated

2011

    R

Projects per department
Number of 

projects
Total deferred 

income
To be utilised 

within one year

To be utilised  
in Year 2  

and thereafter

  R R R

Natural History Collections 6 109,910 73,273 36,637

Social History Collections 2 383,149 255,433 127,716

education & Public Programmes 5 422,068 308,330 113,738

Institutional Advancement 1 306,996 204,664 102,332

Total 14 1,222,123 841,700 380,423

9.1 Deferred Government Grant    
Funding received during the current year from the Department of Arts & Culture in respect of capital works for the 

Courtyard Project at the Iziko South African Museum:

2012 2011

R R

Carrying amount at beginning of year - -

Amount received during current year 7,994,000 -

Amount utilised during the year (865,522) -

Carrying amount at end of year 7,128,478 -
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10. Net Deficit for the Year
Net deficit has been arrived at after charging:

Restated

2012 2011

 R  R 

Personnel expenses 51,697,454 48,744,606

Salaries and benefits 48,742,679  44,491,901

Provision for post-employment benefits 2,954,775  4,252,705

Audit fees 1,060,412 895,882

Bank and legal costs 212,665 205,947

Consultants 708,261 696,255

Depreciation 1,866,964 1,645,047

Amortisation: intangible assets 87,954 95,601

Loss on disposal of assets 13,242 -

Operating leases 1,443,045 1,212,485

Insurance 303,910 277,555

Provision for doubtful debts 18,512 12,091

Licenses and networking fees 170,077 209,221

Library costs 171,578 334,266

Museum core function activities 4,924,400 12,160,410

Other operating expenses 9,383,301 8,073,156

72,061,775 74,562,522

11. Cash Generated/(Utilised) in Operations
Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net deficit for the year (959,120) (6,539,419)

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Depreciation on property, plant & equipment 1,971,868 1,645,047

Amortisation on intangible assets 87,954 95,601

(Profit)/loss on disposal of assets 13,242 -

1,113,944 (4,798,771)

Interest received (2,120,302) (2,398,501)

Operating deficit before working capital changes (1,006,358) (7,197,272)

Working capital changes 11,530,697 6,652,166

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 907,597  4,246,404

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 45,255  (33,171)

Increase/(decrease) in deferred income (724,340)  (806,677)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 11,302,185  3,245,610

Prior period adjustment - 103,109

Cash generated/(utilised) in operations 10,524,339 (441,997)



12. Financial Instruments
Financial Risk Management
Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position consist of trade and other payables, provisions, 

deferred income, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. The main risks arising from the 

financial instruments are credit and interest risks.

12.1 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is managed by keeping sufficient cash available for funding through an adequate amount of 

committed credit facilities and the ability to move funds from short-term financial instruments. Iziko manages 

liquidity risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements, and optimises its cash return on investments. The Council is 

of the opinion that the net carrying value of the financial instruments approximate their fair value, and that Iziko 

has sufficient cash available to settle its financial liabilities.

financial liabilities

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Trade and other payables 6,958,927  5,739,996

Provisions 39,256,500  36,301,725

Deferred income 499,979  1,222,123

46,715,406  43,263,844

maturity Analysis

The tables below analyse Iziko’s financial liabilities based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the 

contractual maturity date.

2012

Less than 

12 months

Over 12 

months

Trade payables 659,875

Accruals 1,271,414

Other payables 5,027,638

Deferred income 499,979

Post-retirement medical liability - 39,256,500

7,458,906 39,256,500

2011

Less than 

12 months

Over 12 

months

Trade payables 598,924

Accruals 1,184,767

Other payables 3,956,305

Deferred income 841,700 380,423

Post-employment pension benefit - 8,139

Post-retirement medical liability - 36,293,586

6,581,696 36,682,148
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The deferred government grant revenue is not a financial liability as it is similar to revenue received in advance, 

and has been excluded from the maturity analysis. It will only become a financial liability if it becomes repayable.

12.2 Interest Rate Risk
The Council is not locked into long-term interest rates because cash and cash equivalents consist of short-term 

investments held at registered banks with high credit ratings. Interest rate exposure is therefore low on Iziko’s bank 

accounts. These deposits attract interest at rates linked directly to the prime overdraft rate.

sensitivity Analysis: cash and cash Equivalents

The following tables illustrate the impact of a 1% increase and decrease in the interest rate on the statement of 

financial performance:

Financial Assets

2012 2011

External investments R R

ABSA – 90-day Fixed Deposit 7,570,160 7,213,077

Investec – Private Money Fund 17,013,868 16,004,866

Standard Bank – Call Deposit 5,640,991 2,660,978

Stanlib – enhanced Yield Fund (Cash Plus Fund) 12,507,196 6,067,008

Standard Bank – Current Account 698,099 121,968

Cash on hand 14,650 14,795

43,444,964 32,082,692

Interest received

Interest earned – external investments 2,120,302 2,398,501 

Interest rate 5% 7%

Included in the total interest earned on external investments amount of R2,120,302 in the current year, is an amount 

of R15,522 for capital gains on the enhanced Yield Fund with Stanlib.

Effect of a change in interest rate on interest earned from external investments:

effect of change in interest rate 1% decrease 4% 6%

effect of change in interest rate Rand value 1,737,799 1,924,961

effect of change in interest rate 1% increase 6% 8%

effect of change in interest rate Rand value 2,606,698 2,566,615



12.3 Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk
financial Assets

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Cash and cash equivalents 43,444,964 32,082,692

Trade and other receivables 770,835 1,678,431

44,215,799 33,761,123

financial liabilities

Restated

Trade and Other Payables 2012 2011

R R

Deferred lease liability 46,596 -

Rent deposits 91,525 47,546

Leave pay 1,635,270 1,426,034

Annual bonus   1,199,160 903,815

Trade creditors and accruals 3,986,376 3,362,601

Deferred income 499,979 1,222,123

Post-employment pension benefit - 8,139

Post-retirement medical liability 39,256,500 36,293,586

46,715,406 43,263,844

12.4 Credit Risk 
cash and cash Equivalents

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Council to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and 

cash equivalents, as well as trade and other receivables. Iziko’s exposure to credit risk is insignificant. Credit risk is 

mitigated by the fact that Iziko only deposits and invests funds with registered banking institutions.

Accounts and other receivables

The maximum exposure to credit risks at the reporting date is the fair value of trade and other receivables as 

disclosed in note 5. The amount presented in the statement of financial position is net of provision for doubtful 

debts, which is estimated based on prior experience and current economic conditions.

Debtors arise from rental of facilities and professional services rendered. Management is of the opinion that these 

debts are fully recoverable.

12.5 Currency and Other Price Risk
Iziko is not exposed to currency and other price risks.

fair value of financial Instruments

At year-end, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other payables, deferred 

income, and provisions approximated their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.
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financial Assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Trade and other receivables 770,835 1,678,431

Cash and cash equivalents 43,444,964 32,082,692

44,215,799 33,761,123

trade receivables Past due But not Impaired

Trade receivables which are less than 3 months past due are 

not considered to be impaired. At 31 March 2012, 

R60,804 (2011: R33,520) was past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

Current 710,031 1,644,911

1 month past due 53,399 21,342

2 months past due 7,405 1,095

3 months past due - 11,083

770,835 1,678,431

At year-end the carrying amounts of the financial assets approximate their fair values due to the short-term 

maturities of these assets.

financial liabilities by category

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Trade payables 659,875 598,924

Accruals 1,271,414 1,184,767

Other payables 5,027,638 3,956,305

Deferred income 499,979 1,222,123

Post-employment pension benefit - 8,139

Post-retirement medial liability 39,256,500 36,293,586

46,715,406 43,263,844

13. Operating Leases
Iziko museums as lessor

Operating leases relate to restaurants and retail spaces in buildings occupied by Iziko Museums with lease terms 

of between 2 to 5 years, with an option to renew. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in 

the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The property rental income earned under operating leases 

amounted to R691,998 (2011: R564,875).



Amounts receivable under operating leases

At the reporting date, the following minimum lease payments were receivable under non-cancellable operating 

leases for property, plant and equipment, which are receivable as follows:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Up to 1 year 573,841 626,856

2 to 5 years 1,614,136 2,187,976

2,187,977 2,814,832

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed by Iziko Museums in terms of the lease agreements:

(i) The lessee shall not have the right to sublet, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the premises let.

(ii)  The lessor or its duly authorised agent or representative shall have the right at all reasonable times to 

inspect the premises let.

(iii) The lessee shall use the premises let for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.

No contingent rental income was recognised as revenue in the reporting period.

Iziko museums as lessee

The operating leases relate to rentals charged for vehicles, berthing fees, photocopiers, and the VoIP telephone 

system, with lease terms of between 2 to 5 years, with an option to extend. All operating lease contracts contain 

market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. Payments under operating leases 

amounted to R1,443,045 (2011: R1,212,485).

Amounts Payable under operating leases

At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments are as follows:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Up to 1 year 1,415,568 1,396,451

2 to 5 years 2,440,929 3,856,497

3,856,497 5,252,948

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed in terms of the lease agreements:

(i)  The lessee shall not have the right to sublet, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the property, 

vehicles or equipment let.

(ii)  The lessor or its duly authorised agent or representative shall have the right at all reasonable times to 

inspect the property, vehicles or equipment let.

(iii) The lessee shall use the property, vehicles or equipment for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.

No contingent rent expenses were recognised in the reporting period.
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14. emoluments of Council and Committee Members and Senior Management
members of council

2012 2011

R R

MB Madumise (Chairman) 8,001 4,356

S Fikeni 7,914 5,570

A Wakaba 3,787 3,275

C Rassool 8,262 6,125

O Badsha 10,098 1,750

M Martin 9,180 5,025

M Sithole 4,590 2,400

51,832 28,501

members of Audit committee

2012 2011

R R

A Wakaba (Chairman) 12,220 3,909

L Robinson 5,565 1,000

M Hassim 9,507 2,766

D Mitchell (Chairman) - 1,875

R Du Pré - 1,000

27,292 10,550

senior management

2012

R

Job Function
Total Cost 

to Company

Ms RH Omar Chief executive Officer 1,008,726

Mr BC Ndhlovu executive Director Core Functions (from 1 April 2011) 971,855

Mrs D Crous executive Director Operations 919,669

Mrs F Allie Chief Financial Officer 592,754

Dr WD Alexander Director education & Public Programmes 617,428

Ms SL Glanville-Zini Director Institutional Advancement 607,445

Mr JP Matthews Director Human Resources (from 1 October 2011) 289,884

Ms JL Meltzer Director Social History Collections 609,629

Mr R Naidoo Director Art Collections 639,040

Dr HG Robertson Director Natural History Collections 785,577

Mrs MG Van der Merwe Director Customer Services Management 566,335

Total  7,608,342



2011

R

Job function
Total Cost 

to Company

Prof. HC Bredekamp Chief executive Officer (retired 31 October 2010) 1,020,003

Ms RH Omar Chief executive Officer Designate (1 May to 31 October 2010); 

Chief executive Officer (from 1 November 2010)

845,371

Vacant executive Director Core Functions -

Mrs D Crous executive Director Operations 889,051

Mrs F Allie Chief Financial Officer 544,467

Dr WD Alexander Director education & Public Programmes 588,722

Ms SL Glanville-Zini Director Institutional Advancement 569,588

Ms JL Meltzer Director Social History Collections 589,891

Mr R Naidoo Director Art Collections 599,127

Dr HG Robertson Director Natural History Collections 738,795

Mrs MG Van der Merwe Director Customer Services Management 523,763

Total  6,908,778

Remuneration is shown at cost to company package, based on basic salary, bonuses, allowances and employee 

benefit contributions by Iziko up to the statement of financial position date. employee benefit contributions consist 

of pension, medical aid and other regulatory contributions. Remuneration costs are charged to the statement of 

financial performance in the year to which it relates.

15. employee Benefits
Pension fund

Iziko operates pension funds that provide benefits on both defined benefit and defined contribution plans for 

all indefinite employees. The Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund (an umbrella fund now incorporating the Iziko 

Retirement Fund) and Museums Pension Fund are administered on behalf of Iziko by pension fund administrators, 

and are governed by the Pension Funds Act No. 24 of 1956, as amended, while the Associated Institutions Pension 

Fund Act, 1963 (Act No. 41 of 1963) governs the Associated Institutions Pension Fund. An independent Board of 

Trustees manages each fund.

The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer plan. The actuarial valuation is done for the plan in its entirety and 

does not specify, as a separate entity, Iziko’s obligation, plan assets or liability in terms of the fund.

The Museums Pension Fund requires an actuarial valuation every three years. The defined benefit plan fund was 

actuarially valued, using the projected unit credit method at 1 April 2009 and it revealed that the assets of the fund 

represented a funding position of 100% for the Museums Pension Fund, and 94,7% for the Museums Provident Fund. 

The Museums Provident Fund has since been deregistered and its assets and liabilities transferred to the Museums 

Pension Fund. Any deficit advised by the actuaries is funded through increased contributions to ensure the ongoing 

soundness of the pension fund. At the time of the valuation, the actuary reported that he was satisfied that the 

results of the Museums Pension Fund fairly represent the current financial position of the fund. In view thereof, the 

result shows a funding level of 100%, and he certified that the fund is currently in a financially sound position. 
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The financial position of the fund as at 1 April 2009 compared to the financial position as at the previous valuation 

dates is listed in the table below. The next valuation will be conducted at 1 April 2012.

Museums Pension Fund

1 Apr 09 1 Apr 06 1 Apr 05 1 Apr 04

R R R R

Liabilities in respect of:

Defined contribution members 13,805,000 3,057,000 1,737,000 815,000

Defined benefit members

Retirement benefits 120,512,000 94,782,000 86,297,000 69,860,000

Withdrawal benefits 4,716,000 5,334,000 5,500,000 5,199,000

Death benefits 8,911,000 7,565,000 7,162,000 5,730,000

Current pensioners 65,946,000 38,229,000 28,125,000 23,755,000

Risk Reserve Account - - 130,000 -

employer Surplus Account 21,669,000 14,280,000 - -

Surplus Apportionment Cost Reserve - 39,000 36,000 30,000

Total liability 235,559,000 163,286,000 128,987,000 105,389,000

Less value placed on assets 235,559,000 163,286,000 122,340,000 96,727,000

Shortfall in respect of accrued liabilities - - (6,647,000) (8,662,000)

Funding level 100,00% 100,00% 94,80% 91,80%

The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended to include a defined contribution category and states that 

no new members are allowed to join the defined benefit category with effect from 1 April 2003. All new employees 

appointed with effect from 1 April 2003 are required to join the defined contribution category, while the existing 

participating employees have remained members of the defined benefit category of the Museums Pension Fund at 

the existing contribution rate.

Assumptions
mortality

The published SA 56–62 (ultimate) mortality rates have been used in respect of the period before retirement. 

In the case of female lives, their ages has been reduced by 3 years to allow for their higher life expectancy. In 

respect of the period after retirement, the published PA90 tables, rated down 1 year for males and females, 

respectively, have been used. Provision for future improvement in mortality is also provided for at a rate of 1% 

per annum from 1 April 2004.

valuation rate of Interest and General Inflation

A valuation rate of interest of 8,5% per annum (8,3% per annum at the previous actuarial valuation of the 

Fund) has been used in respect of the period before retirement, and 6,5% per annum in respect of the period 

after retirement of each member. The expected long-term general rate of inflation was assumed to be 4,5% 

per annum.



contribution rates

The following rates of contribution are applied:

Alexander forbes retirement fund

Defined contribution category: employee contribution is 7,5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) 

and the employer contributes 20,62%. In respect of all new employees appointed with effect from 1 July 2007 

who join the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund: the employer contributes 15%, while the contribution for existing 

participating employees remains the same.

museums Pension fund

Defined benefit category: employee contribution is 7,5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) and 

the employer contributes 20%. The employer contribution rates can fluctuate as a result of changes to the insured 

benefit rate.

Defined contribution category: employee contribution is 7,5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus) 

and the employer contributes 15%.

Associated Institutions Pension fund

Defined benefit category: employee contribution is 7,5% of pensionable salary (basic salary only) and the employer 

contributes 12%.

medical Aid

Iziko operates a post-employment medical benefit scheme that covers all employees that were appointed prior to 

1 October 2004.

The medical schemes are funded by payments from retirees and Iziko. Iziko’s contribution to the medical schemes is 

charged to the income statement in the year to which it relates.

The latest full valuation of Iziko’s liability in respect of post-employment medical benefits for the financial year-

end was performed on 31 March 2012 and it will be valued at yearly intervals thereafter. The actuary forecast the 

expense for the year following the valuation date and the forecast position at the year-end following the valuation 

date, ignoring any gains or losses arising over the period. The liability was projected based on forty-nine (49) 

retirees and sixty-one (61) employees participating as at 31 March 2012. The liability and future increases are 

charged to income.
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Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

R R R R R

Present value of funded obligations  - - - -

Fair value of plan assets  - - - -

 - - - -

Present value of unfunded obligations 39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345

Present value of obligations in excess of 
plan assets

39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345

     

Unrecognised transitional liability - - - - -

Unrecognised actuarial gains/(losses) - - - - -

Unrecognised past service cost - - - - -

Net liability in statement of financial 
position

39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345

     

Opening balance 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,318 24,822,345 22,755,813

Current service cost 737,967 702,091 594,386 598,773 583,675

Interest cost 3,238,565 2,939,423 2,297,416 2,345,725 1,816,087

     

expected return on plan assets - - - - -

Liability recognised - - - - -

Actuarial (gain)/loss 343,412 1,840,447 2,917,422 323,249 359,905

     

Past service cost - - - - -

expected employer benefit payments (1,357,030) (1,229,741) (998,176) (859,776) (693,134)

39,256,500 36,293,586 32,041,366 27,230,316 24,822,346

During the year under review, an additional provision of R2,962,914 was raised in the financial statements to 

increase Iziko’s future liability towards the post retirement employee medical benefit scheme to R39,256,500.

key Assumptions used

The methodologies and assumptions used in this valuation have remained unchanged from those used in the 

previous valuation prepared by the Health Monitor Company.

A discount rate of 1,5% (2010: 1,5%) has been used to place a present value on future subsidy payments. The rate 

used is consistent with the R186 bond at the time of performing the valuation. This is consistent with IAS 19, which 

states that the discount rate used should reflect the yields on long-term government bonds.



The mortality assumptions used in the calculation of the liabilities are:

Pre-retirement
Male SA 85–90 (light)

Female SA 85–90 (light) rated down by 3 years

Post-retirement
Male PA90 (m)

Female PA90 (f)

All employees are assumed to continue their medical scheme membership after retirement.

other Assumptions

The valuation was based on the current subsidy levels specified in the data provided. It is also assumed that no 

significant changes would occur in the structure of the medical arrangements. The current subsidy scales for 

members as bases for the calculations was used and it is assumed that the scales will remain unchanged (apart for 

adjustments for inflation). If this is not the case, the results of this valuation will be affected.

sensitivity Analysis

The results above are particularly sensitive to changes in the assumption regarding future increases in medical 

scheme contributions. This is illustrated in the tables below. The following tables illustrate the impact of a 1% increase 

and decrease in the assumed future rate of medical inflation:

sensitivity Analysis – f2012 Accounting Entries:

 Base Inflation + 1% % change Inflation -1% % change

Liability as at 1 April 2011 36,293,586 36,293,586 0,00% 36,293,586 0,00%

Settlements (1,357,030) (1,357,030) 0,00% (1,357,030) 0,00%

Current service costs 737,967 737,967 0,00% 737,967 0,00%

Interest cost 3,238,565 3,238,565 0,00% 3,238,565 0,00%

Actuarial (gain)/loss 343,412 6,282,213 1,729,40% (4,447,261) (1,395,00%)

      

Liability as at 31 March 2012 39,256,500 45,195,301 15,1% 34,465,827 (12,20%)

sensitivity Analysis – f2013 Accounting Entries (projected):

 Base Inflation + 1% % change Inflation– 1% % change

Liability as at 1 April 2012 39,256,500 45,195,300 15,1% 34,465,827 (12,2%)

Settlements (1,513,059) (1,517,008) 0,3% (1,509,188) (0,3%)

Current service costs 832,574 1,015,943 22,0% 690,352 (17,1%)

Interest cost 3,210,591 3,707,943 15,5% 2,809,654 (12,5%)

Actuarial (gain)/loss - - 0,00% - 0%

      

Liability as at 31 March 2013 41,786,606 48,402,178 15,8% 36,456,645 (12,80%)

16. Contingent Liabilities
In July 2009, the Workmen’s Compensation Assurance (WCA) issued an assessment against the SA National Gallery 

amounting to R35,888. This amount is in respect of levies relating to the period December 2000 to February 2002 

for the SA National Gallery prior to the amalgamation of Iziko. The outcome of this assessment is still uncertain and 

there is no obligation to pay WCA.
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17. Related Parties
department of Arts & culture

The controlling entity of Iziko is the Department of Arts & Culture which provided a subsidy grant for Iziko’s 

operations. The entity also entered into transactions related to expense recoveries during the year under review. 

During the prior year, the Department of Arts & Culture also provided funding for special projects. The amounts 

involved in the transactions are as follows:

2012 2011

R R

Grant received – Subsidy 53,920,000 50,779,000

expenses recovered - 17,575

Income received – Professional services rendered 70,000 -

Government grant deferred – Capital works projects 7,994,000 -

The subsidy grant will continue during the next three financial years.

The deferred government grant will be fully utilised during the 2012/2013 financial year as part of the capital works 

Courtyard Project for the packing of collections, relocations of Natural History collections and employees to a new 

building and associated infrastructure costs. 

castle of Good hope

The Iziko William Fehr Collections are housed at the Castle of Good Hope and there is an agreement that Iziko will 

receive one third (1/3) of the admission fees.

2012 2011

R R

Admission fees 871,051 742,585

Income from venue hire 5,107 -

robben Island museum

During the prior year, the former CeO of Iziko served as the interim CeO of Robben Island Museum for a period of 

six months. Iziko entered into transactions related to his remuneration, as well as certain expense recoveries.

2012 2011

R R

Amount of transaction - 154,000

department of Public works

All buildings occupied by Iziko are owned by the Department of Public Works and have been occupied at no cost 

during the year. The lease of the buildings is open-ended with no lease term. 



18. Prior Period errors
rental Income

In the previous financial year, rental income relating to the prior year, previously disclosed as trade and other 

payables, has been brought into account. The deposit and two months’ rental paid by a tenant who occupied 

premises at the Iziko Museum Shop have been transferred to the rental received account.

Net effect on the statement of financial position 2012 2011

R R

Increase in retained earnings - 19,091

Decrease in trade and other payables - 19,091

In the previous financial year, income previously omitted has been brought into account. 

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Increase in accounts receivables - 3,650

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

2012 2011

R R

Increase in rental income - 3,650

Payables: deferred Income

expenses from sponsorship funds not related to a project were included in project expense accounts. The net effect 

of these adjustments is as follows:

Net effect on the statement of financial position

2012 2011

R R

Increase in payables - 278,720

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Increase in operating deficit - 278,720

Operating expenses were included in project expense accounts and have been reversed. The net effect of these 

adjustments is as follows:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in deferred Income - 40,427

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Increase in operating deficit - 40,427
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operating lease Expenses

expenses from rental of equipment in respect of the prior year were excluded from the operating lease expense 

account. The net effect of these adjustments is as follows:

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in retained earnings - 857

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Increase in operating leases - 857

computer network Expenses

Computer network expenses relating to prior years were overstated in operating expenses and have been adjusted. 

The net effect of these adjustments is as follows:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in payables - 250,441

Increase in retained earnings - 250,441

Income from cash donations

Income relating to donations received was understated in prior years and has been adjusted. The net effect of these 

adjustments is as follows:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in payables - 16,790

Increase in retained earnings - 16,790

other Income

Income relating to catalogues sold was understated in prior years and has been adjusted. The net effect of these 

adjustments is as follows:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in payables - 73,136

Increase in retained earnings - 73,136



Personnel Expenses

An expense related to disability salaries were overstated in personnel expenditure in prior years and has been 

adjusted. The net effect of these adjustments is as follows: 

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in payables - 1,200

Increase in retained earnings - 1,200

Accounts receivable

expenses relating to prior years were disclosed as accounts receivable and have been adjusted. The net effect of 

these adjustments is as follows: 

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in receivables - 330

Decrease in retained earnings - 330

Inventory

An incorrect inventory balance in the prior year was disclosed, resulting in an adjustment. The net effect of this 

adjustment is as follows:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in inventory - 1,175

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Increase in operating deficit - 1,175

Property Plant and Equipment

A capital project for the installation of fibre optic cabling was undertaken by the Department of Public Works (DPW).  

This project commenced in 2009 and was rolled out to 11 sites at Iziko. The installation was completed in 2011, but 

the asset was not handed over to Iziko as testing of the fibre ring still had to be conducted. However, Iziko had the 

use of the asset during this period. 

In the prior year, the estimated cost of the fibre optic cabling was based on the latest and most reliable information 

available to Iziko at the time when the estimate was made. During the current year, the estimated cost of the fibre 

optic cabling was adjusted when the actual cost of the acquisition and installation was made known to Iziko by DPW. 
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The net effect of these adjustments is as follows:

Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Increase in accounts receivable - 550,499

Decrease in property plant and equipment - 550,499

Decrease in accumulated depreciation - 20,643

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Increase in operating deficit - 20,643

Accumulated reserve – Projects

In the prior year, expenses related to the projects were overstated and have been adjusted. The net effect of this 

adjustment is as follows:

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Increase in accumulated reserve - Projects 41,000 -

Decrease in retained earnings 41,000 -

Accumulated reserve – Projects

In the prior year, expenses related to a project were understated and have been adjusted. The net effect of this 

adjustment is as follows:

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Decrease in accumulated reserve - Projects 6,491 -

Increase in retained earnings 6,491 -

Income from operating leases

In the prior year, income relating to certain operating leases was not straight lined and has been adjusted. The net 

effect of this adjustment is as follows:

 Restated

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Increase in accounts receivable 1,666 20,643

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Decrease in operating deficit 1,666 20,643

Interest Income

In the prior year, interest not received for March 2011 was not accrued, resulting in the interest received being 

understated. 



The net effect of this adjustment is as follows:

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on the statement of financial position

Increase in accounts receivable 33,699 -

Net effect on the statement of financial performance

Decrease in operating deficit 33,699 -

19. Change in Accounting estimates 
At the end of the financial year under review, Iziko re-estimated the remaining useful lives of motor vehicles to a further 

two years. This resulted in a depreciation surplus amounting to R96,935 written back to accumulated depreciation.

2012 2011

R R

Net effect on statement of financial performance

Decrease in operating expenses

Depreciation 96,935 -

Net effect on statement of financial position

Increase in assets

Property, plant and equipment 96,935 -

Increase in equity 

Accumulated funds 96,935 -

20. Reconciliation of Budget and Statement of Financial Performance

 2012

 R

Net deficit per the statement of financial performance (959,120)

Adjusted for:  

Fair value adjustments  - 

Impairments recognised/reversed  - 

Surplus/deficit on the sale of assets  - 

Increases/decreases in provisions  

Increase in government grant  - 

Decrease in own income generated 2,293,425

Decrease in reserves employed 1,321,983

Decrease in expenditure (2,656,288)

Net surplus/deficit per approved budget -

Iziko Museums has not elected to disclose additional information based on the disclosure requirements 

contained in GRAP 24.
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21. Irregular expenditure
Restated

2012 2011

R R

Opening balance 3,329,958 1,310,908

Add: Irregular expenditure awaiting condonation – Current year 498,653 2,019,050

Other irregular expenditure – Current year 22,469 -

3,851,080 3,329,958

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification 

Current year 498,653 2,019,050

Prior year 3,329,958 1,310,908

3,828,611 3,329,958

expenditure incurred without applying the preference point system to 

all procurement of goods and services above R30,000 as required by 

section 2(a) of the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 

2000 (Act No. 5 of 2000) 498,653 2,019,050

498,653 2,019,050

Representations have been made to National Treasury for condonation of expenditure incurred without applying 

the preference point system to all procurement of goods and services above R30,000 as required by section 2(a) 

of the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 2000 (Act No. 5 of 2000) amounting to R3,329,958 in prior 

years, and R498,653 during the first four months of the current financial year.

22. Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure
2012 2011

R R

5,986 -

During the year under review, expenditure amounting to R5,986 could have been avoided had sufficient care been 

taken, and is therefore regarded as fruitless and wasteful expenditure as defined by the Public Finance Management 

Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).

23. event After the Reporting Date 
During May 2012, a burglary took place at the Manor House at Groot Constantia Museum. Certain heritage assets 

(Chinese porcelain) were stolen. Some of these assets have been recovered and the matter is under police investigation. 

These items were insured, and a claim for the stolen and damaged items was approved by Iziko’s insurers. The event has 

no material financial effect on the financial statements.



24. Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA)
section 55 (2)

No material losses through criminal conduct were incurred during the year. Irregular, fruitless or wasteful 

expenditure has been disclosed in notes 21 and 22.

section 53 (3)

The Council may not accumulate surpluses unless prior written approval of the National Treasury has been 

obtained. Application was made to the National Treasury, via the Department of Arts & Culture, to be exempted 

from investing Iziko’s surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits as prescribed in Treasury Regulation 

31. In terms of guidelines from the Treasury, the surplus arrears are to be related to accumulated surplus as per 

the statement of financial position at the time of application. Iziko had an accumulated deficit, and approval was 

therefore not required.

section 54 (2)

In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulations 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a 

framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance.
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3. HUMAN 
ReSOURCe 
MANAGeMeNT
Customer Services Management teambuilding event on the lawns of the Iziko South African Museum, 26 March 2011.
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3.1 expenditure
On 31 March 2012, there were 241 staff members in the employ of Iziko, comprising 184 staff members appointed 

indefinitely, 14 on long-term contracts with benefits, and 43 appointed on fixed-term contracts without benefits. 

Of the 43 staff members appointed on short fixed-term contracts, the salaries of seven were funded externally 

and *five by the Department of Arts & Culture (DAC) to assist with preparations for moving museum collections 

for the impending building project at the Iziko South African Museum.

*DAC funded 14 staff members at the beginning of the financial year, but the five staff members referred to were funded as at 31 March 2012.

TABLE 1.  PERSONNEL COSTS FOR 2011/2012

totAl 
ExPEndIturE

PErsonnEl 
ExPEndIturE

trAInInG 
ExPEndIturE

consultAncy 
sErvIcEs

PErsonnEl 
costs As 

% of totAl 
ExPEndIturE

AvErAGE 
PErsonnEl 

cost PEr 
EmPloyEE

R72,061,775 R48,416,116 R371,614 R708,261 67,19% R211,424

Average Personnel cost Per Employee

The cost per employee increased compared to the previous financial year due to the annual salary increase in 

August 2011. Two senior management posts were filled and other new appointments were made at second and 

third notches. In terms of the performance management reward system, 63 staff members received a once-off 

performance bonus.

training Expenditure

every year, Iziko allocates 1% of the annual salary budget to learning and development. It must be noted that 

the percentage of the salary budget is calculated in terms of the Skills Development Levies Act No. 9 of 1999, 

and not on the total personnel expenditure. Training expenditure is therefore less than 1% of the total personnel 

expenditure.

TABLE 2.  DETAILS OF THE 2011/2012 SALARY EXPENDITURE

sAlArIEs ovErtImE housInG suBsIdy

Amount
Salaries as a 

% of personnel 
cost

Amount
Overtime as a 

% of personnel 
cost

Amount

Housing 
Subsidy as a % 

of personnel 
cost

R32,391,907 66,90% R1,181,339 2,44% R444,952 0,92%

mEdIcAl AId contrIButIons 
(stAff)

mEdIcAl AId contrIButIons 
(PEnsIonErs)

PEnsIon contrIButIons

Amount

Medical Aid 
Contributions 
(Staff) as a % 
of personnel 

cost

Amount

Medical Aid 
Contributions 
(Pensioners) 

as a % of 
personnel cost

Amount

Pension 
Contributions 

as a % of 
personnel cost

R2,608,827 5,39% R1,398,505 2,89% R5,833,846 12,05%
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fIxEd AllowAncEs othEr AllowAncEs lEcturE fEEs

Amount

Fixed 
Allowances as a 
% of personnel 

cost

Amount

Other 
Allowances as a 
% of personnel 

cost

Amount
Lecture Fees 

as a % of 
personnel cost

R901,287 1,86% R110,430 0,23% R22,620 0,05%

AnnuAl BonusEs
oncE-off PErformAncE 

BonusEs
suBsIstEncE & trAvEl

Amount

Annual 
Bonuses as a 

% of personnel 
cost

Amount

Once-off 
Performance 
Bonuses as a 

% of personnel 
cost

Amount

Subsistence & 
Travel as a % 
of personnel 

cost

R2,502,230 5,17% R560,739 1,16% R58,489 0,12%

stAtutory lEvIEs (uIf & wcA)
lEAvE GrAtuItIEs on 

tErmInAtIon
totAl PErsonnEl 

ExPEndIturE

Amount

Statutory 
Levies as a % 
of personnel 

cost

Amount

Leave 
Gratuities as a 
% of personnel 

cost

Amount Percentage

R322,836 0,67% R78,109 0,16% R48,416,116 100%

salaries

Salary expenditure increased from R29,435,626 to R32,391,907, mainly due to salary improvements and the 

appointment of staff members in vacant positions. Council approved a salary increase of 6.2% for staff. This 

increase is equal to the annual increase in the grant received from DAC.

overtime

The overtime expenditure increased from R1,082,042 to R1,181,339 since the last reporting period.

A very small percentage of overtime is paid for overtime worked as a measure to meet unforeseen deadlines. Most 

of the overtime is spent on front of house staff required to work on weekends and public holidays to keep our 

museums open to the public. 

Iziko also generates a substantial income from venue hire. Staff members are required to perform security duties 

during these events, which are sometimes held after working hours. This cost is also reflected in the overtime 

expenditure, and accounts for R53,227 of the total overtime expenses.

housing subsidies

The amount spent on housing subsidies decreased from R493,684 to R444,952. This was as a result of some staff 

members having paid off their bonds and few new staff members applying for this optional benefit, mostly due to 

the poor economic climate.

A previous Iziko Council made a decision that staff members appointed from 1 October 2004 and who qualify to 

participate in the housing subsidy scheme would receive a housing subsidy of R500 per month and not R1,000,  



as those staff members who joined prior to 1 October 2004 do. This change in the housing subsidy was introduced 

as a measure to reduce personnel expenditure. It is therefore expected that the housing subsidy will reduce each 

year as employees leave and new employees are eligible for the reduced housing subsidy.

medical Aid contributions (staff)

Medical aid contributions increased from R2,355,191 to R2,608,827, largely due to the increase in medical aid fees 

and additional staff members availing themselves of this optional benefit. At the beginning of 2012, some staff 

members selected higher options due to the curtailment of certain benefits in their previous option or changes to 

the health status of the staff member or their dependants.

medical Aid contributions (Pensioners)

Medical aid contributions increased from R1,255,637 to R1,398,505, mainly due to the increase in medical aid fees. 

One employee eligible for a post-retirement benefit retired, and three pensioner members passed away during the 

reporting period.

New employees appointed after 1 October 2004 do not qualify for the post-retirement medical aid benefits.

Pension contributions

Pension contributions increased from R5,273,386 to R5,833,846. Pension contributions are based on pensionable 

salary, so when salaries increase, the pension contributions also increase. In addition, there were 32 new 

appointments to indefinite staff or fixed-term contracts with benefits. In the previous reporting period, these 

positions had either been vacant or temporarily filled by personnel on fixed-term contracts without benefits.

fixed Allowances

The amount spent on fixed allowances increased from R757,927 to R901,287, an increase of 18,9%. This was due 

in part to the annual increase in fixed allowances and the inclusion of car and cellphone allowances for two staff 

members appointed to senior management positions that had been vacant during the previous reporting period.

Museum Attendant, Tommy Ross admires  
a piece from the Michaelis Collection,  
housed at the Iziko Old Town House.

Head Attendant Denita Dick and Taxidermist George Esau package gifts for seniors over 
Christmastime. The donation was arranged by Iziko’s Customer Services Management 
department and the Circle of Friends charity organisation.
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other Allowances for Additional work

Once-off allowances were paid to staff members who took on additional duties when senior positions were vacant 

for a few months. This expenditure decreased from R200,960 to R110,430, as fewer positions were vacant, or 

positions were vacant for shorter periods.

lecture fees

Lecture fees decreased from R24,660 to R22,620. This was as a result of a staff member being away for almost two 

months during the reporting period and planetarium lectures being conducted by independent consultants in his absence.

Annual Bonuses

This expenditure rose from R2,420,470 to R2,502,230. The bonus expenditure is linked to salaries, so when salaries 

increase, bonuses increase.  

once-off Performance Bonuses

Staff members received a once-off performance bonus if they scored in the excellent category (in the top 10% of 

their group) and above average category (in the next 20% of their group).

In the reporting period, a once-off performance bonus equal to 75% (for excellent ratings) or 50% (for above-

average ratings) of one month’s salary was awarded. The number of staff members who received a once-off 

performance bonus increased from 49 to 63. The amount allocated for performance bonuses in the reporting 

period was R560,739.

subsistence and travel

This amount decreased from R111,817 to R58,489. The figure for the reporting period excludes subsistence and 

travel expenses paid to staff who travelled on fieldwork, to conferences associated with research or other activities 

if their claims were funded from external sources. These expenses are allocated to those particular accounts and do 

not accrue to personnel costs.

Masters student Pia Viglietti stabilises the skull 
of a 253-million-year-old mammal excavated 
from a rock outcrop near Nieu Bethesda.

Some of Iziko’s Education and Public Programmes department staff.



statutory levies

UIF and WCA levies are directly related to salaries as these levies are calculated as a percentage of salary. This 

accounts for the increase from R310,484 to R322,836 during this reporting period.

leave Gratuities

The value of leave is based on the salary of the staff member. Leave gratuities paid to staff whose services 

terminated decreased from R220,383 to R78,109 in the current period as there were fewer terminations among 

indefinite staff during the reporting period.

3.2 employment and Vacancies
Appointments and vacancies

In March 2011, an advertisement for Museum Attendants was placed, and 14 were appointed during this reporting 

year. Advertisements were also placed for 11 positions in May 2011, and in November 2011, four positions were 

advertised – two indefinite and two short-term contract positions.

Four positions were advertised internally only in order to create promotion opportunities for staff members at 

lower levels and thereby create career pathing opportunities. This resulted in two staff members being redeployed 

in more senior positions.

Thirty-two staff members were appointed indefinitely or on long-term fixed-term contracts with benefits in the 

reporting period.  

terminations

In the current reporting period, a total of 63 staff members left the institution. Of these, 16 were indefinite and long-

term contract staff, and 47 were short-term contract staff. The reasons for their leaving are provided in Table 3.

The face of Iziko. Some of the Iziko Customer Services Management 
staff at the Iziko South African National Gallery.
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TABLE 3.  REASONS WHY STAFF MEMBERS ARE LEAVING THE INSTITUTION

tErmInAtIon tyPE
IndEfInItE 

stAff
contrAct 

stAff
totAl 

tErmInAtIons
% of 
totAl

Death 1 0 1 0,42%

Resignations 8 4 12 4,98%

expiry of contract 1 41 42 17,43%

Dismissal – operational changes 0 0 0 0,00%

Dismissal – misconduct 1 2 3 1,24%

Dismissal – inefficiency 0 0 0 0,00%

Discharges due to ill health 0 0 0 0,00%

Retirement 4 0 4 1,66%

Other (Abscondment) 1 0 1 0,42%

Total 16 47 63

Total number of employees who left as a % 
of the total employment at 31 March 2012

26,15%

3.3 Job evaluation
No grading of positions was performed during the reporting period.

L to R: Lesa Swart (volunteer), Sven Ouzman (Curator), Wilhelmina Seconna (Assistant Collections 
Manager), Paul Isaacs (volunteer and 2nd year Archaeology student at UNISA) and Machteld 
Jurriaans (volunteer), packing for the Courtyard Project, Iziko South African Museum.

Art Collections Volunteer, Wouter van Warmelo 
talks Tretchikoff to Iziko South African  
National Gallery visitors.



3.4 employment Changes
TABLE 4.  ANNUAL TURNOVER RATE BY SALARY LEVELS FOR THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2011 TO 31 MARCH 2012

OCCUPATIONAL 
LEVELS

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 

ON 
31 MARCH 

2011

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 
ON 1 APRIL 

2011

APPOINTMENTS 
& TRANSFERS 

INTO THE 
INSTITUTION

TERMINATIONS 
& TRANSFERS 
OUT OF THE 
INSTITUTION

TURNOVER 
RATE

TRANSFERS 
INTO LEVEL

TRANSFERS 
FROM LEVEL

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 

ON  
31 MARCH 

2012

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 
ON 1 APRIL 

2012

Senior 
Management 2 2 1 0 0,00% 0 0 3 3

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists 
and mid-
management 7 7 1 0 0,00% 0 0 8 8

Skilled 
technical and 
academically 
qualified 
workers, junior 
management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents 104 103 15 7 6,19% 2 0 113 113

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making 65 65 15 8 11,59% 0 2 70 69

Unskilled 
and defined 
decision-making 4 4 0 0 0,00% 0 0 4 4

Total Indefinite 
Employees 182 181 32 15 7,61% 2 2 198 197

Contract 
employees 59 53 22 38 135,71% 0 0 43 28

Total 241 234 54 53 23,56% 2 2 235 225

Notes: (2011/2012) One indefinite staff member and nine contract staff members’ services were terminated on 31 March 2012.
2011/2012: Two promotions involved transfers to a higher level.

3.5 Promotions
There were five promotions of indefinite staff members in the reporting period:

TABLE 5. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS PROMOTED FROM 1 APRIL 2011 TO 31 MARCH 2012

PromotIons (IndEfInItE stAff) 1 APrIl 2011 to 31 mArch 2012

no. GrouP GEndEr formEr PosItIon nEw PosItIon

1 Coloured Female Specimen Preparator Assistant Collections Manager

2 Coloured Female Conservation Assistant Assistant Conservator

3 Coloured Female Cashbook Administrator Supply Chain Management Coordinator

4 Coloured Male Head Attendant Health, Safety & Security Officer

5 Coloured Female Museum Attendant Switchboard Operator
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3.6 employment equity
TABLE 6. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OF THE FOLLOWING OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS  
ON 31 MARCH 2012

Post lEvEl
mAlE fEmAlE forEIGn 

nAtIonAls

totAlA c I w A c I w m f

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 3

Professionally 
qualified and 
experienced 
specialists and mid-
management 0 2 1 1 0 1 0 3 0 0 8

Skilled technical 
and academically 
qualified workers, 
junior management, 
supervisors, 
foremen and 
superintendents 6 25 0 13 12 30 3 22 1 1 113

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary 
decision-making 12 20 0 2 12 19 0 2 3 0 70

Unskilled and 
defined decision-
making 1 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4

TOTAL INDEFINITE 
STAFF 20 49 1 16 24 51 4 28 4 1 198

CONTRACT STAFF 9 7 0 1 9 14 0 2 0 1 43

TOTAL STAFF 29 56 1 17 33 65 4 30 4 2 241

Iziko employs an employment equity Strategy which determines that if a white applicant is found to be the most 

suitable applicant for a position that is in an occupational level where white males or females are over-represented, 

and there is no black applicant who is close to being suitable, then the most suitable applicant may be appointed, 

but only on a fixed-term contract (with benefits) for a period of no more than three years, on condition that the 

appointee transfers skills to a black employee.

Of the 32 appointments made to indefinite and long-term fixed-term positions, all but two were applicants from 

previously disadvantaged groups. Of the two white females appointed, the one appointed into the level for ‘skilled 

technical and academically qualified staff’ was appointed on a three-year contract in accordance with the strategy 

described above. The other was to the level of ‘semi-skilled staff’, where white females are under-represented.

The table below reflects the progress made towards ensuring representivity in the Iziko Workforce Profile since the 

2003/2004 reporting period.



TABLE 7. COMPARISON OF THE WORKFORCE PROFILES OF 2003/2004 AND 2011/2012

PErIod mAlE fEmAlE totAl

 A c I w A c I w  

2003/2004 17 65 0 33 18 46 0 48 227

 7% 29% 0% 15% 8% 20% 0% 21%

2011/2012 29 56 1 17 33 65 4 30 235

 12% 24% 0% 7% 14% 28% 2% 13%

Increase (+)/ 
Decrease (-) 12 -9 1 -16 15 19 4 -18 8

There have been 168 terminations of service of indefinite staff members since 2003/2004, which resulted in 

opportunities to address the workforce profile. It is clear from the 2003/2004 statistics that Iziko needed to 

increase the number of African males and females and decrease white males and females in its workforce. Iziko 

achieved these goals. We note an improvement of our workforce profile in line with our employment equity goals.

3.7 Foreign Workers
The number of foreign workers has decreased from seven to six in the current period. Three of the six foreign 

workers are African nationals.

3.8 Leave Utilisation for the Period 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Annual leave

The annual leave liability is R1,645,270 and is reflected in the provisions.

sick leave

TABLE 8. SUMMARY OF SICK LEAVE FOR 1 APRIL 2011 TO 31 MARCH 2012

stAtus
numBEr 
of stAff 
mEmBErs

totAl dAys 
tAkEn PEr 

yEAr

AvErAGE 
dAys duE 

PEr PErson 
PEr yEAr

AvErAGE 
dAys tAkEn 
PEr PErson 

PEr yEAr

cost of sIck 
lEAvE tAkEn 

thIs yEAr

Indefinite 213 1,594 10,69 7,48 R1,215,132

Contract 79 243 9,04 3,08 R65,856

Totals 292 1,837 10,25 6,29 R1,280,988

Note: Two staff members on very short-term contracts did not qualify for sick leave.

The number of staff members includes staff members whose services were terminated during the reporting period. 

The average number of sick leave days taken decreased to 6,29, compared to 6,79 in the previous period. This was 

despite 13 staff members being on sick leave for extended periods (two weeks and more) due to temporary disability 

or for major surgery.

special leave

During the reporting period, leave was granted for maternity, family responsibility, compassionate, religious and 

study purposes.
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3.9 HIV/Aids and Health Promotion Programmes
All staff members were invited to be tested for HIV/Aids, including pre- and post-testing counselling. Many staff 

members accepted the invitation. Staff members were also invited to attend an HIV/Aids workshop.

Testing for diabetes, cholesterol levels and hypertension were also offered, and a training session on diabetes was 

provided for staff.

3.10 Labour Relations
TABLE 9.  DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN FROM 1 APRIL 2011 TO 31 MARCH 2012

mAlE fEmAlE
outcomE

A c I w A c I w

0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 Dismissal

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Final Written Warning

0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 Written Warning

Three staff members were dismissed during the reporting period. Of these dismissals, two were for dishonesty and 

the other for unauthorised absence from work. Only one dismissal was referred to the CCMA and progressed to 

arbitration; the award was in favour of Iziko.

Some of the Iziko staff at the Iziko South African Museum, 
Valentine’s Day 2012.

Education and Public Programmes‘ Lucy Williams  
and Lungi Mvimbi, Aids Awareness Day 2011. 



3.11 Skills Development
learning and development

TABLE 10. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OCCUPATIONAL LEVEL WHO RECEIVED TRAINING 
DURING THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2011 TO 31 MARCH 2012

Post lEvEl
mAlE fEmAlE

totAl
A c I w A c I w

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and mid-
management 0 2 1 1 0 1 0 3 8

Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents 5 17 1 10 9 32 0 19 93

Semi-skilled and discretionary 
decision-making 15 20 0 0 9 13 0 2 59

Unskilled and defined decision-making 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

TOTAL INDEFINITE STAFF 21 40 2 11 18 46 1 24 163

Contract staff 11 13 0 0 13 11 0 0 48

TOTAL STAFF 32 53 2 11 31 57 1 24 211

training opportunities

Table 10 reflects the number of staff members who received training in the reporting period. In some instances staff 

members attended more than one training course. These training opportunities are reflected in Table 11.

In line with the strategic focus of the Department of Arts & Culture on social cohesion, emphasis was placed 

on training initiatives such as diversity management and multilingualism. During the reporting period, there was 

continued training in fields such as security, first-aid and fire-fighting, all of which are aimed at risk reduction.

Natural History Collections’ Eddy Mutambayi, Dawn Larsen, Aisha Mayekiso and Gabriel Lukoji 
displaying insects, International Museum Day 2011, Iziko South African Museum.

Curator Thys van der Merwe and Site Manager 
Johan Rossouw aboard the museum ship  
SAS Somerset, V&A Waterfront.
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Selected staff attended a Protocol Workshop to ensure that correct procedures are followed when dealing with 

visiting dignitaries. Staff responsible for dealing with orders for goods and services attended a Supply Chain 

Management Workshop.

Three staff members from designated groups were also supported financially in terms of tertiary education.

TABLE 11.  TOTAL NUMBER OF TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES PROVIDED OVER THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2011 TO  
31 MARCH 2012

mAlE fEmAlE
totAl

A c I w A c I w

52 124 8 17 71 139 9 70 490

3.12 Injury on Duty
In the reporting period, nine incidents of injuries on duty were reported. Most were of a relatively minor nature. 

However, one incident involved a back injury, with the staff member requiring ongoing treatment; another staff 

member suffered a knee injury that required surgery. One staff member, injured in the previous reporting period, 

underwent back surgery during the current reporting period.

3.13 Utilisation of Consultants
An amount of R708,261 was spent on the services of consultants.

Consultants were appointed to manage capital works for Iziko, conservation of artworks, database installations, 

website development and assistance with fundraising.

The HR Department used the services of consultants to install additional modules on the payroll system.

Consultants were contracted to perform a gap analysis on Iziko’s needs and to assist with the implementation of the 

Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) 103.

Iziko Restoration Artist, Angela Zehnder, tends to artworks behind-the-scenes  
in the art restoration room, Iziko South African National Gallery.



4. APPeNDICeS
Iziko Summer School 2011 Climate Change Youth Forum participants engage with the shark display, Iziko South African Museum.
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4.1 Facilities Management
Infrastructure, Facilities and Capital Works Projects
Courtyard Project 

The move of collections, offices and facilities from Block C of the Iziko South African Museum was required to make 

way for the Courtyard Project. When first set, this objective was achievable. However, for reasons unknown to Iziko, 

the Department of Public Works’ (DPW) alternative accommodation tender evaluation period lapsed and was not 

extended. Although the move could not take place, tender documents were prepared for a service provider to move 

the collection and to de-install and install shelving at the new premises. Collections have been packed, and as soon 

as the tenders are awarded, the move can take place.

User Asset Management Plan

The Plan was updated and submitted to the Department of Arts & Culture (DAC) to include wheelchair access at 

Iziko Bertram House. This is the last site under the sole control of Iziko without wheelchair access. The Iziko William 

Fehr Collection housed in the Castle of Good Hope is excluded as it poses many challenges as a heritage building.

Signage and Way-finding 

Upgrade of Iziko South African Museum internal and external signage and way-finding was completed. The tender 

process to roll out this project by DPW to three more sites is now underway.

The CCTV project 

DPW/DAC capital works funding was allocated to extend the CCTV project to Iziko Rust & Vreugd, Iziko Koopmans-

de Wet House Museum, Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum, Iziko Bertram House and Iziko South African National Gallery (HR) 

Annexe. The project is scheduled for completion in the next reporting period.

4.2 Partnerships and Sponsorships
Various existing ongoing partnerships continue to contribute in diverse ways to the successful delivery of our 

strategic objectives. Some of these partners include:

Some of the temporary staff employed to help move the collections from Block C 
of the Iziko South African Museum to make way for the Courtyard Project.

Iziko maintenance staff in the Block C  
courtyard, Iziko South African Museum.
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• Abe Bailey Trust

• Apartheid Museum

• British Council

• Business Art South Africa (BASA)

• Cape Peninsula University Technikon (CPUT) 

• Cape Town Tourism

• Castle Control Board

• Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport Sector education and Training Authority (CATHSSeTA)

• Creative Cape Town

• Department of Public Works (DPW)

• Dutch Consulate

• Freedom Park

• French Consulate

• Friends of the Iziko South African Museum

• Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery

• Friends of the Michaelis Collection

• George Washington University

• German Consulate

• Golden Arrow Bus Company

• Groot Constantia Trust

• International Committee of Museums (ICOM)

• Italian Consulate

• National Heritage Council (NHC)

• National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund (NLDTF)

• National Research Foundation (NRF)

• South African Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA)

• South African Museum Association (SAMA)

• University of Cape Town (UCT)

• University of the Western Cape (UWC)

• Western Cape education Department (WCeD)

Collections Manager Babalwa Ramncwana, unpacking collections at the Iziko Social History Centre.  



In addition, key partnerships forged by Iziko Museums in 2011/2012 supported the strategic delivery of exhibitions, 

education and research programmes:

• Autograph ABP – Ever Young: James Barnor

• Bailey Seippel Gallery – Ranjith Kally: Through the lens of Durban’s veteran photographer

• British Council South Africa – Ever Young: James Barnor

• City of Cape Town: Museum training programme

•  Culture Arts Tourism Hospitality & Sport Sector education & Training Authority: Graduate Development 

Programme and experiential Learning Programme       

• eco Design Initiative: eco Design Showcase

• Grand West Casino Culture and Heritage Trust – Listening to Distant Thunder: The Art of Peter Clarke

• Haunch of Venison – Richard Long: Karoo Highveld

• Hasselblad Foundation – Ernest Cole

•  International Library of African Music Rhodes University – For Future Generations: Hugh Tracey and the 

International Library of African Music (travelling exhibition)

• Italian Institute of Culture – Siliva Zulu

• Killy Campbell Museum – Iqholo le Afrika: A Centenary Celebration of the Life and Work of Barbara Tyrrell

• Museum Africa – The Cold Choice: Operation Hunger – Photographs by Struan Robertson

• National Treasury Department (Technical Assistance Unit): Technical Support

• NHU Africa: Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2012

• South African Heritage Resources Agency – exhibiting The Arab Priest by Irma Stern

• South African National Biodiversity Institute

• Standard Bank – Standard Bank Young Artist Award 2011: Nandipha Mntambo: Faena

• Tretchikoff Foundation/ University of Cape Town – Tretchikoff: The People’s Painter

• V&A Waterfront Company: SAS Somerset berthing

Collaborations with the following organisations facilitated the delivery of education and Public Programmes:

Alliance Français; Artscape; Astronomical Society of Southern Africa; British Council South Africa; Cape Town 

Science Centre; CPUT – education and extramural Department; Cyan Development; the Department of Cultural 

District Six Museum staff attend the Tretchikoff: The People’s Painter 
exhibition, Iziko South African National Gallery.

© Peter Chadwick. Taking Off. Wildlife  
Photographer of the Year 2011 exhibition,  
Iziko South African Museum.
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Affairs and Sport (DCAS); District Six Museum; early Learning Resource Unit; extra-Mural education Project; 

Frank Joubert Art Centre; Freedom Park; Global Peace Development; Holocaust Museum; Ibhabhathane; Khoisan 

Legacy Project; the Lalela Project; Lentegeur Library Services; the Meaningful Access Programme (MAP); Ort-

Tech; Peace Jam; Robben Island Museum; Teaching Biology Project; Thusong Centre; Two Oceans Aquarium; 

Tygerberg Art Centre; Sakhikamva; South African Observatory; South Peninsula Astronomical Society; UCT – 

Astronomy Department; UWC – education and Community Development; WCeD: Cape Teaching Institute; WCeD: 

Centre for Conservation; WCeD: Districts; Zonnebloem Art Centre.

4.3 exhibitions 
Social History Collections

• Siliva Zulu: Silent pictures telling stories, opened 15 August 2011, ISL.

• Sounds and Silences from a /Xam archive, opened 15 August 2011, IBH.

• The Cold Choice: Operation Hunger – Photographs by Struan Robertson, opened 12 September 2011, ISL.

•  Display intervention in the Rock Art Gallery at ISAM – 100,000-year-old discovery in Blombos Cave in the southern 

Cape - the world’s first paint pot and tool set, 14 October 2011. Add-on to the exhibition plan, but necessary as it 

was a highly topical archaeological discovery.

•  For Future Generations: Hugh Tracey and the International Library of African Music, opened 19 November 2011, 

Castle of Good Hope Gallery.

•  Fired: An exhibition of South African ceramics, opened 25 February 2012, Castle of Good Hope Grain Cellar. 

Accompanied by an innovative two-week long display of table settings in the Banqueting Hall entitled ‘101 Place 

Settings’. Also part of the project was the display at the CTICC of ceramics from the collection to profile Iziko 

and to advertise the ceramic collection.

Natural History Collections

• Wonderful World of Wasps, 27 August to 30 September 2011, ISAM.

• Oceans of Life (Birdlife SA Seabird Festival), 10 October to 30 November 2011, ISAM.

• Wildlife Photographer of the Year 2011, 6 December 2011 to 6 March 2012, ISAM.

• In Search of Our Origins, opened 18 February 2012, ongoing, ISAM.

‘101 Place Settings’, table settings display in the Banqueting Hall, Castle of Good 
Hope. Addition to Fired: An exhibition of South African ceramics.



Art Collections

• Baroque Meets Modern, opened February 2011, ongoing, IOTH.

• Random Works? – A selection from the Permanent Collection, 23 February to 21 August 2011, ISANG.

• Standard Bank Young Artist 2010 Michael MacGarry: END GAME, 27 March to 15 May 2011, ISANG.

• Ranjith Kally: Through the Lens of Durban’s Veteran Photographer, 11 May to 11 September 2011, ISANG.

• The Indian in Drum Magazine in the 1950s, 11 May to 14 August 2011, ISANG.

• Tretchikoff: The People’s Painter, 26 May to 25 September 2011, ISANG.

• Neither Man nor Stone, opened 21 August 2011, ongoing, ISANG.

• Ever Young: James Barnor, 7 September 2011 to 29 January 2012, ISANG.

• Standard Bank Young Artist 2011 Nandipha Mntambo: Faena, 25 September to 7 November 2011, ISANG.

• Listening to Distant Thunder: The Art of Peter Clarke, 20 October 2011 to 19 February 2012, ISANG.

• Richard Long: Karoo Highveld, 10 November 2011 to 8 April 2012, ISANG.

• Windows on War – Russian Posters from World War II, 25 November 2011 to 15 April 2012, ISANG.

• Barbara Tyrrell – Iqholo le Afrika (Her African Pride), 16 March to 8 July 2012, ISANG.

education

• Photographs and Memory, July 2011 

• Puppets, September 2011

• Lalela, March 2012

 

4.4 Workshops and Conferences
Social History Collections

•  Sven Ouzman, ‘Through the (sooty) veil: a new rock art discovery from Modderpoort, South Africa, musings on a 

murky heritage ‘development’’, ASAPA (Association of South African Professional Archaeologists) conference 

1–3 July 2011.

• Sven Ouzman, ‘The courage of //Kabbo: a century of specimens’, conference, UCT, 17–20 August 2011.

•  Sven Ouzman, ‘Forgotten freedom fighters: The San struggle for freedom past and present’, Heritage Day 

presentation at ISAM, 24 September 2011.

The opening of Richard Long: Karoo Highveld,  
Iziko South African National Gallery.

TASS Window No. 1000. Windows on War  
– Russian Posters from World War II,  
Iziko South African National Gallery.
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•  Fiona Clayton, ‘Making histories through memory: Reflecting on the creation of an exhibition’, SA Museums 

Association (national) conference, 24–27 October 2011 (part 1).

•  Shanaaz Galant, ‘Making histories through memory: Reflecting on the creation of an exhibition’, SA Museums 

Association (national) conference, 24–27 October 2011 (part 2).

•  Lalou Meltzer, ‘History of Inequality in Cape Town 1652–2011: The colonial period’, Social Justice Coalition,  

1 November 2011.

• Sven Ouzman, ‘Feedback on Conservation’ Workshop, ASAPA, 23 January 2012.

• Jaco Boshoff, ‘Archaeology on Marion Island’, SA Archaeological Society, 14 February 2012.

• Sven Ouzman, ‘Race and Racial Identity in SA, Semester at Sea’, 24 February 2012.

• Jaco Boshoff, ‘Archaeology on Marion Island’, UCT Archaeology Dept., 27 February 2012.

• Jaco Boshoff, ‘Archaeology on Marion Island’, SA Ship Society, 1 March 2012.

• Sven Ouzman, Tour and talk with discussion, SA Archaeological Society, 24 March 2012.

Natural History Collections

• eugene Bergh, lectured at the evolution workshop to 80 life sciences students from UWC, 13–14 April 2011.

•  eugene Bergh, lectured 10 zoology Honours students and 1 geology Masters student from UCT on invertebrate 

fossils, 11 May 2011.

• Simon van Noort, presented a public lecture at the West Coast Fossil Park on wasp biodiversity, 9 June 2011.

•  Simon van Noort, delivered two papers at entomological Society of South Africa XVII Conference, University of 

Free State, Bloemfontein, 3–6 July 2011. 

• Roger Smith, lectured on continental drift and evolution to CPUT nature conservation students, 16 August 2011.

•  eugene Bergh, lectured 30 learners from Cape Academy on the effects of the invasive Mytilus galloprovincialis 

(Mediterranean mussel) on local West and South coast mussel species, 17 August 2011.

• eugene Bergh, lectured 100 education students from CPUT on Invertebrate Palaeontology, 25 August 2011.

• Roger Smith, lectured education students from CPUT on continental drift and evolution, 25 August 2011.

•  Roger Smith, IV Latin American Vertebrate Palaeontology Conference. Presented paper on taphonomy of Niger 

Permian and co-authored 3 other oral papers presented; co-convener of the vertebrate taphonomy symposium, 

21–24 September 2011.

Sven Ouzman of Iziko Archaeology illustrates San 
and Khoekhoe rock art to a younger generation at 
a site in the Tradouw Pass, Western Cape.

Iziko scientists, Eugene Bergh and Shallin Abraham share some of Iziko’s 
invertebrate fossils with visitors during Heritage Week 2011.



•  Simon van Noort, presented public lecture to Wildlife and environment Society of South Africa (WeSSA) on wasp 

diversity, 22 September 2011.

•  eugene Bergh, conducted invertebrate palaeontology practical sessions for 1st year UCT Geology students,  

6–7 October 2011.

•  eugene Bergh, headed tutorial/ lecture sessions for 1st year environmental and Geographical Science (eGS) 

students at UCT, 7 and 14 October 2011.

•  eugene Bergh, assisted in vertebrate palaeontology practical session for 1st year Geology students at UCT,  

14 October 2011.

• Romala Govender, lectured UCT Geology 1006S course students on Langebaanweg palaeontology, 14 October 2011.

•  Roger Smith, seminar on dinosaur trackways in Lesotho to +/- 50 palaeobiology students and staff of University of 

Washington, Seattle, 28 October 2011.

•  Roger Smith, presented on PT Boundary in Karoo Basin and co-authored 7 others at the Society Vertebrate 

Palaeontology Annual Meeting, Las Vegas, 2–5 November 2011.

• Simon van Noort, public lecture to Botanical Society of South Africa on wasps, 17 March 2012.

Art Collections

•  Hayden Proud, ‘A Collector’s Passion for South African Art: The Campbell Smith Collection’ lecture at Casa Labia,  

12 April 2011.

•  Riason Naidoo, participated in a pubic discussion on art with Sean O’Toole at UCT on 12 May 2011 as part of GIPCA’s 

Great Texts/ Big Questions programme.  

•  Riason Naidoo, presented 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective on a panel entitled ‘Curatorial Practice, 

Institutions, and Scholarship: Regional, Global, Alternative, and Beyond?’ The symposium, sponsored by the 

Clarke Institute, was entitled ‘Impressions from South Africa and Beyond: Connecting Perspectives on Africa’ 

that coincided with the exhibition on South African art curated from MOMA’s permanent collection entitled 

‘Impressions from South Africa’, 21–22 June 2011.

•  Riason Naidoo, chaired public discussion on South African art for the Friends of education of MOMA in New York 

with South African artists Sue Williamson, Senzeni Marasela and Voyile Voyiya, 21 June 2011.

Entomologist Simon van Noort at the opening of Wonderful World 
of Wasps, TH Barry Lecture Theatre, Iziko South African Museum, 
27 August 2011.

Assistant Collections Manager Zaituna Erasmus guides 
a young visitor in preparing a 255-million-year-old skull 
from the Karoo, International Museum Day 2011.
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•  Renée Mussai (UK Curator) and photographer James Barnor (Ghana/UK), lecture and guided tour of Ever Young: 

James Barnor at ISANG, 11 September 2011.

•  Riason Naidoo, participated in a panel discussion on Art Audiences at the Johannesburg Art Fair with Bisi 

Silva, Rory Bester and Gabi Ncgobo in response to the keynote address by Chris Dercon, director of the Tate 

Modern, 22 September 2011.

•  Riason Naidoo, participated in a panel discussion on Tretchikoff with Andrew Lamprecht, Lloyd Pollak, Melvyn 

Minnaar – chaired by Ivor Powell at ISANG, 25 September 2011.

• Pam Warne, participated in a panel discussion at the Johannesburg Art Dialogues, 26 September 2011. 

•  Hayden Proud, illustrated lecture on the ‘Dutch Interior’ at the AGM of the Friends of the Michaelis Collection,  

1 October 2011. 

•  Hayden Proud and Michael Godby, tour of Clare Menck: Hidden Life at the Sanlam Gallery for the Friends of the 

Michaelis Collection.

•  Clare Menck, artist in residence at the IOTH from 31 October–19 November 2011, and presentations were held  

around this.

•  Robyn-Leigh Cedras, presented a paper ‘Visual Power: The Image in Liberation of South Africa, a look at the 

holdings of the Iziko South African National Gallery’. Won the Fitzsimons Award for best paper presented, 2011 

SAMA conference in Pretoria.

•  Anthea Buys, attended the Annual CIMAM conference in Ljubljana and Zagreb. The theme was ‘Museums and 

Cities’. She did not present a paper but participated in several workshops and gallery and studio visits.

•  Richard Long, free public presentation on his work, at ISANG Annexe, 10 November 2011.

•  Anthea Buys, presented a talk on her curatorial work at ISANG at the Hordaland Kunstsenter in Bergen, Norway 

during a curatorial residency, January 2012. 

•  Riason Naidoo, participated in a group critique for the Tierney Fellowship at the Michaelis School of Fine Art at 

UCT, 10 February 2012.

• Mark Dion, public lecture on his work at the ISANG Annexe, 22 February 2011.

•  Summer School panel discussion, on the subject of ‘Vakalisa: a Cape Town art collective’ to coincide with the 

Peter Clarke exhibition held at ISANG. Members such as artists Lionel Davis, Garth erasmus, Peter Clarke, and 

James Matthews participated. In conjunction with ePP, at ISANG, 25 February 2012.

‘San’ bored stones, used for a variety of purposes, ranging 
from being weights for digging sticks, to objects through 
which people communicated with the Spirit World.

Tretchikoff panel discussion. LEFT TO RIGHT: Riason Naidoo, Iziko Art Collections 
Director, Melvyn Minnaar, Ivor Powell, Andrew Lamprecht and Lloyd Pollak.



education

• Natural History staff, attended a Science and Maths education symposium, UCT, 8 April 2011.

• ePP and Planetarium staff, attended and participated in the Inclusive Museum X Conference, June 2011.

• Temba Matomela, presented at the IsiXhosa Conference of the Xhosa Afrika Network, Artscape, August 2011.

• ePP and Planetarium staff, attended and exhibited at the 6th Science World Conference, 4–8 September 2011.

• Wayne Alexander, presented a talk ‘Heritage and Sport’, Vygieskraal, Athlone, September 2011.

•  Lisa Combrink, ‘The use of dichotomous keys in the development of scientific classification skills in Grade 8 

learners’, Western Cape Students Regional Research Conference, 1 October 2011. 

•  Lindinxiwa Mahlasela, ‘Dealing with slavery in the new curriculum’, Shikaya Conference in collaboration with 

Western Cape education Department, 4 October 2011.

• Social History staff, attended and participated at the CAPS conference, Herschel School, October 2011.

• Social History staff, attended and participated at the Museum education Seminar, Holocaust Centre, October 2011.

•  Wayne Alexander, adjudicated and shared thoughts at the Nkosi Albert Luthuli Oral History Conference, Pretoria, 

October 2011.

•  Iziko Mobile Museum, exhibited at SAMA conference, Pretoria, and Lindinxiwa Mahlasela participated in workshops 

and discussions, October 2011.

• Wayne Alexander, presented a talk ‘What is Learning’, Rosebank, 21 November 2011. 

•  Faried Basier, ‘How was Islam brought to the Cape?’ Muslim Youth Organisation Conference, Princeton, Mitchells 

Plain, 9 December 2011.

•  Faried Basier, ‘History of Islam and the Kramats at the Cape’, Muslim Organisation Conference, Rocklands, 

Mitchells Plain, 28 January 2012.

• ePP Summer School, included workshops, discussions, lectures, panel discussion, February 2012.

• ePP social history staff, hosted a seminar exploring strategies related to museum education, February 2012.  

• ePP staff, attended and participated in a Heritage Advocacy Workshop, District Six Museum, March 2012.

• Lisa Combrink, conducted Hands on Fossils Workshops, Grahamstown Festival, March 2012.

Educators, Sthembele Harmans and Temba Matomela 
on outreach with the Iziko Mobile Museum.

Display from the Out The Box puppet exhibition, 
presented by Iziko’s Education and Public 
Programmes department.
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4.5 Acquisitions
Social History Collections

Presentations:

•  6 ceramic studio tiles, polychrome, 1930s; Hyme Rabinowitz stoneware 2-handled vase and another vase; 4 

Kalahari terracotta wares (plate, dish, 2 jugs), 1950s; Kalahari terracotta plate. Selected by SHC, purchased by the 

Rowland and Leta Hill Trust and presented to SHC.

Donations:

•  Large earthenware beer brewing vessel (imbiza) from the Thukela Valley, KZN. Julia Meintjes Fine Art, Johannesburg. 

•  Marian Robertson Collection: selection of mainly 19th and 20th century european, mainly english, ceramics (also 

toy, string box and pewter items). Dr Hamish Robertson.

• 3 works of Islamic calligraphy and one example of “ebru” (marbling) by artist Refik Carikci. 

• British (late Victorian) nursing chair. Miss M Browning, mediator: Alec Dose.

• 4 framed tiles by Leta Hill with designs by SA artist John Dronsfield. Rowland and Leta Hill Trust.

•  Battered British teapot and coffeepot, story related to the Xhosa wars of resistance, eastern Cape, belonged to 

James Stewart RA. Mollie Townsend.

•  £2 coin, issued in 2007 to commemorate the abolition of the slave trade (2nd example accepted in order to show 

obverse and reverse on exhibition). Mrs K Wheeler.

• ewe hand-woven textile, Ghana, 20th/21st century. Dr Patricia Davison.

•  2 carved figures, NW Zambia, possibly Luvale speaking people. Protective devices. Dr L Graham.

• Zanu PF commemorative cloth, Zimbabwe. Social History Librarian.

•  Unfinished bangle moulded on an empty cider bottle. Made by Threads of Africa Project, Mdukatshani 

Development Trust, Thukela Valley, KwaZulu-Natal. Julia Meintjies.

•  Bead and cloth figure, cow, acquired in Botha’s Hill, KZN c. 1985; small beadwork bag/pouch, strung on sinew, 

probably late 19th century, from donor’s father who was a magistrate in South Africa; beadwork necklet, small 

pink and blue beads, history as above; antelope/goatskin cloak, Botswana c. 1968; carved wooden figure of baboon 

eating a mealie, Botswana c. 1968. Mollie Townsend.

• engraved wine glass, 1892, commemorative, Kimberley exhibition. Valencia Harker.

Finely textured, translucent por-
celain bowls by John Bauer. Social 
History Collections acquisition.

Beadwork donation. Social History Collections. LEFT TO RIGHT: Curator Wieke van Delen, donor  
Sarah Thurlbeck, Collections Managers Lindsay Hooper and Babalwa Ramncwana, donor  
Alison Thurlbeck and friend Mike Box, and former Executive Director Core Functions, Patricia Davison.



• Toasting fork, english silverplate, early 20th century; horn handle. David Kamansky via Dr Patricia Davison.

•  Triangular-shaped ceramic plate with depiction of San rock art, Drostdy Ware, Grahamstown Pottery, 1950s.  

Dr Patricia Davison.

•  3 small ceramic tile panels, stylised scenes of animals, 1970s. Lucky Bean Farm (1974–c. 1983), Valmai Olsen 

edwards (1934–2010) and John edwards (1929–1989). David Kamansky via Dr Patricia Davison. 

•  Soccer hat in the shape of a black and white soccer ball made commercially for the 2010 World Cup celebrations in 

South Africa. Fatima February. 

• Collection of beadwork from the eastern Cape, 30 items. Alison and Sarah Thurlbeck. 

•  3 bowls made and painted by Hylton Nel, mauve pattern around central medallion with red haired woman, dated 

4.4.7 (probably 4 April 2007); green glazed bowl, 27 July 2009; green glazed bowl with blue frog design, frog with 

fish in mouth, 16 May 2005. Hylton Nel.

•  Table setting: 2 plates, 2 bowls and a name plate, porcelain with lace inspired decoration, by Jo Pentz. Jo Pentz.

•  Table setting comprising dinner plate, side plate and bowl, white earthenware with turquoise blue marbleised 

decoration. Made by John Steele of east London. John Steele. 

• Table setting comprising plate, bowl and goblet. Wheel-thrown by Nic Sithole, Mamelodi east. Nic Sithole.

•  Table setting comprising dinner plate, side plate, dessert bowl and lidded teapot. Wheel-thrown by Colleen 

Lehmkuhl, Bryanston. Colleen Lehmkuhl.

•  Ceramic part coffee set comprising milk jug, sugar bowl, 4 cups and saucers, probably 1970s. Jug marked with the 

mark of the Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown. Lalou Meltzer.

• Washpeg holder made by Deaf Community of CT, in part of shweshwe. Lindsay Hooper.

Purchases:

•  Woven bowl made in the shape of an imbenge basket, using a traditional man’s technique and new materials 

made by elias Mtshengu, Threads of Africa Project, KZN.

•  South African studio ceramics purchased from Stephan Welz: 2 vases made at Rand Ceramic; 2 celadon glazed pieces 

by the late Hyme Rabinowitz; 1 lidded jar by Kolonyama, Lesotho; and vase by Dinah Molefe, Rorke’s Drift potter.

• A man’s costume for celebration, shield, shield stick, spear, rear apron etc. KZN.

• Brown and blue porcelain shweshwe vessels, Lisa Firer. 

Zulu shield and spear. Social History Collections. Brown and blue porcelain shweshwe vessels by  
Lisa Firer. Social History Collections acquisition.
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• Teapot, and 2 vases, Andile Dyalvane, Imiso Ceramics. 

• 5 tea light holders, paper clay, Lisa Firer.

• 2 safari hats. 

• Lindsay Scott Pottery, KZN, porcelain tray; teapot; tea bowl.

•  Ian Garrett, 2 vessels influenced by the style of the late Nesta Nala from KZN. One vessel burnished and covered 

with white slip, titled ‘Succulent’; the second has been pit-fired and is titled ‘Leaf Thread’.

• Postcard depicting Mdabuli (character in Siliva Zulu film).

•  Contemporary ceramics: 2 Karen Sinovich teapots; John Wilhelm jug (green glaze); John Wilhelm jug (white glaze); 

Karen Sinovich jug; Ndoda Ntuntwana teapot.

• Vase by Andile Dyalvane, Cape Town, titled ‘Views from the Studio’.

•  Attire and other artefacts; sjambok, imvubu; cashmere scarf; 2 pairs barrel bead bandoliers; card hat pins, ingaco; 

strip of black cloth for bags; coil braid for umbhaco skirt; 1 lot pencil braid.

•  Xhosa pre-initiates wrist decoration, imithika; sheepskin shield protector, isigusha/ inkokha; club, isagila/ iwisa;  

2 Zulu beadwork aprons, isigege; Zulu hat, isicholo; waistcoat, umgaxo; chest cover, imbacha; cowtail legging, 

ishoba; cowtail armband, ishoba; belt, ubheshwana; pair armbands, isikhona; 3 packets Prosser beads; packet 

Prosser beads, opal white; hank milky white beads; hank BaSotho Prosser beads.

• Bead samples (2 parts, lists available).

• Zulu man’s back decoration ishoba.

•  John Bauer ceramics: set of 6 bowls; set of 3 knitted basket-type vessels. John Bauer’s bowls are made of finely 

textured, translucent porcelain.

•  Thea Kleyhans ceramic works: 3 vessels with Zulu and African evocations. 

• Mfuneko Dingiswayo ceramic platter. Inspired by the packaging of Lucky Star pilchards. 

•  2 contemporary ceramic works by Vuyisa Potina, born in the eastern Cape, now working in Franschhoek. One work 

showing knobs or amasumpa inspired by ceramics from KZN.

• Shweshwe slippers with Mandela’s head. 

• 2 very small shweshwe dolls, poppi, made in Soweto by African Children’s Feeding Scheme, c. 2011.

• Basket, Khwe, Namibia, from !Khwa ttu.

• ewer with stopper, Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown, 1952. Van Riebeeck Festival commemoration.

Beaded bag, Eastern Cape. One of the items donated by 
Alison and Sarah Thurlbeck. Social History Collections.

Ian Garrett. Vessel, burnished and covered with white slip, 
titled ‘Succulent’. Social History Collections acquisition.



Art Collections

Donations: 

• Pair of South Sotho hats. (c. mid-20th C). Cane and plastic. Lila Komnick, Parliament SA. 

•  Kavango-group fertility figure, (c. mid-20th C). Namibia. Mixed media. Mrs Patrick Fraser, through the Friends of 

the Iziko SA National Gallery.  

•  Brent Meistre. Untitled: Roadkill. (c. 2001). Series of photographs mounted as a single work, 1.5 x 2.4 m. Brent Meistre.

• Cameron Platter. The Old Fashion 072123082. Video and presentation box, edition 1/5. Cameron Platter.

• Arthur Gordon Bolton. 16 x studio photographs, Giclée prints. Gail Caitlin (Bolton’s daughter).

• Peter Clarke. Untitled. (1978). Mixed media. Peter Clarke.

• Sue Williamson. The Truth is on the Walls, District 6. Photographs. Linda Givon.

• Peter Clarke. Silenc. (1978). etching, ed 1/40. Presented by the Friends of the Iziko SA National Gallery.

•  Cameron Platter. “it was the most beautiful landscape i had ever seen....”. (2005). From series ‘Life is very 

interesting’. Archival pigment ink on cotton rag paper, 3/5, 23 x 29 cm. Friends of the Iziko SA National Gallery.

• Gina Heyer. Recurrence. (2010). Friends of the Iziko SA National Gallery.

• Helmut Starcke. Ritual. (2011). Acrylic on canvas, 150 x 150 cm. Friends of the Iziko SA National Gallery.

• 7 headrests and 7 fertility dolls. From Bruce and Jeanne Goodall. Friends of the Iziko SA National Gallery.

• Greet Toxopeus. Toemaar die Donker Man. (1969). Collage. Greet Toxopeus.

• Simon Stone. Biko Funeral. (1977). Oil on canvas. Donor prefers to remain anonymous.

• George Pemba. Men and Oxen Ploughing. (Undated). Oil on wooden roundel. SAHRA.

• George Pemba. Harvesting in the Wheatfields. (Undated). Oil on wooden roundel. SAHRA.

•  Isaac Julien. The Goddess (Ten Thousand Waves). (2010). endura Ultra photograph, diasec mounted, 30 x 40 cm, 

31/50. Mark Coetzee. 

   

Purchases under R20,000

• Billy Mandindi. Twins. (2003). Linocut. Issy Sacks.

• Collection of 14 posters (reproductions) from the Second World War. Irina Filatova.

•  Bonile Bam. from series: ‘Initiation of the Mind’, Transkei. (2000). Silver print, 16 x 20”. Bailey Seippel Gallery.  

Beadwork selection. Social History Collections. Cameron Platter. The Old Fashion 072123082. Video. Art Collections acquisition. 
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•  Cedric Nunn. Deborah Eksteen and her husband Noel Norris, grieving at the graveside of Deborah’s father, Peter, who 

had been buried two months earlier. Mangete. (2001). edition 1/9, silver gelatin print, 20 x 20”. Bailey Seippel Gallery.

• Ian Berry. Cape Moffie Drag. (1959). 16 x 20”. Bailey Seippel Gallery ©BAHA.

• Ian Berry. Cape Moffie Drag. (1959). 16 x 20”. Bailey Seippel Gallery ©BAHA.

• Dan Rakgoathe. Selection of 10 prints. Donve Lee. 

•  An ensemble for an Akan chieftain: silken strip-woven toga and ceremonial regalia consisting of gold embellished 

sandals, chain and mace. Cote d’Ivoire. (c. 2010). From the designer, Mohammad Coulibaly.

Purchases over R20,000 

•  Gabrielle Goliath. Ek is ‘n Kimberley Coloured. (2007). Archival print, edition: 5/5, [3] 485 x 787 cm. Gabrielle Goliath.

•  Jodi Bieber. One, Two, Three and… The Ennerdale Academy of Dance, Ennerdale, south of Johannesburg. (1998). 

Pigment inks on cotton rag paper, 60 x 80 cm. Goodman Gallery.

•  Johann van der Schijff. Hangbal (Hanging Ball) (2006). Aluminium, stainless steel, tanned leather, rubber, stuffing. 

Johann van der Schijff.

• Zander Blom. Untitled (1.41). (2011). Oil and graphite on linen, 105 x 76 cm. Stevenson Gallery. 

•  Athi-Patra Ruga. In my mind the summer will last… (2009). embroidery cloth and thread, 92 x 126 cm. 

Whatiftheworld Gallery.

•  Michael MacGarry. Will to Power. (2006/2010). HD video on Blu-Ray, colour, stereo, 14’ 9”. edition of 5 + 1 AP, ed 

available: 1/5. Brodie-Stevenson. 

4.6 Peer-reviewed Publications
Social History Collections 

•  Boshoff J. 12 January 2012. Maritime Archaeology in South Africa in encyclopaedia of Global Archaeology 

(Springer), online. 

Natural History Collections

•  Avery DM, Avery G. 2011. Micromammals in the Northern Cape Province of South Africa, past and present. African 

Natural History 7: 9-39.

Isaac Julien. The Goddess (Ten Thousand Waves). (2010). Endura Ultra photograph, 
diasec mounted, 30 x 40 cm, 31/50. Art Collections acquisition. 

Arthur Gordon Bolton. 16 x studio photographs,  
Giclée prints. Art Collections acquisition.



•  Botha-Brink J, Smith RMH. 2011. The growth patterns of the South African Triassic archosauriforms Proterosuchus, 

Euparkeria and Erythrosuchus, deduced from bone histology. Journal of Vertebrate Palaeontology 31(6): 1238–1254.

•  Cornille A, Underhill JG, Hossaert-McKey M, Johnson SD, Tolley KA, Kjellberg F, Van Noort S, Proffit M. 2012. 

Complex patterns of specificity in the fig/wasp mutualism: insights from Ficus natalensis and its two wasp 

pollinators in KwaZulu-Natal South Africa. Proceedings of Royal Society B. 279: 1731-1739 DOI: 10.1098/rspb.2011.1972

•  Cruaud A, Cook J, Da-Rong Y, Genson G, Jabbour-Zahab R, Kjellberg F, Rodrigo Augusto Santinelo Pereira 

RAS, Rønsted N, Santos O, Savolainen V, Ubaidillah R, Van Noort S, Yan-Qiong P, Rasplus JY. 2011. Fig-Figwasp 

Mutualism: The Fall of the Strict Cospeciation Paradigm? Pp 68-102 In: Patiny S. (ed). evolution of Plant-Pollinator 

Relationships. Cambridge University Press.  

•  Cruaud A, Jabbour-Zahab R, Genson G, Kjellberg F, Kobmoo N, Van Noort S, Da-Rong Y, Yan-Qiong P, Ubaidillah R, Hanson 

Pe, Santos-Mattos O, Farache FHA, Pereira RAS, Kerdelué C, Rasplus JY. 2011. Phylogeny and evolution of life-history 

strategies in Sycophaginae non-pollinating fig wasps (Hymenoptera, Chalcidoidea). BMC evolutionary Biology 11: 178.

•  Ghahari H, Van Noort S. 2011. A comment on Iranian fig wasps (Chalcidoidea: Agaonidae, Pteromalidae). Linzer 

biologische Beiträge 43: 1247-1252.

•  Huttenlocker A, Sidor C, Smith R. 2011. A new specimen of Promoschorhynchus (Therapsida: Therocephalia: 

Akidnognathidae) from the early Triassic of South Africa and its implications for theriodont survivorship across 

the Permo-Triassic boundary. Journal of Vertebrate Palaeontology 31: 405-421.

•  Kennedy WJ, Klinger HC. 2011. The Upper Cretaceous ammonite Grandidiericeras Collignon, 1961 (Puzosiinae), from 

the St Lucia Formation of KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. African Natural History 7: 63-67.

•  Kennedy WJ, Klinger HC. 2011. Cretaceous faunas from Zululand and Natal, South Africa. The ammonite genus 

Oxytropidoceras Stieler, 1920. African Natural History 7: 69-102. 

•  Klinger HC, Kennedy WJ. 2011. Hoplitoplacenticeras (H.) howarthi Collignon, 1970 (Cephalopoda: Ammonoidea) 

from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa and Madagascar; intraspecific variation, dimorphism and affinities. African 

Natural History 7: 41-61.

•  McLeish MJ, Van Noort S. 2012. Codivergence and multiple host species use by fig wasp populations of the Ficus 

pollination mutualism. BMC evolutionary Biology 2012, 12:1 doi:10.1186/1471-2148-12-1.

•  Mcleish M, Guo D, Van Noort S, Midgley G. 2011. Life on the edge: rare and restricted episodes of a pan-tropical 

mutualism adapting to drier climates. New Phytologist. DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03683.x.

Jodi Bieber. One, Two, Three and… The ennerdale Academy of Dance,  
ennerdale, south of Johannesburg. (1998). Pigment inks on cotton rag paper, 
60 x 80 cm. Art Collections acquisition.

Warning eye spots on the hind wings  
of an Emperor moth (Saturniidae).  
Natural History Collections.
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•  Modesto SP, Reisz RR, Campione Ne, Smith RMH. 2011. The last “pelycosaur”: a varanopid synapsid from the 

Pristerognathus Assemblage Zone, Middle Permian of South Africa. Naturwissenschaften 98: 1027–1034.

•  Roberts DL, Matthews T, Herries A, Boulter C, Smith RMH, Dondo C, Mthenbi P, Haarhoff P. 2011. Regional and 

global context of the Late Cenozoic Langebaanweg Palaeontological Site: West Coast of South Africa. earth 

Science Reviews 106: 191-214.

•  Smith RMH, Botha-Brink J. 2011. Morphology and composition of bone-bearing coprolites from the Late Permian 

Beaufort Group, Karoo Basin, South Africa. Palaeoecology. Palaeogeography Palaeoclimatology.

•  Smith RMH, Rubidge BR, Van der Walt M. 2011. Therapsid biodiversity patterns and palaeoenvironments of the 

Karoo Basin, South Africa. In: Chinsamy-Turan A (ed). The Forerunners of Mammals pp. 223-246. Indiana University 

Press, Bloomington, USA.

•  Tabor NJ, Smith RMH, Steyer S, Sidor CA. 2011. The Permian Moradi Formation of northern Niger: Paleosol 

morphology, petrography and mineralogy. Palaeoecology. Palaeogeography Palaeoclimatology  299: 200-213.

•  Taylor PD, Waeschenbach A, Florence WK. 2011. Phylogenetic position and systematics of the bryozoan 

Tennysonia: further evidence for convergence and plasticity in skeletal morphology among cyclostome 

bryozoans. Zootaxa 3010: 58-68.

Art Collections

•  Naidoo R. 2011. “Reflections on 1910-2010: From Pierneef to Gugulective – An exhibition on a century of South 

African art”, in SAVVY – art.contemporary.african, edition 1: Re-Mapping the Field – A Bird’s eye View on 

Discourses. Berlin. pp. 48 – 57. (online journal - http://www.savvy-journal.com/savvy_edition1/index.html).

•  Proud H. 2011. “Formalism in South African Art” in The Visual Century: South African Art in Context, 1907–2007, 

Vol. 2 (ed. Lize van Roebbroeck), pp. 164-187.

•  Proud H. 2011. “experiments under Constraint: Random Collisions of energy in South African art: 1976–1992” in 

The Visual Century: South African Art in Context, 1907–2007, Vol. 3 (ed. Mario Pissarra), pp. 128-155.

• Buys A. 2011 “Dineo Bopape”, Art South Africa Vol 10.2: 96-7. Cape Town: Bell Roberts Publishing.

Gabrielle Goliath, ek is ‘n Kimberley Coloured. (Detail) (2007).  
Archival print, edition: 5/5, [3] 485 x 787 cm. Art Collections acquisition.

Candelabra flower (Brunsvigia), one of many 
plants reliant on moths for pollination.



4.7 Other Research Publications, Brochures
Social History Collections

• Brochure Iziko Social History Centre.

•  Ouzman S and others. Pathways through the Interior: A resource for educators and students at FeT Phase (Grades 

10–12) and Tertiary level. 2011. The Africa Meets Africa Project.

•  Boshoff J, Grieve S. ‘Workshop on Waterlogged materials’ in News in Conservation, February 2011 (arrived in SA later).

•  Web archival discussion: Siliva Zulu at the Iziko Slave Lodge – a review, a response by Meltzer L and curatorial team 

and a reflection, Archival Platform 30 December 2012 (http://www.archivalplatform.org/blog/entry/siliva_zulu/).

• Boshoff J. Diving the Solglimt, Wreck Report, no. 32.

•  Ramncwana B. Moving towards one story: a) Interpretation through Integration and b) Hisham L. Applying theory 

to practice – Integration through a database. SAMAB, vol. 34, November 2011.

Natural History Collections

•  Abdala F, Smith RMH. 2011. Gran hermano en el Permico Superior: Nuevo cinodonte de sudafica representa la 

mayor especie del group al final del Paleozoico. VI Latin American Vertebrate Palaeontology conference San Juan.

•  Angielczyk K,  Steyer S, Sidor C, Smith RMH, Whatley R. 2011. Dicynodont (Therapsida, Anomodontia) Assemblages 

from the Luangwa Basin, Zambia: Taxonomic update and implications for biostratigraphy and biogeography SVP 

Annual Meeting Las Vegas p. 63.

•  Arcucci A, Smith RMH. 2011. A large “Rauisuchid” archosaur from the Omingonde Fm. (early-middle Triassic) 

Namibia. VI Latin American Vertebrate Palaeontology conference San Juan. 

•  Botha-Brink J, Smith RMH. 2011. Osteohistology of Triassic archosauromorphs from the Karoo Basin of South 

Africa. SVP Annual Meeting Las Vegas p. 75.

•  Marsicano CA, Abdala N, Smith RMH, Rubidge BS. 2011. The early history of tetrapods in the southern hemisphere: 

the spacial and temporal distribution of palaeozoic basal tetrapods in western Gondwana. SVP Ann Meeting Las 

Vegas p. 152.

•  Nesbitt S , Sidor CA , Angielczyk K, Smith RMH, Tsuji L. 2011. An enigmatic archosauriform from the Manda beds 

(Middle Triassic) southwestern Tanzania: Character conflict at the base of the pseudosuchia. SVP Annual Meeting 

Las Vegas p. 166.

Iziko diver on the engine block of the  
wreck of the Solglimt (1908), Marion Island, 
Sub-Antarctic.

A false lace coral, collected by Wayne Florence during research diving 
surveys in Plettenberg Bay, South Africa.



PAGE 119

•  Sidor CA, Huttenlocker AK, Peecook BR, Smith RMH, Hammer WR. 2011.  New information on the Triassic 

vertebrate faunas of Antarctica. SVP Annual Meeting Las Vegas.

•  Smith RMH, Botha-Brink J. 2011. Anatomy of an extinction: end-Permian Drought Induced Die-Off in the Karoo 

Basin, South Africa. SVP Annual Meeting Las Vegas.

•  Smith RMH, Sidor CA, Tabor NJ, Steyer S. 2011. Sedimentology, Ichnology and vertebrate taphonomy of a ‘Wet 

Desert’: The Late Permian Moradi Formation of Niger VI LatinAmerican Vertebrate Palaeontology conference 

San Juan.

•  Viglietti P, Smith RMH. 2011. Vertebrate taphonomy and sedimentology of early Triassic Lystrosaurus bone beds: 

A paleoenvironmental reconstruction of the Katberg Fm, S. Africa. VI Latin American Vertebrate Palaeontology 

conference San Juan.

•  Tsuji L, Smith RMH, Sidor, CA. 2011. What, if anything, is a dwarf pareiasaur? New information on Pumiliopariea 

pricei. SVP Annual Meeting. Las Vegas.

• Van Noort S. 2011. Ukoyika Grillerige Goggas. Skaphion 5(21): 1-2.

• Van Noort S. 2011. Caught in the act – Echthrodesis laying eggs. Skaphion 5(26-28): 1-2.

•  Van Noort S, Picker M. 2011. Wasps, Bees, Ants. Class Insecta, Order Hymenoptera, pp 140-146.  

In: Picker M, Griffiths C (eds.) Alien & Invasive Animals. A South African perspective. Struik Nature.

Art Collections

•  Proud H. 2011. “Our National Gallery: The Book of our Art?” Focus, Journal of the Helen Suzman Foundation, 

Johannesburg, vol. 61, June, pp. 37–44. (Online version available at www.hsf.org.za).

•  Proud H. 2011. “‘Realism’ and Realist Tradition in the Paintings of Clare Menck”, in Clare Menck: Hidden Life/

Verborge Lewe. Pretoria Art Museum/Sanlam Art Gallery: Bellville, Cape Town, pp. 50–75.

•  Lamprecht A, De Lille (Alderman) P, Iziko Museums. 2011. “Tretchikoff: The People’s Painter” brochure. City of Cape 

Town and Iziko Museums.

•  Lewis A, Kaufmann C, Winters Y, Buthelezi V. 2012. “Iqholo le Afrika – A Centenary Celebration of the life and 

work of Barbara Tyrrell” brochure. Iziko Museums. 

• Kaufmann C. 2012. “Imagining Beauty: Body adornment including young SA designers”. Iziko Museums.

Iziko’s Associate Arachnologist Norman Larsen educates  
a visitor on spiders, International Museum Day 2011.

Fossil of a chimaerid shark, collected by Dr Roger Smith 
on a fieldtrip to Brazil, April 2012.



4.8 education and Public Programmes
1. EPP brochures/ worksheets /resource packs

Iziko Museums Schools Programme; Systematics teacher’s resource package; evolution teacher’s guide;

Random Works art education worksheet; Ranjith Kally art education worksheet; Trechikoff and portraiture art 

education worksheet; ernest Cole; Imagining Beauty workbook; Photography as restoration worksheet; 

Make an orchid for Tretchikoff; Museums, Objects and Memory booklet; June 16 worksheet; Ancient egypt (general 

worksheet); Ancient egypt (map and crown); Slavery G10 worksheet; Slavery G7 worksheet; Castle G3 to 9 (General); 

Castle G4 and 5 (Blocks); History of Medicine G6; Diverse Religions; Archaeology G4 to 7; History of apartheid: 

Nelson Mandela G9; History of apartheid: Nelson Mandela G11; Mock dig site activity worksheet; Shell dichotomous 

worksheets; Tretchikoff worksheets; Indian in Drum and stereotypes worksheets; Restoration and memories 

worksheets; Neither Man nor Stone worksheet; ever Young: James Barnor worksheet; Nations in Conversation; 

Rock Art teacher’s guide and worksheets; ethnography; Slavery worksheets; Indigenous people teacher’s guide; 

evolution teacher’s guide; Peter Clarke worksheet; Let’s Celebrate booklet; Commemorative booklet; James 

Barnell – worksheet; Cape Slavery; Rainbow Nation worksheet; Listening to Distant Thunder: The Art of Peter Clarke; 

Richard Long worksheet; Hands on Fossils.

2. Planetarium posters/ worksheets/ booklets/ resource material/shows

Davy Dragon board game; Handout for public and learners for the lunar eclipse; A list of websites and addresses 

for teachers; Sky maps developed for the period; Autumn and winter sky maps for children; Astronomy of the Great 

Pyramid; Celestial Clouds; 15 Billion BC; We are Astronomers; Davy Dragon’s Guide to the Night Sky; Davy Dragon 

goes to the Moon; Tycho to the Moon; Sky maps and astronomy worksheet; 2012 – The end or the beginning?; 

The Sky Tonight; Table Mountain; Cape of Stars; Magic Milo and the Astronaut; Silly Solly and the Shooting Stars; 

Public and school brochures; Planetarium posters.

4.9 Materiality and Significance Framework for the 2011/2012 Financial Year
definitions and standards

• Audited financial statements: 2009/2010 (AFS)

• Approved annual budget: 2010/2011 (AAB)

• Approved strategic plan: 2010/2011 to 2012/2013 (ASP)

• event: An activity that has the elements of income and expenditure

• Trading venture: An activity that has the elements of buying and selling of products and/or services

• Total income: Total income excluding the income from events and trading ventures

• Total expenditure: Total expenditure excluding event and trading venture expenditure

1. Applicable sections of the PfmA

• Section 50(1)

• Section 55(2)

• Section 54(2)

• Section 66(1)

2. treasury regulation 

• 28.1.5



PAGE 121

3. framework

4.1 sEctIon 50: fIducIAry 
dutIEs of AccountInG 

AuthorIty

vAluE (QuAntItAtIvE) nAturE of EvEnt 
(QuAlItAtIvE)

Accounting authority must-

(c) on request, disclose to the 
executive Authority responsible, 
all material facts which in any way 
may influence the decisions or 
actions of the executive Authority

(a) Any unbudgeted transaction of 
which the amount exceeds 1% of 
the total value of assets per AFS

(b) Any budgeted event where 
income is a legitimate expectation 
where the actual income is less 
than 5% of the total expenditure

(c) Any trading venture where 
income is exceeded by expenditure 
by more than 0,5% of income

(d) Total actual income is less than 
budgeted income by more than 
0,5% of budgeted income

(e) Total actual expenditure is 
more than budgeted income by 
more than 0,2% of budgeted 
expenditure

(a) Any unplanned event that 
affects the core purpose or 
mandate of entity per the ASP

(b) Any activity that is outside the 
parameters of each public entity’s 
enabling legislation

4.2 sEctIon 54: InformAtIon 
to BE suBmIttEd By thE 
AccountInG AuthorIty

vAluE (QuAntItAtIvE) nAturE of EvEnt 
(QuAlItAtIvE)

Before a public entity concludes 
any of the following transactions, 
the Accounting Authority for the 
entity must promptly and in writing 
inform the relevant treasury of the 
transaction and submit relevant 
particulars of the transaction to its 
executive Authority for approval of 
the transaction:

(b) participation in a significant 
partnership, trust, unincorporated 
joint venture or similar 
arrangement

(c) acquisition of disposal of a 
significant shareholding in a 
company

(d) acquisition or disposal of a 
significant asset

(e) commencement or cessation of 
a significant business activity

N/a

N/a

Any transaction of which the 
amount exceeds 1% of the total 
value of assets per AFS

Any transaction of which the 
amount exceeds 1% of the total 
value of assets per AFS

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose 
or mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose 
or mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose 
or mandate of the entity

Any unplanned event per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose 
or mandate of the entity



4.3 sEctIon 55: AnnuAl 
rEPort And AnnuAl fInAncIAl 

stAtEmEnts

vAluE (QuAntItAtIvE) nAturE of EvEnt 
(QuAlItAtIvE)

the annual report and financial 
statements must:

(b) include particulars of:

(i) any material losses through 
criminal conduct and,

any irregular expenditure and fruitless 
and wasteful expenditure that 
occurred during the year

(iii) any losses recovered or written off

(a) Any loss of which the amount 
exceeds 1% of the total value of 
assets per AFS

(b) Any loss of a National estate 
as defined in section 3 of the 
National Heritage Resources Act, 
1999 (Act No. 25 of 1999)

All

All

Any unplanned loss per the ASP 
that may affect the core purpose 
or mandate of the entity

All

All

4.4 sEctIon 66: rEstrIctIons on 
BorrowInG, GuArAntEEs And 

othEr commItmEnts

vAluE (QuAntItAtIvE) nAturE of EvEnt 
(QuAlItAtIvE)

Iziko Museums may not enter into 
any financial commitment beyond 
its approved budgets and its 
accumulated reserves

N/a N/a
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Abbreviations
ABeT Adult Basic education and Training

AC Art Collections (department)

AFS  Annual Financial Statements

A-G Auditor-General

AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa

ASAPA  Association of Southern African Professional Archaeologists

ASP  Approved Strategic Plan

AVe Advertising Value equivalent

CAPS Curriculum and Assessment Policy Statement

CATHSSeTA Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport Sector   

 education & Training Authority

CCMA   Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and    

Arbitration

CCTV Closed Circuit Television

CeO  Chief executive Officer

CFO  Chief Financial Officer

COPART Connecting our planet and re-imagining together

CPUT Cape Peninsula University of Technology

CRM Cultural Resource Management

CSM Customer Services Management (department)

DAC Department of Arts and Culture

DCAS Department of Cultural Affairs and Sport

Doe Department of education

DPW Department of Public Works

DST Department of Science and Technology

eeCF employment equity Consultative Forum

ePP education and Public Programmes

exco executive Management Committee

GAAP  Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

GIPCA  Gordon Institute for Performing & Creative Arts

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

HTML HyperText Markup Language

HR Human Resources (department)

IA Institutional Advancement (department)

IAS International Accounting Standard

IBH Iziko Bertram House

IBKM Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum

ICOM-SA International Council of Museums, South Africa

IKDW Iziko Koopmans-de Wet House

IKS Indigenous Knowledge Systems

IMC Iziko Maritime Centre

IMM  Iziko Mobile Museum

IOTH Iziko Michaelis Collection at the Old Town House

IR&V Iziko Rust en Vreugd

ISAM Iziko South African Museum

ISANG Iziko South African National Gallery

ISHC Iziko Social History Centre

ISL Iziko Slave Lodge

IT Information Technology

IWFC Iziko William Fehr Collection

KZN Kwa-Zulu Natal

MAP Meaningful Access Programme

MTeF  Medium Term expenditure Framework

NH Natural History

NHC  National Heritage Council

NHC Natural History Collections (department)

NLDTF National Lotteries Distribution Trust Fund

NRF National Research Foundation

NSF  National Science Foundation

OBIS  Ocean Biogeographic Information Systems

OH&S Occupational Health and Safety

PAA Public Audit Act

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

POS Point of Sale

SAAO South African Astronomical Observatory

SAASTA  South African Agency for Science and

 Technology Advancement

SAASTeC South African Association of Science and  

 Technology Centres

SAIAB South African Insitute for Aquatic Biodiversity

SABIF South African Biodiversity Information Facility

SAHRA  South African Heritage Resources Agency

SAMA  South African Museums Association

SANBI  South African Biodiversity Institute

SCM  Supply Chain Management

SDA Skills Development Act

SFI  Southern Flagship Institution

SH Social History

SHC Social History Collections (department)

SITA State Information Technology Agency

SMAC Stellenbosch Modern and Contemporary  

 Art Gallery

SMT Senior Management Team

UCT  University of Cape Town

UIF  Unemployment Insurance Fund

UWC  University of the Western Cape

VoIP Voice over Information Programme

WCA  Workmen’s Compensation Assurance

WCeD  Western Cape education Department
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